Adolescent Social Skills Intervention: Theory, Design, and Implementation

by

Rianne Elvira Spaans

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in School and Clinical Child Psychology

Department of Educational Psychology University of Alberta

© Rianne Elvira Spaans, 2021

Abstract

This dissertation consists of three separate papers that contribute to the field of social skills intervention design and implementation with a specific focus on how to support adolescents with identified social skills difficulties. The first paper is a review paper of important topics related to this dissertation, namely social skills development, and current common intervention designs and strategies. The importance of underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities for social functioning are outlined, thereby emphasizing the importance of training these abilities in interventions focussed on improving social skills. In this first paper, I describe gaps noted in currently available social skills interventions and highlight specific concerns for the adolescent population due to limited availability of developmentally appropriate and engaging interventions for youth. I call for a new way of intervening for adolescents with social skills difficulties with an emphasis on training underlying abilities while employing innovative intervention delivery methods to increase engagement. As a result, I make a case for the use of video games as an intervention platform that can help offset some of the noted gaps.

In the second paper, I describe a two-fold process including the design and implementation phases of a newly developed social skills intervention for adolescents with identified social skills difficulties as well as a Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) diagnosis. First, in the design phase, I discuss the steps taken to create a video game-based intervention focussed on training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities for social skills improvement. Furthermore, details about the development team, the chosen training constructs, the training progression, and the gamification process are provided. Second, in the implementation phase, I present and discuss data collected from an initial implementation of the video game based social skills intervention with three adolescent participants with an FASD diagnosis. Several positive trends are found, including caregiver report of positive impacts on the youth's social skills and problem behaviors. Some inconsistent yet positive changes are also found for the cognitive scores, thereby providing some initial support for the concept of training cognitive abilities within a video game setting. This initial implementation is an important first step as it assesses feasibility and helps guide future refinements for the designed intervention.

In the third paper, I extend the exploration of the use of the designed and refined theorydriven video game based social skills intervention for a broad group of adolescents. A sample of 10 adolescents, with third party identified social skills difficulties, participated in the intervention. I conducted pre-and post-testing of social skills outcomes and collected change data on the participants cognitive and socio-emotional abilities. The results show some continued positive trends towards positive change in social skills and problem behaviors associated with social functioning. Furthermore, I collected data on the intervention engagement of the participants, and I present preliminary evidence of high adolescent engagement and low attrition within the video game intervention. Although exploratory in nature, I discuss the importance of these findings and the associated links to clinical practice and future research.

Overall, this dissertation is based on the premise that a video game grounded in theory can answer the call for a new way of supporting adolescents with social skills difficulties. Thus, all three papers are threaded together by a common focus on exploring this new intervention from theory to design, and implementation with an ultimate goal of improving the delivery and availability of social skills interventions for adolescents.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Rianne Elvira Spaans. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments", Pro00052027, March 17, 2015.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to acknowledge my supervisor, Dr. Jacqueline Pei, and thank her for her time, support, and encouragement throughout this long journey.

Next, I would like to thank Drs. Christina Rinaldi and Patricia Boechler as my supervisory committee, for their time in reviewing and guiding my dissertation work. I am also extremely grateful for all the help and support provided by the TALS team, and in specific Eric de Jong, as this dissertation would not have been possible without his technical skills, enthusiasm, and creative input. I have also been inspired by the 13 youths I had the pleasure of working with. Your enthusiasm for video games was palpable and contagious. Furthermore, I am grateful to the families and the school for welcoming this research project into their homes and classrooms, despite not always sharing the same passion for video games.

I would like to thank my whole family, those close by and far away, for their ever-lasting support of my educational endeavours. To Steve - thank you for your patience, your encouragement, and for supporting me through the highs and lows of my graduate experience. To Henry and Arlo – my two greatest accomplishments - thank you for joining me on my journey and attending team meetings, data collection sessions, and for allowing me to write a dissertation in between diapers changes and school drop offs.

Lastly, I want to dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Mirjam. Her desire to help and support others was truly inspiring, and this has proven to be a great driver in my pursuit to become a psychologist. I will forever hold your values close to my heart and allow these to guide me on my journeys to come.

v

Abstractii
Prefaceiv
Acknowledgements v
Table of Contents vi
List of Tablesxiii
List of Figures xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Current Dissertation
Paper One: Social Skills: A Call for a New Way of Intervening
Paper Two: Development and Initial Implementation of a Theory Driven Video Game
Based Social Skills Intervention
Paper Three: Adolescent Social Skills Intervention: Innovation, Engagement and Change
References
Chapter Two: Social Skills: A Call for a New Way of Intervening
Part One: Development of Social Skills15
Biological16
Cognitive16
Environmental
Part Two: Social Skills Interventions: Where are we at?
Social Skills Impairment
Acquisition Deficit
Performance Deficit

Table of Contents

Available Interventions and the Gaps	
Content-based Intervention Considerations	
Theoretical orientation	23
Targeted Population	
Method-based intervention considerations	
Addressing the gaps	
Part Three: Video Games as Social Skills Intervention Platforms	
Supporting Theories	
Cognitive approach	
Motivational approach	
Affective Approach	
Socio-Cultural Approach	
Responding to Common Criticisms of Video Games	
Aggression and Video Games	
Addiction and Video Games	
Socialization and Video Games	
Positive Impacts of Video Games	
The Use of Video Games to Bridge the Intervention Gaps	
Conclusion	
References	
Chapter Three: Development and Initial Implementation of a Theory Driv	en Video Game
Based Social Skills Intervention	65
Part One: Development Process	

	Development Team	68
	Intervention Constructs	69
	Sustained Attention	70
	Inhibition	71
	Metacognition	. 72
	Perspective Taking	73
	Emotion Regulation	.74
	Gamification of Intervention Constructs	75
	Storyline	76
	Progression of Training Constructs	. 79
	Sustained attention	81
	Inhibition	82
	Metacognition	83
	Perspective Taking	83
	Emotion Regulation	85
	Materials Required	86
	Software	86
	Hardware	87
Part	Two: Initial Implementation	88
	Participants	89
	Brandon	89
	Victoria	. 90
	Tyler	. 90

Setting	
Materials	
Software	
Hardware	
Measures	
Demographic Questionnaire	
Wide Range Intelligence Test (WRIT)	
Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating System	
Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (DKEFS)	
Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd Edition (CPT-3)	
Procedures	
Results	
Brandon	
Social Findings	
Cognitive Findings	
Victoria	
Social Findings.	
Tyler	
Social Findings	
Cognitive Findings	
Discussion for Initial Implementation	
Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	
Conclusion	

References	108
Chapter 4: Adolescent Social Skills Intervention: Innovation, Engagement and Change	123
Background	126
Engagement in Interventions	126
Engaging Adolescents	127
Leveraging Technology	127
Social Skills Change	128
Focus on Underlying Abilities	129
Goodness of Fit	131
Research Questions	133
Research Question 1	133
Research Question 2	133
Research Question 3	134
Study Design	135
Method	136
Procedure	136
Participants	137
Setting	137
Intervention	139
Measures	140
Demographic Questionnaire	140
Wide Range Intelligence Test (WRIT)	141
Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating System	141

Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (DKEFS)	
Conners Continuous Performance Test 3 rd Edition (CPT-3)	
Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale – Short Form (DERS-SF)	
Reading the Mind in the Eyes: Child (RMEC)	144
Planned analyses	
Results	
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	147
Research Question 3	
Evidence of Change on the SSIS	
Evidence of Change in Underlying Abilities	
Evidence of Change based on Participant Profiles	
Discussion	
Engagement	
Participant Social Skills Characteristics	
Evidence of Change	
Limitations and Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	180
Step One: Identifying the Problem	
Step Two: Designing the Intervention	
Step Three: Efficacy Implementations and Refinements	

Contributions and Implications	187
Research Contributions	187
Future Research.	189
Clinical Implications	191
Summary	192
References	194
Comprehensive Reference List	199
Appendix A Ethics Approval Letter	241
Appendix B Information Letters	242
Appendix C Consent and Assent Forms	245
Appendix D Demographic Questionnaire	248
Appendix E Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale-Short Form (DERS-SF)	251

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Participant Characteristics	90
Table 3.2 Summary of Brandon's Results	96
Table 3.3 Summary of Victoria's Results	97
Table 3.4 Summary of Tyler's Results	99
Table 4.1 Participant Characteristics	138
Table 4.2 Quantitative Engagement Data	147
Table 4.3 Overview of SSIS Self and Caregiver Report	148
Table 4.4 Number of Reports of Above Average rated Problem Behavior Subscales	
Pre-Intervention	148
Table 4.5 Overview of Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities	149
Table 4.6 Summary of Paired T-tests SSIS-Self-Report N = 9	151
Table 4.7 RCI Summary of SSIS Self-Report	151
Table 4.8 Summary of Paired T-test of SSIS Caregiver Report $N = 7$	152
Table 4.9 RCI Summary of SSIS Caregiver Report	153
Table 4.10 Summary of Paired T-tests for Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities	153
Table 4.11 RCI Summary of Underlying Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities	
(RCI > 1.96)	154
Table 4.12 Independent T-test Results	155

List of Figures

Figure 3.1a-d. Various screenshots of game locations and tasks	 7
Figure 3.2. Progression of constructs	 0
Figure 3.3. Progression overview per construct	 1

Chapter 1: Introduction

Humans are social beings who engage in approximately 12 social interactions each day (Zhaoyang et al., 2018). These interactions serve many different purposes as they can be used to obtain and transmit information or knowledge, support identity development, provide social connection, and offer emotional support or distress. Both the quantity and quality of daily social interactions have been linked to psychological and physiological well-being across the lifespan (Bernstein et al., 2018; Fiorillo & Sabatini, 2011) with individuals, who are engaged in regular positive social interactions, reporting higher levels of perceived happiness and motivation in addition to lower levels of stress, health concerns, and negative emotions (Bernstein et al., 2018; Fiorillo & Sabatini, 2011).

Individuals who engage in positive social interactions are typically viewed to be socially competent, meaning that they are perceived by others to complete social tasks successfully (Nangle et al., 2010; Rose-Krasnor, 1997). This *social competence* is dependent on the development and implementation of *social cognition* which refers to the mental processes that are used to perceive and process social cues, stimuli, and environments (Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006; Scourfield, et al., 1999). Included in social cognition are perceptual processes such as face processing and joint attention, as well as more complex cognitive processes including theory of mind and emotion recognition (Kilford et al., 2016).

In addition to social cognition, social competence also requires *social skills*, which are conceptualized as a specific class of behaviors that are used to complete a social task successfully (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Gresham et al., 2010). Although these specific social skills are the subject of debate, researchers suggest the core social skills can be divided into three categories (Matson & Wilkins, 2007, 2009) including interpersonal (e.g. cooperation,

responsibility, engagement; Gresham & Elliot, 1990 and empathy; Crowley & Merrell, 2003; Gresham & Elliot, 1990; Matson et al., 2012), intrapersonal (self-management skills, Crowley & Merrell, 2003; self-control, Gresham & Elliot, 1990; assertion, Gresham & Elliot, 1990; Matson et al., 2012) and communication skills (expressive and receptive skills; Bellack et al., 2004). Taken together these three areas of behavioural skills (interpersonal, intrapersonal and communication) as well as social cognitive processes have been described as foundational to effective social functioning.

In addition to the general link between social competence deficits during childhood and difficulties in education, psychological and vocational settings later in life (Greene et al., 1999; Kuperschmidt et al., 1990), researchers have also established specific links between social skills and long-term impacts. For example, kindergartners with good social skills tend to be more successful in developing positive attitudes about school and adjusting to school entry, in addition to receiving higher grades (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Jones et al., 2015; Rose, 2012). During midchildhood, children with strong social skills are more likely to have stronger peer relationships which can serve as a protective factor for adversities (Demir et al., 2012; Parker et al., 2006; Segrin et al., 2016). Poor social skills; however, increase a child's risk of social adjustment problems, employment difficulties and mental health problems such as depression, anxiety, delinquency, and antisocial behavior (Davis et al., 2011; Erath et al., 2007; Feinberg et al., 2007; Gresham & Elliott, 2008; Gresham et al., 2012; Lugnegard et al., 2011; Segrin et al., 2016; Worley & Matson, 2011). Difficulties in educational settings have also been noted in terms of educational underachievement (Fleming et al., 2005; Woodward & Fergusson, 2000) and increased rates of school dropout (Lopez & DuBois, 2005). These significant long-term outcomes show the importance of social skills thereby highlighting the need to foster these skills

throughout all developmental stages to support healthy social outcomes. As a result of the known links between poor social skills and potential negative long-term outcomes, researchers have been exploring ways to support development of social skills for those who may experience difficulties in this area. A myriad of intervention programs has therefore been developed and evaluated across a variety of populations and settings over the past few decades. Examination of the overall effectiveness of these interventions suggests moderate effects for different groups of children and adolescents (Nangle et al., 2010). More specifically, researchers have been able to consistently show positive impacts associated with a variety of social skills interventions aimed to support individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) (Bellini et al. 2007; Gates et al. 2017; Matson et al. 2007; Reichow et al. 2012; White et al. 2007) and some evidence has been provided for effectiveness for individuals with emotional and/or behavioral disorder (Cook et al., 2008).

These intervention studies are important as they help practioners decide on appropriate interventions for individuals identified with social skills deficits. However, the currently available interventions and associated research includes several gaps in how these programs are developed, who they target, and how effective and feasible they are across different populations and over time. Researchers have identified concerns with the generalizability of interventions, the availability of developmentally appropriate content for teenagers, and training materials applicable for individuals without ASD (e.g., Bishop et al., 2007; Lanovaz et al., 2017; Scandurra et al., 2019; Stevens et al., 2016). Furthermore, current interventions are described as resource intensive (Cappadocia & Weiss, 2011; Cividini-Motta et al., 2017; McMahon et al., 2013; Parson & Mitchell, 2002) and appear to show limited links to social skills development literature. Therefore, despite the large body of research dedicated to social skills development, theory, and interventions, there is a need for continued research on how to best support those with deficits in this area.

Current Dissertation

In this current dissertation I aim to extend existing literature on social skills and address gaps noted in the field. Specifically, in this work an argument will be made for the use of a theoretically driven video game based social skills intervention to help bridge these identified gaps. This will be done in three separate papers with a focus on intervention research from theory to design, and ultimately implementation. Intervention research can be defined as "the systematic study of purposive change strategies" (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010 p.325) and should not be confused with evaluation research which focusses on evaluating assessment processes and outcomes of existing programs. This current dissertation goes beyond the evaluative lens that is commonly associated with social skills programs and aims to also emphasizes the design and theory-centered process associated with the evaluated intervention.

There are five steps typically outlined in intervention research including (a) development of the problem and program theories, (b) design of program materials and measures, (c) confirming and refining the program components in efficacy tests, (d) testing effectiveness in a variety of practice settings, and (e) disseminating the program findings and materials (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). These steps are not always followed in a linear fashion and a corrective loop may be required. For example, after the initial efficacy tests a return to the design phase may be necessary prior to the continuation of effectiveness testing. This continued focus on design and development is said to allow for a greater link to evidence based practice for intervention research. There are often multiple elements that contribute to the potential effectiveness of a program (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010) that may be missed when there is a sole focus on outcome evaluation.

The current dissertation will follow the outlined intervention research steps to discuss the design, development, and implementation of a new social skills intervention program. This information is presented in three separate papers (presented in chapters two, three, and four) that together aim to serve as a model for future intervention development purposes and to ultimately better support those who struggle with social skills.

Paper One: Social Skills: A Call for a New Way of Intervening

In chapter two, arguments will be provided to support the call for a new way of designing and delivering social skills interventions. The paper will start with a thorough review of the theories associated with social skills development as this will help set the stage for a deeper understanding of the current gaps in the available interventions. Evidence suggesting the presence of gaps in the intervention delivery and design will then be provided including a review of concerns related to generalizability of the learned skills, access to interventions suited for individuals without ASD, and concerns related to the resources intensiveness currently found with intervention programs. Furthermore, a case will be made for a need to design and deliver interventions to the currently undersupported adolescent population. Interventions aimed at supporting adolescents with social skills deficits are scarce despite knowing that adolescence is characterized by significant social changes including increased social demands resulting in an increased importance on social skills (Andrews et al., 2021; Casey et al., 2000; Steinberg, 2014).

The last part of this paper will highlight how video games can mitigate these identified gaps and serve as an intervention platform for social skills development. This will be done by reviewing game-based learning theories and research on technology-based interventions.

Paper Two: Development and Initial Implementation of a Theory Driven Video Game Based Social Skills Intervention

In the second paper, this call for a new way of intervening will be answered through the design and development of a theoretically based video game to support adolescents with social skills deficits. This paper will go beyond the current available literature on social skills interventions as detailed information will be provided regarding the design process of such an intervention. This is important information to disseminate to researchers and practioners as much of the current research focusses on outcomes of interventions without providing information about how the intervention was designed or what theory it was based on. This lack of background information can limit a true understanding of what is deemed helpful to individuals with social skills deficits, which can slow down the development of appropriate and successful supports.

This second paper will also discuss data and findings from an initial implementation of this theory driven video game based social skills intervention. This implementation was performed with three adolescents with a FASD diagnosis and identified social skills difficulties. The goals of this small implementation were to show proof of concept for the game and the training constructs. This was done by ensuring playability of the game, assessing for any needs for changes to the intervention, and examining any potential trends for effectiveness based on outcome measures.

Paper Three: Adolescent Social Skills Intervention: Innovation, Engagement and Change

The third and final paper included in this dissertation can be considered a natural extension on the previous two papers as it highlights data obtained from a secondary implementation of the developed video game intervention. This second round of data aimed to provide further evidence for the use of video games as a platform for social skills intervention in general, while also building more support for the specifically designed intervention highlighted in the previous paper. Additional goals for the third paper were to explore the concepts of engagement and "goodness of fit" related to social skills interventions for adolescents with identified social difficulties. Concerns associated with attrition and engagement for adolescents in intervention research were highlighted in chapter two and are explored in more detail in this third paper. Engagement data collected as part of the second implementation of the video game intervention are examined and suggestions for future research are made. The concept of "goodness of fit" is also explored in this paper as a case is made for a focus on the alignment between identified social skills needs and intervention goals. This paper therefore adds to the field of social skills intervention by examining new concepts and methods and aims to increase understanding on how to support adolescents with social skills difficulties.

Taken together, the research presented in these three papers aims to respond to some of the current gaps in social skills intervention while serving as a model for future intervention design, development, and implementation. The increased knowledge about design and development of a theory informed video game based social skills intervention also aims to further link research to practice and result in increased supports for those who struggle with social skills.

References

- Andrews, J. L., Ahmed, S. P., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2021). Navigating the social environment in adolescence: The role of social brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 109– 118.
- Beauchamp, M., & Anderson, V. (2010). SOCIAL: An integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(1), 39-64.
- Bellack, A. S., Muesser, K. T., Gingerich, S., & Agresta, J. (2004). Social skills training for schizophrenia: A step-by-step guide (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Bellini, S., & Akullian, J. (2007). A meta-analysis of video modeling and video self-modeling interventions for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Exceptional Children*, 73, 264–287. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/001440290707300301</u>
- Bernstein, M. J., Zawadzki, M. J., Juth, V., Benfield, J. A., & Smyth, J. M. (2018). Social interactions in daily life: Within-person associations between momentary social experiences and psychological and physical health indicators. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(3), 372–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517691366</u>
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*(1), 61-79.
- Blakemore, S. J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain: Implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47, 296–312.
- Casey, B., Giedd, J. N., Thomas, K. M. (2000). Structural and functional brain development and its relation to cognitive development. *Biological Psychology*, *54*(1-3), 241-257.

- Cook, C., Gresham, F., Kern, L., Barreras, R., Thornton, S., & Crews, S. (2008). Social skills training for secondary students with emotional and/or behavioral disorders: a review and analysis of the meta-analytic literature. *Journal Of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 16(3), 131-144.
- Crowley, S. L. & Merrell, K. W. (2003). The structure of the school social behavior scales: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Assessment for Effective Intervention, 28,* 41-55.
- Davis, T. E., Hess, J. A., Moree, B. N., Fodstad, J. C., Dempsey, T., Jenkins, W. S., & Marson, J.
 L. (2011). Anxiety symptoms across the lifespan in people diagnosed with autism disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5, 112–118.
- Demir, M., Jaafar, J., Bilyk, N., & Ariff, M. R. (2012). Social skills, friendship, and happiness: A cross-cultural investigation. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 152, 379–385. http://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2011.591451
- Erath, S., Flanagan, K., & Bierman, K. (2007). Social anxiety and peer relations in early adolescence: Behavioral and cognitive factors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(3), 405-416.
- Feinberg, M. E., Ridenour, T. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Aggregating indices of risk and protection for adolescent behavior problems: The communities that care youth survey. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 40 (6), 506–513.
- Fleming, C. B., Haggerty, K. P., Catalano, R. F., Harachi, T. W., Mazza, J. J., &. Gruman, D. H (2005). Do social and behavioral characteristics targeted by preventive interventions predict standardized test scores and grades? *Journal of School Health*, 75(9), 342–349.
- Fraser, M. W., & Galinsky, M. J. (2010). Steps in intervention research: Designing and developing social programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 20(5), 459–466.

- Fiorillo, D., &Sabatini, F. (2011). Quality and quantity: The role of social interactions in selfreported individual health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 73(11), 1644-1652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.09.007</u>
- Gates, J. A., Kang, E., & Lerner, M. D. (2017). Efficacy of group social skills interventions for youth with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 52, 164–181.
- Greene, R. W., Biederman, J., Farone, S. U., Wilens, T. E., Mick, E., & Blier, H. K. (1999).
 Further validation of social impairment as predictor of substance use disorders. Findings from a sample of siblings of boys with and without ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28, 349–354.
- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Manual. Pearson Assessments.
- Gresham, F., Elliott, S., & Kettler, R. (2010). Base rates of social skills acquisition/performance deficits, strengths, and problem behaviors: An analysis of the Social Skills Improvement System-Rating Scales. *Psychological Assessment*, 22(4), 809-815.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020255

- Gresham, F., Robichauz, N., York, H., & O'Leary, K. (2012). Issues related to identifying and implementing evidence-based social skills interventions for students with high-incidence disabilities. Advances in learning and behavioural disabilities. In Cook, B., Tankersley, M., & Landrum, T., (2012). *Volume 25 classroom behaviour, contexts and interventions*. Emerald Group Publishing.
- Jones, D. E., Greenberg, M., & Crowley, M. (2015). Early social-emotional functioning and public health: The relationship between kindergarten social competence and future

wellness. American Journal of Public Health, 105(11), 2283-2290. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302630

- Kilford, E. J., Garrett, E., & Blakemore, S. (2016). The development of social cognition in adolescence: An integrated perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 106-120. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016</u>
- Kupersmidt, J., Coie, J., & Dodge, K. (1990). The role of peer relationships in the development of disorder. In S. Asher & J. Coie (Eds.), *Peer rejection in childhood* (pp. 274–308).Cambridge University Press.
- Lopez, C., & DuBois, D. L. (2005). Peer victimization and rejection: Investigation of an integrative model of effects on emotional, behavioral, and academic adjustment in early adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 34, 25-36.
- Lugnegard, T., Hallerback, M. U., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Psychiatric comorbidity in young adults with a clinical diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 32, 1910–1917.
- Matson, J., Neal, D., Worley, J., Kozlowski, A., & Fodstad, J. (2012). Factor structure of the Matson Evaluation of Social Skills with Youngsters-II (MESSY-II). *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 2067-2071.
- Matson, J. L., & Wilkins, J. (2007). A critical review of assessment targets and methods for social skills excesses and deficits for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 1, 28–37.
- Matson, J., & Wilkins, J. (2009). Psychometric testing methods for children's social skills. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 30(2), 249-274.

- Nangle, D.W. Grover, R.L., Holleb, L. J., Cassano, M., & Fales, J. (2010). Defining competence and identifying target skills. In D. W. Nangle, D.J. Hansen, C. Erdley (Eds.), *Practitioner's guide to empirically based measures of social skills* (pp. 3-19). Springer.
- Reichow, B., Steiner, A. M., & Volkmar, F. (2012). Social skills groups for people aged 6 to 21 with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Evidence-Based Child Health*, 8(2), 266–315. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ebch.1902</u>
- Rose, T. (2012). School readiness is about more than knowing the A-B-Cs and 1-2-3s. Zero to *Three*, *33*(1), 17-23.
- Rose-Krasnor L. (1997) The nature of social competence: A theoretical review. *Social Development*, 6 (1), 111-135.
- Steinberg, L. (2014). Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence. Houghton Mifflin.
- White, S. W., Keonig, K., & Scahill, L. (2007). Social skills development in children with autism spectrum disorders: A review of the intervention research. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37, 1858–1868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0320-x</u>
- Woodward, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2000). Childhood peer relationship problems and later risks of educational underachievement and unemployment. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 41(2), 191-201.
- Worley, J. A., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Psychiatric symptoms in children diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder: An examination of gender differences. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 3*, 1086–1091.

Zhaoyang, R., Sliwinski, M. J., Martire, L. M., & Smyth, J. M. (2018) Age differences in adults' daily social interactions: An ecological momentary assessment study. *Psychology of Aging*, 33(4), 607- 618. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000242</u>

Chapter Two: Social Skills: A Call for a New Way of Intervening

The importance of social connections and social functioning for children and adolescents has been well-established over the past few decades. Although connecting with peers may come easily to some, others struggle with social interactions and specifically social skills daily. An overall prevalence rate of people affected by social skills deficits is unknown; however, difficulties in social settings are often observed among several disability groups including individuals with neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), and Cognitive Impairments; Cordier et al., 2015).

Researchers have consistently linked social competence to better educational, psychological; and vocational standings (Deming, 2017; Domitrovich et al, 2017; Greene et al., 1999; Kupersmidt et al.,1990). Social skills, a subcomponent of social competence, are said to be specifically important throughout development and children with strong social skills are more likely to have stronger peer relationships which can in turn serve as a protective factor against adversities (Demir et al., 2012; Parker et al., 2006; Segrin et al., 2016). As a result of these longterm impacts of social functioning, researchers and practitioners have focused efforts in the past few decades to develop intervention programs supporting social skills development. However, there are several gaps in how these programs are developed, who they target, and how effective and feasible they are.

Modern technology, such as video games, have been proposed as a potential delivery platform for these interventions that may help bridge these gaps. As a result, this paper aims to outline the gaps associated with the currently available social skills interventions in more detail and provide a guideline for researchers aiming to develop a new type of social skills intervention using video games. Part One will focus on theories related to social skills development and how this informs intervention development. In Part Two, literature related to social skills deficits and gaps to current common interventions will be explored. Finally, in Part Three, the concept of video game-based intervention models will be discussed as an alternative delivery method with the capacity to address some of the current concerns in the field of social skills intervention. Overall, the information noted in this chapter will hope to serve as a model for future intervention development purposes and to ultimately better support those who struggle with social skills.

Part One: Development of Social Skills

Social skills are important throughout childhood, adolescence, and into adulthood and are often conceptualized as a specific class of behaviors (including cognitive and interpersonal abilities) that are used to complete a social task successfully (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Gresham et al., 2010). In order for individuals to engage in these specific behaviors, researchers propose the requirement of several underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities (Cordier et al., 2015). More specifically, attentional control, executive functions, and social cognition (e.g., facial and emotional perception, theory of mind, and empathy; Kilford et al., 2016) have been identified as crucial for social skills and social functioning. There are several neurological structures associated with these cognitive and socio-emotional abilities which can be impacted by both biological and social-cultural or environmental factors (e.g., maturation or trauma). As a result, social skills development occurs through a complex interaction of biological, cognitive, and environmental factors (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Soto-Icasa et al., 2015). An examination of the interplay between these factors as well as an examination of the unique contributions of each of these factors can help guide intervention efforts.

Biological

Social neuroscientists have found a wide network of brain areas that activates during social interactions including the frontal and temporal areas of the brain (Andrews et al., 2021; Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Soto-Icaza et al., 2015). This network is referred to as the *social brain*. Some of the structures involved in the *social brain* are already functional during the first year of development (e.g., areas involved in facial recognition and emotion perception); however, other structures (prefrontal and parietal cortex) develop and refine later in life through environmental stimulation (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006). This continued refinement is possible as a result of synaptogenesis, synaptic pruning and myelination that occurs at several times throughout childhood and into adolescence and young adulthood.

The development of these social brain areas are linked to the development of executive functions (EF, e.g., working memory, planning, problem-solving, strategic behavior) and theory of mind (ToM) as they rely strongly on the activation of the frontal lobes (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010). EF and ToM in turn are part of the identified cognitive and socio-emotional skills required for overall social skills development (Cordier et al., 2015). As a result, the biological model states that social skills development is therefore mediated by a functioning brain system which allows for the development of some of the foundational cognitive and socio-emotional abilities. These underlying abilities will develop as the associated brain structures mature and refine with age, ultimately resulting in good social skills.

Cognitive

The biological model outlined above highlights the brain structures involved in social interactions; however, this does not explain the processes involved in accessing the required

skills. Over the past few decades, many researchers have developed cognitive models attempting to explain the social processes involved in social interactions (e.g., Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Dodge et al., 1986; Lemerise & Arsenio, 2000; Yeates et al., 2007). The most well-known cognitive model describing social processes is the social information processing (SIP) model. The SIP model outlines that individuals faced with social situations take five mental steps before engaging in the social interactions (Dodge et al., 1986). These steps include: (a) encoding of situational cues, (b) representation and interpretation of those cues, (c) mental search for possible responses to the situation, (d) selection of a response; and (e) enactment (Dodge et al., 1986). Social skills development therefore occurs as the interplay between a child and their environment, is encoded, interpreted, organized, and stored in memory, to be translated into mental models or schemas that inform subsequent exchanges (Burks et al., 1999). Over the years, the SIP model was expanded to include emotions, the relationship between self and others, and social experiences as factors that may impact how an individual reads and interprets cues (Crick & Dodge, 1994; Lemerise & Arsenio, 2000).

From a developmental perspective, the SIP model relies on prerequisite abilities such as attentional skills and an ability to read verbal and nonverbal cues which then leads into the development of cognitive schemas on how individuals can act in social situations. This means that the biological factors described above make it possible for children to further develop skills in social situations. The SIP model proposes that changes in these abilities will occur over time in a quantitative (children will develop more skills as they age) as well as a qualitative sense (the skills will evolve to include more complex and more competent methods). These changes are thought to be related to an increase in the child's experience with social stimuli as they mature as well as due to improvements in attentional abilities (Crick & Dodge, 1994). The attentional

changes lead to improvements in their ability to "detect subtle features of stimuli and to attend to relevant, rather than irrelevant, features of that stimuli" (Crick & Dodge, 1994, p. 80) resulting in greater accuracy, efficiency, and more complexity in the skills used by children. This further supports the idea of an interaction between biological and cognitive processes.

In addition to the SIP model, social learning theory (Bandura, 1971) provides another cognitive view of how individuals learn social skills. This theory proposes that learning, including learning social skills, takes place through direct experiences or observations of other's behaviors. Social skills development is therefore the product of observational learning requiring an individual to pay attention to the modeled behavior, to retain the information in memory, to rehearse the skills, and lastly to reproduce the behavior when required (Olson & Hergenhahn, 2013).

In summary, the SIP model and social learning theory are cognitive in nature as they describe cognitive processes involved in learning. They focus on the importance of underlying or foundational biological structures (e.g., attention and inhibition) to be present as the first step in social skills development as these skills allow for the creation of cognitive schema regarding social interactions. The literature on the development of the brain structures required for social skills development indicate that this process continues to develop and expand throughout childhood and adolescence. This suggests that the process of social skills development will follow a similar continuous development journey during which cognitive processes related to social interactions can improve and adapt as biological underpinnings grow and evolve. Taken together, this information highlights the interaction between biological and cognitive processes and helps explain how they are reliant upon each other.

Although the interaction between biological and cognitive processes provides the basis for social skills development, SIP and social learning theories in addition to research on brain development also highlight the impact environment such as social experiences and life circumstance.

Environmental

Environmental or social-cultural impacts are said to be influential to the general development of social skills and in particular an individual's familial relationships are commonly thought to be important. First relationships are often with caregivers and this bond or attachment can influence later relationships as children internalize these connection experiences (Bowlby, 1973). Internal representations of self and others then form the basis for relationships in the future meaning that positive early relationships often result in positive future relationships and social interactions (Ainsworth, 1989). Harlow and Zimmerman (1958) were the first to assert that peer contact deprivation results in a failure to develop social skills and shows abnormal developmental trajectories. Since then, several researchers have shown that poor social skills or skills deficits are more common for children with non-secure attachment styles (Dwyer et al., 2010; Ladd, 1999; Stacks & Oshio, 2009).

In addition to attachment theory, the family environment can also impact social skills development through several other factors such as the extent to which parents encourage and foster peer relationships, the quality of the parent-child interactions, as well as any family conflict that may influence a child's exposure to more negative forms of communication and interaction (Guralnick, 1999). Adverse childhood experiences are known to impact the development of the brain across several areas including some related to the social brain which can ultimately impact the development of social skills for individuals (McLaughlin et al., 2015; Teicher & Samson, 2016).

A last factor to consider is culture as it permeates child-rearing practices and dictates customs and social norms (Albert & Trommsdorff, 2014; Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010). This can influence attachment as well as the definition of social skills as cultures may differ on what is considered appropriate in social interactions (Keller et al., 2011). These cultural differences are likely to influence the development of these skills; however, limited research is available (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010).

Taken together, these environmental experiences can have impacts on social skills development across biological and cognitive models and may help explain why some individuals develop deficits in these areas. Although environmental factors are not typical targets for intervention purposes (as opposed to preventative initiatives) it is an important influence to discuss in this paper as it highlights the potential impact of positive social experiences that may be created during an intervention. It is unlikely that positive experiences in the intervention will offset the neurological impacts of adverse childhood experiences; however, repeated exposures to positive social interactions may influence the creation of cognitive schemas thereby creating the potential for changes to social skills.

Part Two: Social Skills Interventions: Where are we at?

Without interruptions to the biological, cognitive, and environmental correlates of social functioning, cognitive and socio-emotional abilities are said to develop typically resulting in "good" social skills. These skills are then linked to better educational, psychological, and vocational standings throughout an individual's lifetime (e.g., Domitrovich et al., 2017). However, development of social skills does not always proceed as expected which can result in

social skills impairments and increases a child's risk of social adjustment problems, employment difficulties and mental health problems such as depression, anxiety, delinquency, and antisocial behavior (Davis et al., 2011; Erath et al., 2007; Feinberg et al., 2007; Gresham & Elliott, 2008; Gresham et al., 2012; Lugnegard et al., 2011; Segrin et al., 2016; Worley & Matson, 2011). Difficulties in educational settings have also been noted in terms of educational underachievement (Fleming et al., 2005; Woodward & Fergusson, 2000) and increased rates of school dropout (Lopez & DuBois, 2005). These significant long-term outcomes show the importance of developing social skills throughout childhood and adolescence and highlight the need for interventions. The following section of this paper will outline the current conceptualization of social skills impairments, common interventions used to target these deficits, and the gaps in the existing interventions.

Social Skills Impairment

Social skills impairment was first conceptualized in terms of acquisition versus performance deficits (Gresham, 1981). This position is now well accepted by several others (Elliott & Gresham, 2008; Gumpel, 2007; Maag, 2005; Walker et al., 2004; Lerner & White, 2015) and highlights the idea that social skills impairment is the result of one of the following deficits.

Acquisition Deficit

Generally, this type of deficit results from a lack of knowledge on how to perform a social skill and characterizes individuals who have not acquired the necessary social skills (e.g., turn taking, perspective taking) to interact successfully with others (Elliot et al., 2008; Gresham, 2016). This lack of knowledge typically stems from impairments in social-cognitive abilities resulting in faulty or absent learning of required social behaviors (Gresham et al., 2010; Lerner

& Mikami, 2012). In addition, acquisition deficits also describe difficulties in knowing which social skills are appropriate in specific social situations or how to enact a fluent sequence of social behaviors. These deficits are referred to as a *can't do* problem (Gresham, 2016) or more recently known as a *social knowledge* deficit (Gates, et al., 2017; Lerner & Mikami, 2012; Wolstencroft et al., 2018).

Performance Deficit

This type of deficit results from a failure to perform a given social skill at an acceptable level despite the individual knowing how to do so (Gresham, 2016). This *won't do* problem or *social performance* deficit (Gates et al., 2017; Lerner & Mikami, 2012; Wolstencroft et al., 2018) characterizes individuals who have acquired appropriate social skills and know when to apply them; however, they show difficulty in applying this knowledge in real-life situations or show difficulty in applying them consistently (Lerner & Mikami, 2012). For example, a child may know what to do in a social situation but is too distracted by environmental stimuli to complete the required social action. Acquisition deficits were thought to be more common in the general population and were therefore targeted more frequently in interventions, however, social skills performance deficits appear to occur more often according to recent findings (Gresham et al., 2010).

Available Interventions and the Gaps

According to the acquisition versus performance deficits theory, each child should receive an intervention to match their type of deficit. An individual with an acquisition deficit should receive a treatment focussing on direct instruction of social skills in a protected setting (Gresham, 2016). On the other hand, individuals with a performance deficit are more likely to benefit from manipulation of antecedents and consequences in a naturalistic setting (Gresham,
2016; Lerner & Mikami, 2012). Over the past few decades, several intervention methods have been developed and evaluated; however, there is currently no common, agreed upon approach for teaching social skills (Cappodocia & Weiss, 2011). Views on what is recommended also fluctuate thereby making it difficult for practitioners to decide on an appropriate intervention for individuals with social skills impairments. During this decision-making process, it is important to consider both the content (e.g., training objectives, theoretical orientation) as well as the method delivery (e.g., groups, one-on-one) of the training program and the efficacy and effectiveness associated with it (Milligan et al., 2017). This next section will therefore review common intervention features as well as gaps in the available programs as identified by the literature.

Content-based Intervention Considerations

As with any intervention the content delivered to participants is of great importance as this provides the teaching of the intended skills. Social skills interventions are often referred to as social skills training (SST) programs as their main goal is to teach age-appropriate social skills and competencies, such communication, problem solving, decision making, self-management, as well as the ability to create and maintain friendships (Craig et al., 2015). The content for the intervention can differ based on the population it aims to target or based on the theoretical orientation used and are known to have benefits and drawbacks associated with it.

Theoretical orientation. Many of the social skills interventions currently developed are based on a theoretical orientation to help guide the content of the training program. Some of the content is based on general teaching strategies such as repetition and practice of a skill (Lerner & Mikami, 2012; Parsons & Mitchell, 2002; Wolstencroft et al., 2018) while others include strategies to fit a particular orientation. Early SST applications included a heavy focus on operant conditioning based on behavioral models and focussed on reinforcement and modeling. This was determined to be effective for learning new behaviors but lacked in generalization of the skills (Parsons & Mitchell, 2002). Later, behavioral intervention also included teaching strategies such as prompting, chaining (by breaking complex tasks into smaller steps), and shaping (Spence, 2003).

Interventions anchored in social learning theory, on the other hand, include more cognitively oriented teaching strategies by borrowing certain components associated with Cognitive Behavioral Therapy and may include a focus on didactic instruction of social problem solving or emotion recognition skills (Beaumont et al., 2017; Koning et al., 2013). Modeling, either through in-vivo or video approaches are also frequently included teaching strategies as these align closely with the social learning theory and have shown some effectiveness in teaching skills (Bellini & Akulian, 2007). Depending on the setting of the modeling, some concerns have been noted regarding the limited generalizability of the learned skills (Bellini & Akulian, 2007). This lack of generalization is noted across many of the cognitive behavioral interventions (CBI) despite attempts to combat this through homework assignments (McMahon et al., 2013).

In general, cognitive-behavioral interventions (CBI) have shown improvements in social skills for children and adolescents with anxiety and/or behavioral problems (Othman et al., 2015). In addition, CBIs are the recommended intervention for individuals with schizophrenia as researchers have shown improvements in acquisition and durability of skills such as basic conversational skills, assertiveness, and daily living skills (Granholm et al., 2016). However, CBIs are often more resource intensive as they require more hours of total intervention time than other interventions making them costlier and perhaps less feasible to implement (Cappadocia & Weiss, 2011). Some concerns have also been raised about using CBIs for younger children as

they may not have the cognitive skills necessary to be impacted by the interventions (Cook et al., 2008).

As is shown above, many of the training strategies related to the specific theoretical orientations include benefits as well as disadvantages and it may therefore be beneficial for individuals to be exposed to a mix of teaching strategies within one intervention (Beaumont et al., 2017). Furthermore, examination of the interventions across different theoretical orientations reveals two main gaps that should be addressed. First, despite continuous efforts to improve generalization of the learned skills there remains to be a difficulty for participants to translate the skills learned in the interventions to outside settings (e.g., Matson, 2017). This is an important gap to address as generalization of the learned skill to settings outside of the intervention should be the overall training goal. Second, when examining the common content for available social skills interventions to also becomes evident that many of these teaching strategies across theoretical orientations focus on improving or acquiring specific social skills such as social problem solving, facial recognition, or communication skills. Based on the social skills development theory outlined above these skills are possible through underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities (e.g., Cordier et al., 2015; Ross et al., 2019; Soto-Icaza et al., 2015). The interventions available today; however, do not tend to focus on ensuring that these underlying skills are trained allowing for the acquisition of social skills but rather focus on directly teaching the impaired social skills.

Targeted Population. In addition to the development of content based on theoretical orientation, interventions are also influenced by the population they are designed to target. This occurs in two-fold. First, intervention content is presumed to be designed around the developmental needs of the targeted population (Milligan et al., 2017). The majority of the

programs available target younger children to provide early intervention (Ledford et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Storebø et al., 2019). The interventions available for children ages 10 and under focus the teaching of behavioral content including skills like sharing toys, starting conversations, and listening skills (Milligan et al., 2017). As participants age, interventions start to include a focus on emotional facets of social competence such as perspective taking and empathy (Milligan et al., 2017) as aligned with the developmental stage of the targeted participant group. During adolescence there is an increased focus on socio-emotional skills and self-reflective abilities. In addition to these changes to the teaching content there are also changes to the content in terms of the interests associated with different age groups. The examples and situations used in interventions for young children differ from those for adolescents.

Taken together, intervention content should be contextualized in development and maturity level of the participants, which may require case by case assessment. However, despite a myriad of research highlighting the importance of continued supports throughout adolescence there appears to be a gap in intervention development and engagement for this age group (Casey et al., 2000; Guthold et al., 2021; Steinberg, 2014). A limited number of interventions are targeted toward the adolescent age group and attrition rates tend to be higher for adolescents who enrolled in social skills interventions (e.g., Farris et al., 2019) which is suspected to be caused by a lack of engagement throughout the intervention.

Secondly, in addition to many of the interventions targeting younger children, most of the currently available programs are designed for individuals with ASD (Lanovaz et al., 2017). The social deficit profile associated with ASD is said to be distinctly different from the social deficits noted for individuals with other neurodevelopmental disorders such as ADHD, LD's, or FASD

(Bishop et al., 2007; Scandurra et al., 2019; Stevens et al., 2016). This is important to note as several researchers highlight the importance of providing interventions based on the type of deficit found for a particular individual. Based on the differing social skills profiles individuals with ASD should therefore receive an intervention different from those offered to individuals with different social profiles (e.g., ADHD) to optimize the potential for change in social competence.

Method-based intervention considerations

In addition to the importance of the content that is delivered through the training programs, it is also important to examine the method of delivery for these interventions (Milligan et al., 2017) as this can have an impact on the efficacy and effectiveness of the program. At the onset of the social skills intervention era, many of these trainings were conducted in one-on-one coaching environments (Cividini-Motta et al., 2017). As a result of the noted concerns related to generalization of learned skills, many of the interventions available today are delivered in group and/or classroom-wide settings with the intention of generalizing the skills to common settings for children (e.g., interactions with peers, and playground environments). Meta-analyses on the effects of these group based social skills interventions show moderate improvements to social competence (g = 0.51; Gates et al., 2017 and g = 0.47; Reichow et al., 2012) and have the added benefit of reducing stigmatization while encouraging individuals to practice the skills with each other during the intervention sessions (Mikami et al., 2017).

Furthermore, researchers also examined the effectiveness and efficacy of delivering social skills training using peers rather than intervention staff to close the gap to generalizability. These Peer Mediated Interventions (PMI) consist of typically developing peers who are taught strategies for interacting with individuals with social skills deficits (Walton & Ingersoll, 2013).

The peers therefore serve as the intervention agents as they become a model for appropriate social behavior. This is said to allow for naturalistic practice of the skills with the intent of increasing generalizability of the learned skills. However, despite these changes in intervention delivery format, generalization of the learned social skills remains to be problematic for the interventions available today (DuPaul & Weyandt, 2006; Matson, 2017; Pfiffner et al., 2000)

Another identified gap in the available delivery methods relates to the high resource intensiveness of many of the available programs. The peer mediated interventions require availability and willingness of peers to participate and be trained in the skills prior to the start of the intervention (Cividini-Motta et al., 2017). Even when peers are not required for the program, teaching of social skills often requires trained staff to provide modeling, reinforcement, and repetition in the same manner over the period of the intervention, placing an increased demand on intervention costs (Parson & Mitchell, 2002). The group and classroom delivery methods also require space in a school or community setting (McMahon et al., 2013). Resource and time intensive programs are not always feasible within small communities or due to limited finances thereby creating a gap for some individuals to obtain the intervention supports they require.

Lastly, the literature on social skills interventions also notes a gap to the availability of evidence-based programs in terms of long-term outcomes. Many of the research studies show little to sometimes no evidence of the maintenance of learned skills (Flynn & Healy, 2012; McMahon et al., 2013). This is likely due to the fact that the long-term outcomes are rarely measured when assessing the effectiveness of these programs. This is a problem related to the research and implementation of the programs; however, it may also speak to potential difficulties with the training methods themselves if long-term outcomes are found to be minimal.

Addressing the gaps

Overall, when practitioners examine currently available interventions based on the teaching content, they may encounter difficulties with limited generalizability of the learned skills, limited available interventions appropriate for teenagers, and limited interventions suited for individuals whose social deficit profiles do not match that of individuals with ASD. This can result in the selection of an intervention that is not best suited for an individual thereby potentially impacting the efficacy of the treatment. These content related gaps are further compounded when examining the methods used to deliver the current interventions as these also highlight gaps in generalizability of the learned skills in addition to concerns related to resource intensiveness and limited evidence-based findings. Taken together, this literature review suggests a call for a new way of developing and delivering social skills interventions to those in need.

Part Three: Video Games as Social Skills Intervention Platforms

Video game-based interventions are one viable alternative solution as they offer several advantages that may help offset the currently noted gaps in intervention development and delivery for improving social skills. Initially, technology was incorporated into interventions to help alleviate the concerns noted for generalizability of learned skills through the inclusion of video tapes showing modelling of desired social skills (DiGennaro et al., 2011). However, rapid advances in technology quickly made the use of video modeling appear outdated and modern technologies such as virtual environments, virtual realities, and specifically video games were included in social skills training delivery.

Despite the negative portrayal of video games in the media, there are several supporting theories to help explain how these new technologies can support general learning. Furthermore, it is important to highlight the reasons why videogames specifically can help bridge the gaps identified for social skills interventions to continue to better support those individuals with social skills deficits.

Supporting Theories

Several theories have been advanced to illustrate ways in which video games can be used as an intervention platform for social skills learning. Learning through games is not a new idea as influential theorists such as Piaget and Vygotsky mentioned the importance of play in cognitive development and learning long ago (Plass et al., 2015). More formally, the concept of Game-Based Learning (GBL) was applied in educational settings several decades ago as a method to increase learner engagement and motivation (Plass et al., 2015). Since then, the use of board and card games have mostly been replaced by educational or serious video games resulting in the concept of Digital Game Based Learning (DGBT) which started the belief that digital games could also be applied in the intervention realm. Researchers have since attempted to uncover the underlying learning principles and concepts associated with DGBT (Goh et al., 2008). Most commonly this can be explained through a cognitive, a motivational, an affective, and/or a socio-cultural approach.

Cognitive approach

Games can activate cognitive processes in several ways which in turn facilitates learning (Plass et al., 2015). Bavelier and colleagues (2012) define learning as the transfer of skills from within the game to outside of the game. This transfer takes place through a concept referred to as *learning to learn* (Bavelier et al., 2012). Video games, and specifically action games, allow individuals to become better able to use evidence from repeated presentations of tasks to guide their decision-making and distribute their cognitive resources (Bavelier et al., 2012). Video games therefore do not teach a particular skill but rather increase an individual's ability to extract

patterns or regularities in the environment, and in essence are learning to learn (Bavelier et al., 2012). According to this explanation, enhancements in lower-level processing skills have been linked to video game play ranging from improvements in visual perception skills (peripheral vision, target discrimination, identification, and contrast) to different aspects of attention (selective and attentional blink) (Chisholm et al., 2010; Green & Bavelier, 2003, 2006a, b, 2007).

The *common demands hypothesis* was introduced by Oei and Patterson (2013) to more clearly explain the cognitive functions impacted. Video game play has been linked to isolated improvements in executive functions (Boot et al., 2008) showing that this type of learning might not extend to all skills and only facilitates learning for skills sharing a common demand with game tasks (Oei & Patterson, 2013). Video games therefore teach specific perceptual and cognitive skills, placing a higher demand on the certain neural regions involved. Repeated playing then refines and strengthens those skills and regions. Learning, or transfer of skills, can only be measured on tasks that are similar to those found within the game or for tasks that rely on the use of the neural regions sharing a common demand (Oei & Patterson, 2013).

Some general theories of learning also apply to video games including inquiry based learning or experiential learning. Inquiry-based learning refers to the process of making learning more meaningful and self-directed and the exploratory and discovery-based nature of video games allows for this freedom (Annetta & Bronack, 2011). Experiential learning states that learning occurs from experiences, actions, and reflections (Kolb, 1984). In video games, players must navigate the virtual environment, take actions, and make decisions with consequences attached to them. These experiences are then said to result in meaningful learning.

Motivational approach

Individuals are often engaged and motivated to play video games (Gee, 2003; Plass et al., 2015; Prensky, 2003). Motivation in turn is said to influence what we learn, how we learn, and when we choose to learn (Schunk et al., 2008). This is because a motivated learner is more likely to partake in challenging activities, to be actively engaged, and to adopt a deep approach to learning (Schunk et al., 2008). Several game elements linked to increased motivation include incentive systems, visual aesthetics, game mechanics, narrative or fantasy, challenges, and a level of mystery (e.g., Gee, 2003; Malone, 1981; Loftus & Loftus, 1983). These features are often present in games which explains the effectiveness of educational games over traditional forms of curriculum exposure (Prensky, 2003). The use of game features has been linked to enhanced student motivation, leading to greater attention to the curricular content, and eventually resulted in greater retention of the information (Ricci et al., 1996). Game features such as incentives (e.g., earning coins or medals) or engaging activities also enable individuals to stay engaged for longer (Plass et al., 2015).

Affective Approach

The emotions individuals experience while engaged in a game can either hinder or facilitate learning (Plass et al., 2015). According to Izard (2009) there is a dynamic interplay between emotion and cognition. For example, positive emotions have been linked to a broader scope of cognitive resources available to the individual leading to enhanced learning opportunities (Fredrickson & Branigan, 2005; Isen, 2002; Plass et al., 2014; Um et al., 2012). Others have shown that some emotions such as high levels of empathy may hinder learning (Huang & Tettegah, 2010). Playing video games can also lead to an increased release of dopamine in the brain (Craig et al., 2013; Koepp et al., 1998) which is linked to feelings of pleasure and well-being, as well as learning and reinforcement of behaviors (Koepp et al., 1998). The act of playing a game might therefore improve an individual's mood resulting in an increase of potential learning. Due to the adaptive nature of video games, it is possible to induce certain emotions for players through game designs of music, visual aspects, narrative, or game mechanics (Plass & Kaplan, 2015). The goal for game design is therefore to find a balance of emotional regulation that will allow for optimal learning opportunities.

Socio-Cultural Approach

Popular videogames such as Massively Multiplayer Online Games (MMO) require social interactions between players. The concept of social learning theory described above therefore applies here as well as players serve as each other's models (Bandura, 1971). Learning can therefore occur as a result of the social interactions within the game.

Cultural pieces often come into play when examining game design; a role-playing game (RPG) in one country might for example look different in another depending on cultural values and norms (Stenstrom & Bjork, 2013). This can influence the type of learning that occurs within the game setting. Other researchers indicate that socio-cultural factors can facilitate or hinder learning, but they do not result in learning on their own (Plass et al., 2015; Turkay et al., 2014). They hypothesize that social and cultural aspects of learning cannot be separated from cognitive, motivational, and affective constructs. For example, a gamer might be motivated to play a certain game to interact with others which will in turn lead to positive emotions such as joy which can then lead to an increase in cognitive processing (Plass et al., 2015). Either way, learning is said to be influenced by socio-cultural factors.

Responding to Common Criticisms of Video Games

Video games have been in the homes and lives of children, teens, and adults since the 1970s and have received much criticism over the years. Once researchers showed that learning took place within these games, a focus was placed on the potential negative learning resulting from this recreational activity. Although many changes have taken place in terms of the appearance and the format of these games, much of the criticism has remained the same and continues to focus on the potential negative impact on the behavior and socialization of children and adolescents who engage in video game play. This criticism often comes in threefold and includes concerns regarding increases in: (a) aggressive behavior due to the aggressive nature of the games played, (b) potential addictions to video gaming and internet use; and (c) social competence deficits in children and youth (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017; Copenhaver et al., 2017). These concerns have received increased attention in research studies and are well published in mainstream media reports and may therefore impact practioners' and caregivers' views on using videogames for intervention purposes. A closer look at the true effects of video games is therefore warranted.

Aggression and Video Games

One of the prominent concerns noted against video games states that aggressive behavior is expected to be higher for individuals who play video games as compared to non-gamers. This statement is often generalized in the media; however, it should be noted that this concern is specifically targeted toward violent video games only. The concern stems from principles of social learning theory and the notion that individuals will be desensitized to violent content over the course of their play (Laczniak et al., 2017). Many research studies have been conducted over the past decade to determine the true impact of these violent games and some meta-analysis show concerning reports of increases in violent behaviors for those engaged in violent games (e.g., Anderson et al., 2010) while others show minimal to no concerns on the impact of behavior for gamers (e.g., Ferguson, 2015; Verheijen et al., 2017). These discrepancies in findings may be influenced by difference in the content of the game played by the participants (e.g., Grand Theft Auto vs. Angry Birds), the frequency of game play (e.g., short period of exposure vs long term), and the age of the participants. The combination of the age and content of the game played are important to consider as a rating system was put in place for video games by the Entertainment Software Rating Board (ESRB) to help protect children and youth in North America from gaming content deemed not appropriate for their age level (e.g., violence, sexual content). When these rating guidelines are followed, children are less likely to play violent video games and are less likely to exhibit negative behaviors outside game play as a result (e.g., violence or aggression; Laczniak et al., 2017). While there may or may not be a concrete link between aggressive behavior and violent video game play, it appears that this potential impact can be greatly reduced by following the provided guidelines. Furthermore, the games described in the research studies above are not comparable to those used for intervention purposes. Instead, serious video games, which are games designed with a purpose other than entertainment (Whyte et al., 2015) are often employed without any violent or aggressive material present. These games have a focus on education or training through three specific goals: 1) knowledge transfer; 2) skills acquisition or development and/or; 3) attitudinal/behavioral changes (Girard et al., 2013; Stewart et al., 2013) and are therefore an appropriate fit for intervention purposes.

Addiction and Video Games

The next concern commonly noted in the media relates to the frequency of game play as many parents, caregivers, and educators, report a fear that children and teens who are exposed to technology including video games are more likely to develop an addiction or dependency on technology with adverse associated consequences to their mental and physical well-being (e.g., depression, sleep disturbances; Lissak, 2018). Internet Gaming Disorder (IGD) has been included in the most recent publication of the Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) as a possible diagnosis and children and adolescents are noted as a susceptible population due to their underdeveloped cognitive control (Sugaya et al., 2019). A review of studies completed for this young population shows that developing an addiction or a dependency on video games is possible while often mediated by family environments and higher amounts of game play (Sugaya et al., 2019). Adolescents, who meet criteria for IGD, are more likely to report higher levels of family conflict, poorer relationships with their family, and lower levels of parental video game monitoring (Sugaya et al., 2019). Although the Canadian Pediatric Society has not yet provided guidelines for video game play frequency for children over the age of five, caregivers are recommended to monitor their child's gaming frequency, to encourage meaningful screen use, and to model appropriate screen time (Canadian Pediatric Society, 2019).

Socialization and Video Games

The last common concern related to the use of video games for children and adolescents is linked to both above noted concerns and posits that children and adolescents who engage in video games are likely to experience negative changes to their social competencies as children no longer practice their social skills in "real life" (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017). In contrast to the common perception of the "loner gamer" most children and teens play video games together with peers (Verheijen et al., 2017) and social interaction is often included and required for game play. Players are therefore able to initiate and maintain friendships online (Adachi & Willoughby, 2017). On the other hand, however, for children who are identified as being "addicted" to gaming, the opposite is true as research has shown lower social skills abilities for those individuals as compared to children and teens with non-video game dependencies (Zamani et al., 2010). Again, the main take-away message from this criticism may be the increased need for video game play to be monitored and positively supported by adults to ensure that possible negative impacts on children and youth will not occur.

Taken together, it should be noted that there is no overarching evidence that shows a causal link between video game play and increases in negative behaviors for children and youth and that the methods of reporting on the findings from research studies and in social media may paint a skewed picture of the true impact (Copenhaver et al., 2017). On the other hand, it should also be noted that there is no consensus of evidence suggesting that there is no potential for negative influences from certain video games but that when guidelines and restrictions placed upon the use of video games in childhood and adolescence are followed, the risk of these potential negative concerns appears to dissipate.

Positive Impacts of Video Games

While some researchers focused their studies on examining the potential negative effects of video games on children and adolescents, others looked at the potential for positive impacts. As a result, there is a large body of research examining the potential positive effects of video games across cognitive, behavioral, and socio-emotional outcomes for recreational as well as educational video games. Individuals playing video games designed with the main purpose of providing entertainment (e.g., action or first-person shooter games), consistently outperform nonvideo gamers on a number of cognitive abilities such as visual attention (Durlach et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2007; Green & Bavelier, 2006a, 2006b, 2007), aspects of cognitive control (Colzato et al., 2010; Glass et al., 2013; Strobach et al., 2012), visual short-term memory (Blacker & Curby, 2013; McDermott et al., 2014; Wilms et al., 2013), spatial skills (Uttal et al., 2013), improved multitasking (Chiappe et al., 2013; Strobach et al., 2012) and general processing speed (Dye et al., 2009). In addition to these cognitive abilities, improvements are also commonly found in players' emotions such as an improved mood (Russoniello et al., 2009; Ryan et al., 2006) and prosocial behaviors (Ewoldsen et al., 2012; Gentile et al., 2009).

Serious games (SG), which have the main goal of teaching or training, have a larger scope of potential impact as they can be developed for a variety of different applications including educational, business, military, commercial, prevention and rehabilitation purposes (Dörner et al., 2016). The most found applications are educational or rehabilitative in nature (Kokol et al., 2020) and include many games targeting social skills. As a result, several SGs have been developed with the goal to teach social skills to specialized populations, and in particular individuals with ASD. In these games, the focus is often on teaching facial and emotional recognition skills as specific components of SST (Kokol et al., 2020). Some of the games include virtual avatars that help children develop these skills (e.g. GameBook; Carvalho et al., 2015; FaceSay; Hopkins et al., 2011; JeStiMulE; Serret et al., 2014) whereas others employ the use of other players to practice with (e.g. González-González et al., 2013; Guess Who?; Ahmad et al., 2014). The games *REAL LIVES* (Bachen et al., 2012) and *Zoo U* (Craig et al., 2015) were created to help individuals with general social impairments as they take players into virtual worlds in which they make decisions for their characters with implications to their virtual lives. These tasks are social in nature and allow for the development of a variety of skills such as empathy for their characters (Bachen et al., 2012), impulse control, communication, cooperation, social initiation, empathy, and emotional regulation (Craig et al., 2015).

Overall, researchers have noted that the goal of social skills teaching was accomplished by many of these games. These successes were typically observed by positive changes in underlying skills such as affect recognition, mentalizing skills, (Hopkins et al., 2011; Rice et al., 2015), facial recognition (Tanaka et al., 2010), emotion recognition (Kokol et al., 2020; Serret et al., 2014), emotion expression (González-González et al., 2013), global empathy (a sense of individual and collective responsibility that extends beyond individuals who you know personally; Bachen et al., 2012), impulse control, emotion regulation, (Craig et al., 2015; DeRosier et al., 2012; Kokol et al., 2020) and overall communication skills (Ahmad et al., 2014; González-González et al., 2013; Hopkins et al., 2011; Rice et al, 2015; Sanchez et al., 2017).

The Use of Video Games to Bridge the Intervention Gaps

As highlighted previously, there are several social skills interventions currently available to individuals faced with social skills deficits. However, the literature shows several gaps in the content and delivery of these interventions including concerns about: (a) the ability of these interventions to teach social skills that are generalizable to outside settings, (b) the feasibility and resource intensity of the programs, (c) the suitability and availability of interventions for the adolescent age population; and (d) the intervention's ability to match an individuals' identified social skills profile according to social skills development theory. This section will highlight how video games are able to provide an intervention platform that can help bridge these identified gaps in intervention content and delivery.

Video games are considered an ideal delivery method for social skills intervention due to several reasons (Parson & Mitchell, 2002). First, the above-described theories explain why learning can take place within a video game setting and can be extended to explain how social skills learning in particular could occur. Specifically, the cognitive and socio-cultural approaches

align with social skills development. Secondly, the adaptable nature of video games allows for the implementation of social skills training (SST) goals through immediate reinforcement, repetition, scaffolding, modeling, and the potential for naturalistic settings (Parson & Mitchell, 2002). Lastly, video games have the potential to eliminate the limitations of traditional SST programs as video game applications are more cost-efficient (e.g., less travel, lower program implementation costs, greater flexibility), ensure high program fidelity through the elimination of human error, and allow for greater opportunity for generalization due to realistic settings (Craig et al., 2016; Ludlow, 2015; Parson & Mitchell, 2002; Standen & Brown, 2005).

Currently available social skills interventions using technology tend to focus on teaching social cognitive processes (e.g., face processing, joint attention, ToM, and emotion recognition). Some focused on direct social skills such as communication or initiation abilities and limited interventions currently available target underlying cognitive functions such as inhibition. This is surprising considering the widely published positive effects of regular video games on cognitive abilities (e.g., Green & Bavelier, 2006; Colzato et al., 2010). Even though this type of learning does not appear to be a focus of the currently available programs it does provide evidence for the potential of including content in technology-based interventions to help address deficits in underlying cognitive and socio-emotional as is highlighted in the literature on social skills development theory (Gresham, 2016).

Furthermore, despite the noted benefits, the use of technology in current social skills interventions appears to be limited to virtual environments (VE) and virtual realities (VR) without gaming components (Kandalaft et al., 2013; Mitchell et al., 2007; Stichter et al., 2014). These interventions will typically provide a traditional SST program in a virtual setting. Alternatively, the VE or VR provides a space for individuals to practice social skills by placing individuals in a simulated social situation to remove any fear of failure. These applications still receive some of the benefits described above (e.g., reduce resources and limit barriers) however, the additional benefit of increased motivation as a result of game features is missed (Ninaus et al., 2019).

Increased motivation is a crucial benefit of video games as the platform for social skills interventions when closing the gap for adolescents. Current literature highlights the need for a different type of intervention for adolescents on two levels: (1) different training content more geared towards adolescent social needs (e.g., Ledford et al., 2018; Steinberg, 2014), and (2) interventions that increase motivation for teens thereby addressing noted concerns regarding high attrition rates for teenagers (Farris et al., 2019).

Limited interventions are currently available for adolescent age groups (Ledford et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Storebø et al., 2019) despite the known potential for growth during this developmental period (Casey et al., 2000; Steinberg, 2014). Brain development in the prefrontal cortex and executive functioning skills (Casey et al., 2000) which are important underlying cognitive abilities linked to social skills development, is said to ramp up during adolescence thereby creating an opportunity to provide interventions targeting skills associated to these brain areas. Virtual environments are said to be able to deliver this new type of intervention for this population as it allows for flexibility in the training content and the environments developed for the adolescents. This would result in social skills content that is more geared towards the adolescent's needs.

In addition, virtual environments also allow for the inclusion of game-based learning which is known to increase motivation for individuals (Ninaus et al., 2019). Video games specifically are popular among children and adolescents, and it is likely that teens will be motivated to participate in a social skills intervention set within a video game. Overall, 37 percent of Canadians, old and young, consider themselves to be a "gamer" and will play video games for approximately 11 hours per week (NPD Group as cited in Entertainment Software Association of Canada [ESAC], 2017). 52 percent of Canadians has played a video game (any game on any mobile device e.g., phones, laptops) within the last four weeks (NPD Group as cited in ESAC, 2017) and 80 to 90 percent of teenagers state they play at least once a day (Coëffec et al., 2015; Le Heuzey & Mouren, 2012).

Taken together, the adolescent geared content in addition to the increased motivation are likely to lead to increases in participation adherence for adolescents enrolled in social skills interventions. In turn, higher treatment adherence is often linked to increased social validity of the intervention and increases the likelihood of generalizability of the learned skills and overall effectiveness of a social skills intervention (Hansen et al., 1998; Chen, 2006). Videogames therefore have the potential to target several of the identified gaps in social skills interventions and particularly as they pertain to the adolescent population.

Conclusion

Social skills are often viewed as a class of specific behaviors required for social functioning (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Gresham et al., 2010) and are thought to develop in an integrated fashion, with input from neurological structures, cognitive processes, and social-cultural constructs. These skills are often viewed as a protective factor against adversities; thus, researchers have worked hard to identify ways to support and promote positive social skills development particularly for those identified with deficits in this area. The literature reviewed in this chapter provides an overview of important concepts related to social skills interventions and identifies several gaps in the currently available training programs. Most notable are the gaps

associated with the apparent overlooked adolescent population. Adolescence consists of a sensitive period of brain development and increased social functioning demands (Steinberg, 2014), yet traditional interventions are failing this population. Adolescents, with identified social skills difficulties, need interventions that are developmentally appropriate, engaging, and grounded in social skills development theory. After examining the gaps associated with current intervention, the suggested call for a new way of developing and delivering social skills interventions to this age group appears to be warranted.

Next, the use of video games is discussed as the potential answer to this call. The increasing popularity of technology in every-day life and the known associated benefits of game play (e.g., motivation, learning potential) create the potential for video games to uniquely support adolescents with social skills deficits who would otherwise remain under supported. Theories supporting the use of video games as intervention platforms and emerging research showing evidence in favor of video game-based interventions are discussed. Though further research is needed to examine the specific use of video game based social skills interventions with adolescents, the research highlighted in this chapter suggests promising results in finding an alternative way to support adolescents.

References

- Adachi, P. J. C., & Willoughby, T. (2017). The link between playing video games and positive youth outcomes. *Child Development Perspectives*, *11*(3), 202–206.
- Ahmad, M. I., Shahid, S., & Maganheim, J. S. (2014). A Game-Based Intervention for Improving the Communication Skills of Autistic Children in Pakistan. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, (8547), 513-516.

Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1989). Attachments beyond infancy. American Psychologist, 44, 709-716.

- Albert, I., & Trommsdorff, G. (2014). The role of culture in social development over the lifespan: An interpersonal relations approach. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture*, 6(2), 3-30.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Anderson, C.A., Shibuya, A., Ihori, N., Swing, E. L., Bushman, B. J., Sakamoto A, Rothstein, H.
 R., & Saleem, M. (2010). Violent video game effects on aggression, empathy, and
 prosocial behavior in eastern and western countries: a meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin, 126*(2), 151-173.
- Andrews, J. L., Ahmed, S. P., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2021). Navigating the social environment in adolescence: The role of social brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 109– 118.
- Annetta, L. A, & Bronack, S. C. (2011). Serious educational game assessment: practical methods and models for educational games, simulations, and virtual worlds. Sense Publishers.

Bachen, C. M., Hernandez-Ramos, P. F., & Raphael, C. (2012). Simulating REAL LIVES:
Promoting global empathy and interest in learning through simulation games. *Simulation & Gaming*, *43*(4), 437-460.

Bandura, A. (1971). Social learning theory. General Learning Press.

Bavelier, D., Green S., Pouget, A., & Schrater, P. (2012). Brain plasticity through the life span: Learning to learn and action video games. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 391-416.

Beauchamp, M., & Anderson, V. (2010). SOCIAL: An integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(1), 39-64.

- Beaumont R., Hariton J., Bennett S., Miranda A., Mitchell E.S. (2017) Social learning instructional models. In: Matson J. (eds) *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series*. Springer International Publisher.
- Bellini, S., & Akullian, J. (2007). A meta-analysis of video modeling and video self-modeling interventions for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Exceptional Children*, 73, 264–287. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/001440290707300301</u>
- Bishop, S., Gahagan, S., & Lord, C. (2007). Re-Examining the core features of autism: A comparison of autism spectrum disorder and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1111–1121.
- Blacker, K., & Curby, K. (2013). Enhanced visual short-term memory in action video game players. *Attention Perception & Psychophysics*, 75(6), 1128-1136.
- Blakemore, S. J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain: implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47, 296–312.

Boot, W., Kramer, A., Simons, D., Fabiani, M., & Gratton, G. (2008). The effects of video game playing on attention, memory, and executive control. *Acta Psychologica*, *129*, 387-398

Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss, Vol. 2: Separation. Basic Books.

- Burks, V. S., Laird, R. D., Dodge, K. A., Pettit, G. S., & Bates, J. E. (1999). Knowledge structures, social information processing, and children's aggressive behavior. *Social Development*, 8, 220-236.
- Canadian Pediatric Society (2019). *Digital Media: Promoting healthy screen use in school-aged children and adolescents*. [Position statement]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/digital-media</u>
- Cappadocia, M. C., & Weiss, J. A. (2011). Review of social skills training groups for youth with Asperger Syndrome and High Functioning Autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *5*(1), 70-78.
- Casey, B., Giedd, J. N., Thomas, K. M. (2000). Structural and functional brain development and its relation to cognitive development. *Biological Psychology*, *54*(1-3), 241-257.
- Carvalho, V. H., Brandão, J., Cunha, P., Vasconcelos, J., & Soares, F. (2015). Tobias in the zoo A serious game for children with autism spectrum disorders. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning*, 8(3), 23-29. http://doi.org/10.3991/ijac.v8i3.4897
- Chen, K. (2006). Social skills intervention for students with emotional/behavioral disorders: A literature review from the american perspective. *Educational Research and Reviews*, *1*(4), 143–149.
- Chiappe, D., Conger, M., Liao, J., Caldwell, J., & Vu, K. (2013). Improving multi-tasking ability through action videogames. *Applied Ergonomics*, 44(2), 278-284. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2012.08.002</u>

- Chisholm, J. D., Hickey, C., Theeuwes, J., & Kingstone, A. (2010). Reduced attentional capture in action video game players. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics, 72*(3), 667–671
- Cividini-Motta C., Bloom S.E., Campos C. (2017) Challenging behavior. In: Matson J. (eds)
 Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child
 Psychopathology Series. Springer International Publisher.
- Colzato, L. S., van Leeuwen, P. J. A., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., & Hommel B. (2010).DOOM'd to switch: superior cognitive flexibility in players of first-person shooter games. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1*, 1–5.
- Cook, C., Gresham, F., Kern, L., Barreras, R., Thornton, S., & Crews, S. (2008). Social skills training for secondary students with emotional and/or behavioral disorders: a review and analysis of the meta-analytic literature. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 16(3), 131-144.
- Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Chen, Y., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Brown, T., Bourke-Taylor, H., Doma, K., & Leicht, A. (2015). Evaluating the psychometric quality of social skills measures: A systematic review. *Plos ONE*, *10*(7), 1-32. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.013229
- Coëffec, A., Romo, L., Cheze, N., Riazuelo, H., Plantey, S., Kotbagi, G., & Kern, L. (2015)
 Early substance consumption and problematic use of video games in adolescence.
 Frontier of Psychology, 6(501), 1-8.
- Copenhaver, A., Mitrofan, O., & Ferguson, C. J. (2017). For video games, bad news is good news: News reporting of violent video game studies. *CyberPsychology, Behavior & Social Networking*, 20(12), 735–739.
- Craig, A., Asher, D., Oros, N., Brewer, A., & Krichmar, J. (2013). Social contracts and humancomputer interaction with simulated adapting agents. *Adaptive Behavior*, 21(5), 371-387.

- Craig, A.B., Brown, E., Gallagher, S., Raab, L. H., & DeRosier, M. E. (2015). Zoo U: The only research-proven online game that assesses and teaches social skills. 3C Institute.
- Craig, A., Brown, E., Upright, J., & DeRosier, M. (2016). Enhancing children's social emotional functioning through virtual game-based delivery of social skills training. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 25(3), 959-968. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0274-8</u>
- Crick, R., & Dodge, A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychology Bulletin*, 115, 74–101.
- Davis, T. E., Hess, J. A., Moree, B. N., Fodstad, J. C., Dempsey, T., Jenkins, W. S., & Marson, J.
 L. (2011). Anxiety symptoms across the lifespan in people diagnosed with autism disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5, 112–118.
- Demir, M., Jaafar, J., Bilyk, N., & Ariff, M. R. (2012). Social skills, friendship, and happiness: A cross-cultural investigation. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 152, 379–385. http://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2011.591451
- DeRosier, M., Craig, A., & Sanchez, R., (2012). Zoo U: A stealth approach to social skills assessment in schools. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2012, 1-7.
- DiGennaro Reed, F. D., Hyman, S. R., & Hirst, J. M. (2011). Applications of technology to teach social skills to children with autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(3), 1003-1010.
- Dodge, K. A., Pettit, G.S., McClaskey, C. L., & Brown, M. N. (1986). Social competence in children. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, *51* (2), 213.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-Emotional Competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408–416.

- Dörner, R., Göbel, S., Effelsberg, W., & Wiemeyer, J. (2016). Serious games: foundations, concepts, and practice. Springer International Publisher.
- DuPaul, J., & Weyandt, L. (2006). School-based intervention for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Effects on academic, social, and behavioural functioning. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 53*, 161–176.
- Durlach, P., Kring, J., & Bowens, L. (2009). Effects of action video game experience on change detection. *Military Psychology*, 21(1), 24-39.
- Dwyer, K., Fredstrom, B., Rubin, K., Booth-LaForce, C., Rose-Krasnor, L., & Burgess, K.
 (2010). Attachment, social information processing, and friendship quality of early adolescent girls and boys. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(1), 91-116.
- Dye, M., Green, C., & Bavelier, D. (2009). The development of attention skills in action video game players (English). *Neuropsychologia*, 47(8-9), 1780-1789.
- Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2008). Social skills improvement system: Intervention guide. Pearson Assessments.
- Entertainment Software Association. (2017). *Essential facts about the computer and video game industry*. Retrieved from <u>www.theesa.com/facts/pdfs/ESA_EF_2016.Pdf</u>
- Erath, S., Flanagan, K., & Bierman, K. (2007). Social anxiety and peer relations in early adolescence: Behavioral and cognitive factors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(3), 405-416.
- Ewoldsen, D. R., Eno, C. A., Okdie, B. M., Velez, J. A., Guadagno, R. E., & DeCoster, J. (2012). Effect of playing violent video games cooperatively or competitively on subsequent cooperative behavior. *Cyber Psychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 15*, 1–4.

- Farris, M. S., Devoe, D. J., & Addington, J. (2019). Attrition rates in trials for adolescents and young adults at clinical high-risk for psychosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Early Intervention In Psychiatry*, 14(5), 515-527. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12864</u>
- Feinberg, M. E., Ridenour, T. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Aggregating indices of risk and protection for adolescent behavior problems: The communities that care youth survey. *Journal of Adolescent Health, 40* (6), 506–513.
- Feng, J., Spence, I., & Pratt, J. (2007). Playing an action video game reduces gender differences in spatial cognition. *Psychological Science*, 18(10), 850–855.
- Ferguson C. (2015). Do angry birds make for angry children? A metaanalysis of video game influences on children's and adolescents' aggression, mental health, prosocial behavior, and academic performance. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*(5), 646–66.
- Fleming, C. B., Haggerty, K. P., Catalano, R. F., Harachi, T. W., Mazza, J. J., & Gruman, D. H (2005). Do social and behavioral characteristics targeted by preventive interventions predict standardized test scores and grades? *Journal of School Health*, 75(9), 342–349.
- Flynn, L., & Healy, O. (2012). A review of treatments for deficits in social skills and self-help skills in autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(1), 431-441.
- Fredrickson, B. L., & Branigan, C. (2005). Positive emotions broaden the scope of attention and thought-action repertoires. *Cognition & Emotion*, 19, 313–332.
- Gates, J. A., Kang, E., & Lerner, M. D. (2017). Efficacy of group social skills interventions for youth with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 52, 164–181.

- Gee, J.P. (2003). *What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gentile, D. A., Anderson, C. A., Yukawa, S., Ihoro, N., Kam Ming, L., Shibuya, A., et al. (2009). The effects of prosocial video games on prosocial behaviors: international evidence from correlational, longitudinal, and experimental studies. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 35*(6), 752-763.
- Girard, C., Ecalle, J., & Magnan, A. (2013). Serious games as new educational tools: How effective are they? A meta-analysis of recent studies. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 29(3), 207-219.
- Glass, B. D., Maddox, W. T., & Love, B. C. (2013). Real-time strategy game training: Emergence of a cognitive flexibility trait. *Plos ONE*, 8(8), 1. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070350
- Goh, D. H., Ang, R. P., & Tan, H. C. (2008). Strategies for designing effective psychotherapeutic gaming interventions for children and adolescents. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), 2217-2235. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2007.10.007</u>
- González- González, C., Toledo-Delgado, P., Collazos-Ordoñez, C., & González-Sánchez, J.
 (2013). Design and analysis of collaborative interactions in social educational videogames. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *31*, 602-611.
- Granholm, E. L., McQuaid, J. R., & Holden, J. L. (2016). *Cognitive-Behavioral Social Skills Training for Schizophrenia: A Practical Treatment Guide*. The Guilford Press.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2003). Action video game modifies visual selective attention. *Nature*, *423*(6939), 534–537.

- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2006a). Enumeration versus multiple object tracking: The case of action video game players. *Cognition*, *101*(1), 217–245.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2006b). Effect of action video games on the spatial distribution of visuospatial attention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 32(6), 1465–1468.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2007). Action-video-game experience alters the spatial resolution of vision. *Psychological Science*, *18*(1), 88–94.
- Greene, R. W., Biederman, J., Farone, S. U., Wilens, T. E., Mick, E., & Blier, H. K. (1999).
 Further validation of social impairment as predictor of substance use disorders. Findings from a sample of siblings of boys with and without ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28, 349–354.
- Gresham, F. M. (1981). Social skills training with handicapped children: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, *51*, 139–176.
- Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *46*(3), 319-332.

http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788

Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System. Pearson Assessments.

Gresham, F., Elliott, S., & Kettler, R. (2010). Base rates of social skills acquisition/performance deficits, strengths, and problem behaviors: An analysis of the Social Skills Improvement System-Rating Scales. *Psychological Assessment*, 22(4), 809-815.
 http://doi.org/10.1037/a0020255

- Gresham, F., Robichauz, N., York, H., & O'Leary, K. (2012). Issues related to identifying and implementing evidence-based social skills interventions for students with high-incidence disabilities. Advances in Learning and Behavioural Disabilities. In Cook, B., Tankersley, M., & Landrum, T., (2012). *Volume 25 classroom behaviour, contexts and interventions*. Emerald Group Publishing.
- Gumpel, T. P. (2007). Are social competence difficulties caused by performance or acquisition deficits? The importance of self-regulatory mechanisms. *Psychology in the Schools, 44*, 351–372.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1999). Family and child influences on the peer-related social competence of young children with developmental delays. *Mental Retardation & Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 5(1), 21-29.
- Guthold, R., Moller, A.-B., Adebayo, E., Carvajal, L., Ekman, C., Fagan, L., Ferguson, J.,
 Friedman, H. S., Ba, M. G., Hagell, A., Kohl, K., & Azzopardi, P. S. (2021). Priority
 areas for adolescent health measurement. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 68(5), 888–898.
 http://doi.org/1016/j.jadohealth.2020.12.127.
- Hansen, D., Nangle, D., & Meyer, K. (1998). Enhancing the effectiveness of social skills interventions with adolescents. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *21*(4), 489-513.
- Harlow, H. F., & Zimmermann, R. R. (1958). The development of affective responsiveness in infant monkeys. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, *102*, 501-509.
- Hopkins, I., Gower, M., Perez, T., Smith, D., Amthor, F., Casey Wimsatt, F., & Biasini, F.
 (2011). Avatar Assistant: Improving social skills in students with an ASD through a computer-based intervention. *Journal Of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 41(11), 1543-1555 13p. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1179-z</u>

- Huang, W. D., & Tettegah, S. (2010). Cognitive Load and Empathy in Serious Games: A Conceptual Framework. IGI Global
- Isen, A. M. (2002). Missing in action in the AIM: Positive affect's facilitation of cognitive flexibility, innovation, and problem solving. *Psychological Inquiry*, 13(1), 57–65.
- Izard, C. E. (2009). Emotion theory and research: Highlights, unanswered questions, and emerging issues. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 1–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163539
- Kandalaft, M., Didehbani, N., Krawczyk, D., Allen, T., & Chapman, S. (2013). Virtual reality social cognition training for young adults with high-functioning autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 43(1), 34-44. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1544-6.
- Keller, H., Borke, J., Lamm, B., Lohaus, A., & Yovsi, R. D. (2011). Developing patterns of parenting in two cultural communities. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(3), 233–245.
- Kilford, E. J., Garrett, E., & Blakemore, S. (2016). The development of social cognition in adolescence: An integrated perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 106-120. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016</u>
- Koepp, M. J., Gunn, R. N., Lawrence, A. D., Cunningham, V. J., Dagher, A., Jones, T., Brooks,D. J., Bench, C.J., & Grasby, P. M. (1998). Evidence for striatal dopamine release during a video game. *Nature*, 393(6682), 266-268.
- Kokol, P., Vošner, H. B., Završnik, J., Vermeulen, J., Shohieb, S., & Peinemann, F. (2020).
 Serious game-based intervention for children with developmental disabilities. *Current Pediatric Reviews*, 16 (1), 26-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.2174/1573396315666190808115238</u>

- Koning, C., Magill-Evans, J., Volden, J., & Dick, B. (2013). Efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy-based social skills intervention for school-aged boys with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(10), 1282-1290.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning. Prentice Hall.
- Kupersmidt, J., Coie, J., & Dodge, K. (1990). The role of peer relationships in the development of disorder. In S. Asher & J. Coie (Eds.), *Peer rejection in childhood* (pp. 274–308).Cambridge University Press.
- Laczniak, R. N., Carlson, L., Walker, D., & Brocato, E. D. (2017). Parental Restrictive
 Mediation and Children's Violent Video Game Play: The Effectiveness of the
 Entertainment Software Rating Board (ESRB) Rating System. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *36*(1), 70–78.
- Ladd, G. W. (1999). Peer relationships and social competence during early and middle childhood. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *50*(1), 333-359.
- Lanovaz M.J., Dufour M. M., Argumedes M. (2017) Behavior Analytic Methods. In: MatsonJ. (eds) Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and ChildPsychopathology Series. Springer.
- Ledford, J. R., King, S., Harbin, E. R., & Zimmerman, K. N. (2018). Antecedent social skills interventions for individuals with ASD: What works, for whom, and under what conditions? *Focus on Autism & Other Developmental Disabilities*, *33*(1), 3–13.
- Lerner, M. D., & Mikami, A. Y. (2012). A preliminary randomized controlled trial of two social skills interventions for youth with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 27(3), 147–157.

- Lerner, M. D., & White, S. W. (2015). Moderators and mediators of treatments for youth with autism spectrum disorders. In Maric, M., Ollendick, T.H., & Prins, P. J. M., *Moderators and Mediators of Youth Treatment Outcomes*. Oxford University Press.
- Lemerise, E. A., & Arsenio, W. F. (2000). An integrated model of emotion processes and cognition in social information processing. *Child Development*, *71*, 107–118.
- Lissak G. (2018). Adverse physiological and psychological effects of screen time on children and adolescents: Literature review and case study. *Environmental Research*,164, 149-157. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.01.015</u>
- Ludlow, B. L. (2015). Virtual Reality: Emerging applications and future directions. *Rural* Special Education Quarterly, 34(3), 3-10.
- Lugnegard, T., Hallerback, M. U., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Psychiatric comorbidity in young adults with a clinical diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *32*, 1910–1917.
- Loftus, G. R., & Loftus, E. F. (1983). *Mind at play: The psychology of video games* (Vol. 14). Basic Books.
- Le Heuzey, M. F., Mouren, M. C. (2012). Videogame addiction: a danger for only at-risk children or for all children. *Bulletin de l'Academic Nationale de Medicine*, *196*(1), 15-23.
- Lopez, C., & DuBois, D. L. (2005). Peer victimization and rejection: Investigation of an integrative model of effects on emotional, behavioral, and academic adjustment in early adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 34, 25-36.
- Maag, J. W. (2005). Social skills training for youth with emotional and behavioral disorders and learning disabilities: Problems, conclusions, and suggestions. *Exceptionality*, 13, 155–172.

- Malone, T. W. (1981). Toward a theory of intrinsically motivating instruction. *Cognitive Science*, *5*, 333–369.
- Matson J. (2017). *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- McDermott, A. F., Bavelier, D., & Green, C. S. (2014). Memory abilities in action video game players. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 34, 69–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.01.018
- McLaughlin, K. A., Peverill, M., Gold, A. L., Alves, S., & Sheridan, M. A. (2015). Child
 Maltreatment and Neural Systems Underlying Emotion Regulation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(9), 753–762.
- McMahon, C., Lerner, M., & Britton, N. (2013). Group-based social skills interventions for adolescents with higher-functioning autism spectrum disorder: A review and looking to the future. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics, 23*, 23-38.
- Milligan K., Sibalis A., Morgan A., Phillips M. (2017) Social Competence: Consideration of Behavioral, Cognitive, and Emotional Factors. In: Matson J. (eds) *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Mitchell, P., Parsons, S., & Leonard, A. (2007). Using Virtual Environments for teaching social understanding to 6 Adolescents with Autistic Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 37(3), 589-600.
- Ninaus, M., Greipl, S., Kiili, K., Lindstedt, A., Huber, S., Klein, E., Karnath, H., & Moeller, K. (2019). Increased emotional engagement in game-based learning – A machine learning approach on facial emotion detection data. *Computers & Education*, 142, 1-10.

- Oei, A. C., & Patterson, M. D. (2013). Enhancing cognition with video games: A multiple game training study. *Plos ONE*, 8(3), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058546</u>
- Olson, M. H., & Hergenhahn, B. R. (2013). *An introduction to theories of learning*. Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Othman, A., Ramlee, F., Ghazalan, S. M., Wei, W. K., & Shahidi, R. M. (2015). Effects of a brief cognitive-behavioural and social skills group intervention for children with psychological problem: A pilot study. *International Medical Journal*, *22*(4), 241-245.
- Parker, J., Rubin, K., Erath, S., Wojslawowicz, J, & Buskirk, A. (2006). Peer relationships, child development, and adjustment: a developmental psychopathology perspective. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 1, 419-493.
- Parsons, S., & Mitchell, P. (2002). The potential of virtual reality in social skills training for people with autistic spectrum disorders. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46(5), 430-443. <u>http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2002.00425</u>
- Pfiffner, J., Calzada, E., & McBurnett, K. (2000). Interventions to enhance social competence. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *9*, 689–709.
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of Game-Based Learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258-283.
- Plass, J. L., & Kaplan, U. (2015). Emotional design in digital media for learning. In S. Tettegah,
 & M. Gartmeier (Eds.), *Emotions, technology, design, and learning* (pp. 131–162).
 Elsevier.
- Plass, J. L., Heidig, S., Hayward, E. O., Homer, B. D., & Um, E. (2014). Emotional design in multimedia learning: Effects of shape and color on affect and learning. *Learning and Instruction, 29,* 128–140. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.02.006</u>
Prensky, M. (2003). Digital game-based learning. *Computers in Entertainment, 1,* 21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/950566.950596

- Reichow, B., Steiner, A. M., & Volkmar, F. (2012). Social skills groups for people aged 6 to 21 with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Evidence-Based Child Health*, 8(2), 266–315. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ebch.1902
- Ricci, K., Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (1996). Do computer-based games facilitate knowledge acquisition and retention? *Military Psychology*, 8(4), 295-307.
- Rice, L., Wall, C., Fogel, A., & Shic, F. (2015). Computer-Assisted face processing instruction improves emotion recognition, mentalizing, and social skills in students with ASD. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 45(7), 2176-2186. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2380-2
- Ross, K. M., Kim, H., Tolan, P. H., & Jennings, P. A. (2019). An exploration of normative social and emotional skill growth trajectories during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 62, 102–115.
- Russoniello, C. V., O'Brien, K., & Parks, J. M. (2009). The effectiveness of casual video games in improving mood and decreasing stress. *Journal of Cybertherapy and Rehabilitation*, 2 (1), 53-66.
- Ryan, R. M., Rigby, C. S., & Przybylski, A. (2006). The motivational pull of video games: A self-determination theory approach. *Motivation and Emotion*, 30, 344–360. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11031-006-9051-8</u>
- Sanchez, R., Brown, E., Kocher, K., & DeRosier, M. (2017). Improving children's mental health with a digital social skills development game: A randomized controlled efficacy trial of adventures aboard the S.S. GRIN. *Games for Health Journal*, 6(1), 19–27.

 Scandurra, V., Emberti Gialloreti, L., Barbanera, F., Scordo, M. R., Pierini, A., & Canitano, R.
 (2019). Neurodevelopmental disorders and adaptive functions: A study of children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and/or Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder
 (ADHD). *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 673. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00673</u>

- Schunk, D. H., Pintrich, P. R., & Meece, J. L. (2008). *Motivation in education* (3rd ed.). Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Segrin, C., McNelis, M., & Swiatkowski, P. (2016). Social skills, social support, and psychological distress: A test of the social skills deficit vulnerability model. *Human Communication Research*, 42(1), 122-137. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12070</u>
- Serret, S., Hun, S., Iakimova, G., Lozada, J., Anastassova, M., Santos, A., Vesperini, S., & Askenazy, F. (2014). Facing the challenge of teaching emotions to individuals with lowand high-functioning autism using a new serious game: a pilot study. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 1-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-37</u>
- Soto-Icaza, P., Aboitiz, F., & Billeke, P. (2015). Development of social skills in children: neural and behavioral evidence for the elaboration of cognitive models. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 333 (9), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00333</u>
- Spence, S. H. (2003). Social skills training with children and young people: Theory, evidence and practice. *Child & Adolescent Mental Health*, 8(2), 84-96. http://doi.org/10.1111/1475-3588.00051
- Stacks, A., & Oshio, T. (2009). Disorganized attachment and social skills as indicators of Head Start children's school readiness skills. *Attachment & Human Development*, 11(2), 143-164.

- Stenstrom, C. D., & Bjork, S. (2013, May 16). Understanding computer role-playing games: A genre analysis based on gameplay features in combat systems. In K. Hullett, & D. Milam (Conference Chairs), Second Workshop on Design Patterns in Games (FDG 2013, Chania, Crete, Greece). Retrieved from http://soda.swedish-ict.se/5590/1/Unders
- Stevens, S. A., Clairman, H., Nash, K., & Rovet, J. (2016). Social perception in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 23(8), 980-933. http://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2016.1246657
- Stewart, J., Bleumers, L., Van Looy, J., Mariën, I., All, A., Schurmans, D., Willart, K., De
 Grove, F., Jacobs, A., & Misuraca, G. (2013). *The potential of digital games for empowerment and social inclusion of groups at risk of social and economic exclusion: Evidence and opportunity for policy.* Institute for Prospective and Technological Studies,
 Joint Research Centre.
- Stichter, J., Laffey, J., Galyen, K., & Herzog, M. (2014). iSocial: Delivering the social
 Competence Intervention for Adolescents (SCI-A) in a 3D Virtual Learning Environment
 for youth with High Functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*,
 44(2), 417-430. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1881-0
- Standen, P. J., & Brown, D. J. (2005). Virtual Reality in the rehabilitation of people with Intellectual Disabilities: Review. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 8(3), 272-282. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2005.8.272</u>
- Steinberg, L. (2014). *Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence.* Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.

Storebø, O. J., Andersen, E. M., Skoog, M., Hansen, J. S., Simonsen, E., Pedersen, N., Tendal,
B., Callesen, H. E., Faltinsen, E., & Gluud, C. (2019). Social skills training for attention
deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children aged 5 to 18 years. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6, 1-147.

- Strobach, T., Frensch, P. A., & Schubert, T. (2012). Video game practice optimizes executive control skills in dual-task and task switching situations. *Acta Psychologica*, 140, 13-24. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2012.02.001
- Sugaya, N., Shirasaka, T., Takahashi, K., & Kanda, H. (2019). Bio-psychosocial factors of children and adolescents with internet gaming disorder: a systematic review. *BioPsychoSocial Medicine*, 13 (3), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13030-019-0144-5</u>
- Tanaka, J., Wolf, J., Klaiman, C., Koenig, K., Cockburn, J., Herlihy, L., Brown, C., Stahl, S., Kaiser, M.D., & Schultz, R. (2010). Using computerized games to teach face recognition skills to children with autism spectrum disorder: The Let's Face It! program. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(8), 944-952.
- Teicher M. H., Samson J. A., Polcari, A., McGreenery, C. E., (2006). Sticks, stones, and hurtful words: relative effects of various forms of childhood maltreatment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(6), 993–1000.
- Turkay, S., Hoffman, D., Kinzer, Charles. K., Chantes, P., & Vicari, C. (2014). Toward understanding the potential of games for learning: Learning theory, game design characteristics, and situating videogames in classrooms. *Computers in the Schools, 31*, 2–22.

- Um, E., Plass, J. L., Hayward, E. O., & Homer, B. D. (2012). Emotional design in multimedia learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104, 485–498.
- Uttal, D. H., Meadow, N. G., Tipton, E., Hand, L. L., Alden, A. R., Warren, C., & Newcombe,
 N. S. (2013). The malleability of spatial skills: A meta-analysis of training studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139, 352–402. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0028446
- Verheijen, G. P., Burk, W.J., Stoltz, S.E.M.J., van den Berg, Y.H.M., Cillessen, A.H.N. (2018).
 Friendly fire: Longitudinal effects of exposure to violent video games on aggressive behavior in adolescent friendship dyads. *Aggressive Behaviour*, 44(3), 257-267.
 http://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21748
- Walker, H. M., Ramsay, E., & Gresham, F. M. (2004). Antisocial behavior at school: Evidence based practices. Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Walton, K., & Ingersoll, B. (2013). Improving social skills in adolescents and adults with autism and severe to profound entellectual disability: A review of the literature. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 594-615. <u>http://doi.org/0.1007/s10803-012-1601-1</u>
- Whyte, E. M., Smyth, J. M., & Scherf, K. S. (2015). Designing serious game interventions for individuals with Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 3820-3831.
- Wilms, I. I., Petersen, A., & Vangkilde, S. (2013). Intensive video gaming improves encoding speed to visual short-term memory in young male adults. *Acta Psychologica*, 142, 108– 118.
- Wolstencroft, J., Robinson, L., Srinivasan, R., Kerry, E., Mandy, W., & Skuse, D. (2018). A systematic review of group social skills interventions, and meta-analysis of outcomes, for

children with high Functioning ASD. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2293–2307.

- Woodward, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2000). Childhood peer relationship problems and later risks of educational underachievement and unemployment. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 41(2), 191–201.
- Worley, J. A., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Psychiatric symptoms in children diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder: An examination of gender differences. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 3*, 1086–1091.
- Zamani, E., Kheradmand, A., Cheshmi, M., Abedi, A., & Hedayati N. (2010). Comparing the social skills of students addicted to computer games with normal students. *Addict Health*, 2 (3-4), 59-65.

Chapter Three: Development and Initial Implementation of a Theory Driven Video Game Based Social Skills Intervention

Individuals start to develop and practice social skills, defined as specific behaviors necessary for social interactions (e.g., interpersonal, intrapersonal and communication skills), from a young age. Some of these skills appear as early as during infancy thereby setting the stage for continued development throughout an individual's lifetime. A kindergartener relies on social skills for an easier adjustment and positive attitude to school (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Jones et al., 2015; Rabiner et al., 2016; Rose, 2012), while an adolescent depends on peer relationships for support, advice, companionship, and affirmation (Furman & Buhrmester, 1992; Ross et al., 2019; Steinberg, 2005). These skills are then linked to better educational, psychological, and vocational standings during adulthood (Deming, 2017; Domitrovich et al., 2017; Greene et al., 1999; Kuperschmidt et al.,1990).

As a result of this importance, researchers have worked hard to identify ways to support and promote positive social skills development. Different social skills training programs have been developed and implemented with the intent to support individuals identified with social skills difficulties. Although researchers identify the positive impacts of these interventions, they also note areas for future study. In particular, a need for interventions based on social skills development theory, interventions that target the overlooked adolescent population, and interventions that can improve the current level of generalizability of the learned skills, have been identified as priorities.

Video games have been proposed as a potential delivery platform to respond to these identified needs. Through the application of the Digital Game Based Learning Theory (DGBLT) researchers have provided evidence supporting the idea that learning is able to occur in a virtual intervention setting through increases in motivation, engagement, and activation of cognitive processes that support learning (e.g., Prensky, 2003). Several researchers have shown improvements to cognitive and behavioral outcomes for individuals engaged in educational or serious video game play (e.g., Ewolsen et al., 2012; Föcker et al., 2019; Pardina-Torner et al., 2019; Villani et al., 2018) while others have provided evidence for the direct teaching of social skills in virtual environments (Craig et al., 2015; DeRosier et al., 2012; Hopkins et al., 2011; Serret et al., 2014;). Evidence of the effectiveness and efficacy of a combination of video games as an intervention for social skills improvement is also starting to emerge (Craig et al., 2016; DeRosier & Thomas, 2019;); however, further research is warranted.

Although video games are associated with some negative views, as portrayed in media reports, the myriad of benefits associated with serious video games may outweigh these concerns (Gee et al., 2003; Kokol et al., 2020; Whyte et al., 2015). Firstly, the adaptive nature of video games allows for the potential to eliminate the limitations of traditional social skills training programs as these applications are more cost-efficient (e.g., less travel, lower program implementation costs, greater flexibility), ensure high program fidelity through the elimination of human error, and allow for greater opportunity to reach a wider range of participants including those in rural locations or other barriers (Craig et al., 2016; Ludlow, 2015; Parson & Mitchell, 2002; Standen & Brown, 2005).

Secondly, this adaptive nature also means that the settings in which the game occurs as well as the teaching content delivered can be individualized and can allow for more realistic settings for participants to practice their social skills in without fear of failure (Craig et al., 2016; Ludlow, 2015). This level of customizability is linked to higher levels of generalizability of the learned skills to outside settings which is a known gap in traditional training programs for social skills (Craig et al., 2016; Ludlow, 2015; Parson & Mitchell, 2002; Standen & Brown, 2005).

Third, video games appear specifically well-suited to support adolescents with social skills deficits. The increased levels of motivation and engagement as a result of in-game elements such as incentive systems, visual aesthetics, game mechanics, narratives or fantasy, challenges, and levels of mystery (e.g., Gee, 2003, Malone, 1981, Loftus & Loftus, 1983), can be used to increase intervention engagement and retainment for this difficult to reach age group (Farris et al., 2019; Plass et al., 2015). This is an important benefit to note as adolescents are currently overlooked in the existing interventions despite the clear need for training programs geared towards individuals in this sensitive period of brain development and increased social functioning demands (Steinberg, 2014).

Fourth, video games are well positioned to provide support to individuals with social skills deficits by allowing for the training of underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities that have been identified as foundational for the overall development of social skills (Cordier et al., 2015; Kilford et al., 2016). In the past, several researchers have identified positive changes to both cognitive and socio-emotional abilities are possible as a result of video game play (e.g., Bavelier et al., 2012; Craig et al., 2015; see also Kokol et al., 2020). This combined with the adaptive nature of video game development will allow for this platform to build and include game elements targeting these underlying skills. Furthermore, the flexibility associated with video game development and implementation also allows for the potential to address another concern raised in the literature on social skill as some researchers highlight the importance of tailoring interventions to the specific social skills deficits identified for an individual (Gresham, 2016).

In response to the call for a new way of intervening in social skills development, this chapter details the process of developing a video game based social skills intervention. This chapter is divided into two parts. In the first part, detailed information about the development process of a theory driven video game based social skills intervention will be discussed. This will include information about the development team and the decisions that were made throughout the development process. The second part of the chapter will focus on the initial implementation of this game as an intervention. Trends found in the data collected during this implementation round will be discussed and recommendations for subsequent implementations of the intervention will be highlighted. Overall, this chapter will add to the existing body of literature on social skills interventions and serious games by providing information on how to develop and implement theory driven interventions in the future.

Part One: Development Process

Development Team

The development of the theory driven video game project was a collaboration between two research teams from the University of Alberta including the Alberta Clinical & Community-Based Evaluation Research Team (ACCERT), led by Dr. Pei, and the Technology and Learning Sciences Lab (TALS), led by Dr. Boechler.

The project originated from the identified need for an alternate method of intervention delivery for adolescents (specifically those with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder; FASD) based on previous research, conducted by the ACCERT team, on adolescent-based intervention highlighting difficulties with high attrition and limited intervention adherence (Spaans, 2014). A review of the available literature on adolescent intervention suggested the use of technology and specifically for adolescents with social skills deficits (e.g., Gee, 2003; Mitchell et al., 2007; Plass et al., 2015; Prensky, 2003; Stichter et al., 2014).

As a result, a collaboration was formed with researchers from TALS who provided expertise in creating virtual learning environments (VLEs) and game-based learning theory. This team had previously created several serious games aimed at teaching specific skills to university aged students (e.g., Boechler et al., 2013; Dejong et al., 2011). Together the shared experiences and expertise of this team allowed for collaborative and evidence-based decision making throughout the different phases of this research project.

Intervention Constructs

The development team first set out to outline the goal of the intervention as this has implications for the content included in the video game. Previous social skills interventions have shown effectiveness in targeting specific behavioral skills associated with social functioning such as general communication and emotional recognition skills (e.g., Craig et al., 2015; DeRosier et al., 2012; Kokol et al., 2020; Sanchez et al., 2017; Serret et al., 2014). The current intervention development, however, focussed on building content based on social skills development literature, specifically the Social Information Processing (SIP) model (Crick & Dodge, 1994), as well as recent studies exploring the importance of training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities as a basis for developing overall success in social interactions (e.g., attentional control, executive functions, and social cognition; Cordier et al., 2015; Crick & Dodge, 1994; Kilford et al., 2016), rather than targeting specific behavioral outcomes. The video game intervention discussed in this paper was initially developed specifically for youth with FASD and the chosen constructs therefore reflect commonly identified difficulties for this population (Kully-Martens et al., 2012). However, these identified areas are also often noted as areas of concern in individuals with other neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., ADHD and ASD). Based on these literature reviews, a total of five constructs were selected to be the focus on training for the intervention: sustained attention, inhibition, metacognition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation. A brief overview will be provided regarding the relationship between these constructs and overall social skills development.

Sustained Attention

Researchers have examined the mediating and moderating factors associated with poor social functioning for decades and attentional abilities are commonly found to have negative short- and long-term effects on social relationships (Andrade et al., 2009; Mahmood et al., 2018). Attentional control is a complex cognitive construct that includes several types of attention including sustained attention. Attentional abilities in general are thought to be linked to social functioning (Andrade et al., 2009), however, sustained attention has been specifically linked to social skills development in several studies (Andrade et al., 2009). Sustained attention can be defined as the ability to maintain attention for an extended period of time and individuals who struggle with sustained attention may therefore appear to wax and wane in their attention (Corkum & Siegel, 1993). Sustained attention is thought to impact social functioning in several ways. First, sustained attention difficulties could impede an individual's ability to maintain focus during a conversation or social interaction. Secondly, individuals who struggle to maintain their attention during social interactions may miss social cues (Andrade et al., 2009). This can impact the reciprocity required for social functioning. Lastly, attention is also a signal of social interest. Individuals who show varied levels of attention during social interactions may appear as disinterested which can lead to perceived social incompetence (Dodge & Pettit, 2003).

Other forms of attentional control such as selective attention have also been found to be linked to social functioning, however, as mentioned above the video game was originally designed specifically for individuals with FASD and sustained attention is a known common deficit for this population (Kully-Martens et al., 2012) thereby making it a suitable training construct within the game environment. In addition, sustained attention is also a common difficulty for youth with other disorders such as ADHD (Kooistra et al., 2010) and anxiety related disorders (Forster et al., 2015).

Inhibition

Inhibition refers to the mental process of exercising restraint upon behavior (Barkley, 1997). Some definitions of inhibitory control further specify this process to include the ability to deliberately retain "an automatic response in order to activate a less predominant response" (Hubert et al., 2017 p. 59). In social situations, individuals must pay attention to the verbal and nonverbals included. They are then required to select and act on socially acceptable behaviors and inhibit irrelevant behavioral responses (Crick & Dodge, 1994; Lemerise & Arsenio, 2000). Individuals who struggle with inhibitory control may not consider all social cues and rules in these situations, and they can therefore appear more socially dysregulated which may interfere with the perceived level of social competence and future social inclusion (Crick & Dodge, 1994; Hay et al., 2004; Walcott & Landau, 2004). Inhibitory control deficits have been linked to several negative social behaviors such as increased aggressive and disruptive behaviors (for review, see Hubert et al., 2017). Higher levels of inhibitory control on the other hand have been linked to several positive outcomes such as improved academic performance as well as overall psychosocial well-being (Anzman-Frasca et al., 2015).

Inhibitory control is a cognitive process often impacted in individuals with FASD (e.g., Kooistra et al., 2010) and was therefore selected as a training construct. However, researchers have also found this deficit to be common for other populations as well including individuals with ADHD (Barkley, 1998), ASD (Geurts et al., 2014), Tourette's Disorder (Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) (Harsanyi et al., 2014), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (Falconer et al., 2008), anxiety (Wood et al., 2001), and depression (Richard-Devantoy et al., 2012).

Metacognition

Metacognition was originally referred to as the "knowledge or cognition about cognitive phenomena" (Flavell, 1979, p.906). Today, the term is more commonly known as thinking about thinking and consists of two components (1) knowledge of cognition, and (2) regulation of cognition (Van Overschelde, 2008). This means that the individual has knowledge about their cognitive processes, abilities, and strategies, and that the individual can regulate the application of these strategies, monitor and evaluate the performance and eventual adjust future responses based on feedback (Whetstone et al., 2015).

According to the Social Information Processing (SIP) model (Crick & Dodge, 1994), metacognition, is an important component of successful social interactions, as individuals need to monitor and evaluate their chosen social action to apply this learning to continue the social interaction. Metacognition has also been linked to an increased interpersonal sensitivity (e.g., ability to perceive what other people are thinking, wanting, and feeling) (Whetstone et al., 2015). Researchers have shown that individuals with deficits in metacognition are less likely to accurately interpret others' behaviors and feeling which increases the likelihood of inappropriate or undesired social behaviors (Ames & Kammrath, 2004). Several training programs for metacognitive strategies programs have been developed over the past decade and have been linked to improvements in academic performance as well as social interactions (Ames & Kammrath, 2004; Whetstone et al., 2015). These training programs typically consist of modeling, direct instruction, and practice modules for the desired metacognitive strategies.

Deficits in metacognition are frequently found in the FASD population and some research studies have resulted in positive impacts of strategy training programs for these individuals (Kerns et al., 2017; Makela et al., 2019). Similar deficits are found in individuals' ability to use metacognitive processes within the ADHD population (Barkley, 1997) as well as for individuals diagnosed with generalized anxiety disorder (Wells, 1995), and schizophrenia (Arnon-Ribenfeld et al., 2017). Interventions for this deficit and these populations have been developed and evaluated and although the overall effectiveness of these programs remains dependent on the implementation, some review studies suggest that metacognitive interventions are likely to be effective (Philipp et al., 2019; Saenz et al., 2019).

Perspective Taking

Perspective taking is generally referred to as one's ability to put themselves in another person's shoes or to understand the mental state of others (Premack & Woodruff, 1978) and is considered important during social interactions as "it facilitates the anticipation of other people's thoughts" (Dixon & Moore, 1990 p.1502) making the social interaction more predictable for the individuals involved. This ability is connected to the concept of Theory of Mind (ToM) and is known to start developing during the preschool years and continues into the school age years (Premack & Woodruff, 1978). Once developed this skill allows individuals to interpret verbal and nonverbal cues during social interactions. Perspective taking should be differentiated from another social cognitive concept called empathy as this can be defined as one's affective

response to another person's emotional state (Eisenberg et al., 2006). Both perspective taking and empathy are related to social interactions and social skills but with perspective taking being the required basis for developing empathy. Deficits in Theory of Mind, or perspective taking are common for individuals with social skills difficulties and specifically individuals with ASD (Baron-Cohen et al., 1985); however, individuals with FASD are known to also struggle with perspective taking (Rasmussen & Bisanz, 2009; Stevens et al., 2015).

Emotion Regulation

In addition to knowing and understanding how other people feel it is also important to recognize and regulate one's own emotional state and respond accordingly during social situations (Eisenberg et al., 2010). Emotion regulation can be defined as the processes "used to manage and change, if, when, and how (e.g., how intensely) one experiences emotions and emotion-related motivational and physiological states, as well as how emotions are expressed behaviorally" (Eisenberg et al., 2010 p.497). These processes are thought to develop rapidly during the early years of life as children learn to regulate themselves rather than relying on others to calm them (Eisenberg et al., 2010). This development is said to be influenced by environmental (e.g., modeling, feedback) and biological (e.g., temperament, executive functions) factors and is shown to be linked to long term outcomes for individuals (Eisenberg et al., 2010).

The ability to regulate one's emotions and behaviors associated with this is highly linked to social interactions and associated social skills. Frick and Morris (2004) noted that emotion dysregulation can impair the development of social cognition as it may interfere with an individuals' ability to process social information due to the correlation between emotions and executive functions. Emotional arousal is said to sharpen and strengthen communication between different parts of the brain often highlighting executive functions including thinking abilities and attentional control (Blair & Raver, 2015). However, when individuals experience high levels of emotional reactivity, cognitive control and resources can be disrupted. This "shutting-down" experience of the higher-order cognitive skills impacts social functioning as these are also the processes required for social skills (e.g., attentional control, inhibition). Furthermore, it is likely that difficulties with emotion regulation impact the quality of social interactions with peers and adults due to an established linked between emotion dysregulation and externalizing behaviors such as reactive aggression (Eisenberg et al., 2010).

Due to the known importance of emotion regulation development, there is an increased interest in developing evidence-based interventions targeting dysregulation. Existing interventions usually include a focus on executive function training in addition to emotion identification and regulation skills and have shown some effectiveness for preschoolers and school-aged children. (Eisenberg et al., 2010).

These interventions have been targeting some specific population such as individuals with ADHD (Bunford et al., 2015). Bunford and colleagues indicate that there are several factors impacting emotion regulation abilities for this population as individual with ADHD tend to struggle with 1) emotional inflexibility, 2) slow returns to an "emotion" baseline, 3) tend to have a low threshold for emotional excitability, impatience, and 4) show difficulty controlling the associated behaviors (2015). The same researchers also found links to these difficulties and individuals with depression (Bunford et al., 2015). Common deficits in regulation abilities are also found in individuals with FASD (Kable et al., 2016; Temple et al., 2019;).

Gamification of Intervention Constructs

The five training constructs described above provided the development team with guidelines in terms of the content to include in the intervention. As this intervention aimed to

draw from benefits associated with virtual environments and game-based learning theory, additional steps were required to transform the intervention into a virtual gaming format. Previous interventions aimed at improving social skills using virtual environments provided standard social skills training programs to individuals in a virtual environment (e.g., the same program as in real-life applied in a virtual environment; Kandalaft et al., 2013; Stichter et al., 2014). However, the intervention discussed in this paper aimed to use game-based learning principals to impact cognitive and social-emotional constructs related to social functions. The chosen constructs described above therefore required to be gamified to be present in the video game. Gamification describes the process of taking something existing (e.g., ways to improve sustained attention skills) and integrating game mechanics into it to enhance motivation, participation, and engagement (Burke, 2014).

Motivation and engagement are one of the main benefits associated with game-based learning as a motivated learner is more likely to partake in challenging activities, to be actively engaged, and to adopt a deep approach to learning (Schunk et al., 2008). A narrative is a known game element that is linked to increased motivation (Gee, 2003; Sanford et al., 2015). An overall storyline was therefore constructed for the entire intervention to increase motivation while also providing a platform to include additional gamified training constructs.

Storyline

The overall storyline created matches popular video games as it requires a team of participants to work together as special agents to solve crimes. The storyline spans six intervention sessions, each referred to as a mission, and although participants are exposed to different activities in these six gaming sessions the overall goal and process remains similar. Sessions start off with "mission objectives", followed by activities to be completed, and end with a debriefing. The game activities were embedded into the storyline and require the participants to complete specific tasks requiring sustained attention, inhibition, metacognition, perspective taking, and/or emotion recognition (see Figure 3.1 for various screenshots of game locations and tasks).

Figure 3.1a-d.

Various screenshots of game locations and tasks



(c) De-activating alarm task

(d) Guard dog task

The storyline is introduced to the participants in their first mission and team introductions are completed using the participants chosen spy names rather than their real names. These introductions are facilitated by the "mission commander", who is known to the participants as a member of the research team. The commander provides the participants with their mission goals, and they are told they will serve as his "eyes and ears" to gather information and report back at the end of each mission. A research assistant also joins the game as an "undercover" participant to help facilitate some of the training objectives (see the progression of construct section for more details).

Due to the importance of the storyline and the game-tasks included in the intervention, an overview of the six missions will be provided below. At the onset of their first sessions, the participants are told that they are to investigate a carshop due to reports of ongoing illegal activity. The team is instructed to obtain evidence to link the carshop owner to the crimes. Game tasks related to this session include collaborating to escape guard dogs, opening a gate, disabling security cameras, and examining paperwork to locate incriminating evidence. The mission ends when the commander calls the team back and sends the collected evidence back to "headquarters".

During the second mission, the team is told that the evidence was examined by agents at the headquarters, who were able to link the carshop owner to the crimes. The team's new mission is therefore to apprehend the criminal and find out more about his potential partners. They must break into a building, disrupt the phone lines, deactivate alarms, and uncover more evidence.

The storyline continues in the third mission when the team is asked to investigate a warehouse owned by the same criminal from the previous mission, as it is suspected that this location is used to print and distribute counterfeit money. For this mission, the team needs to dust the warehouse for fingerprints and decipher the distribution plans found inside. According to the agents back at headquarters, the criminals found out that they are being investigated and have taken hostages. The team therefore needs to free the hostages and arrest those responsible during the fourth mission. This requires them to engage in some familiar activities such as deactivating

alarms in addition to new tasks including strategizing together to decide on which room to raid, completing a maze to go unnoticed, and assisting hostages.

For the fifth mission, the team is told that the criminals they arrested work for an even bigger criminal and that it is important to return to their earlier locations to gather more evidence. As a result, the team returns to carshop, and they must find a new way inside. They also need to work together to obtain access to hidden files that are send back to headquarters. In the sixth and last session the team is tasked with arresting the mastermind criminal who is hidden somewhere in the warehouse. No further details are provided, and the team must therefore work together to complete the mission successfully. They are required to interact with a non-playable character to obtain information, find a hidden basement room and solve a series of puzzles to open locks.

Some of the locations and tasks were repeated in the storyline to help simplify the development process. However, when locations or tasks were re-introduced to the participants small changes were made by the development team to prevent repetition. For example, when the team returns to the carshop, the storyline states that the criminals increased the security to protect their building resulting in a need for the team to find an alternative way of entering the building.

Progression of Training Constructs

In addition to gamifying the constructs and the creation of a storyline, the development team also designed a progression for the training constructs meaning that as the intervention progresses, there is an increased presence of training activities or an increase in difficulty associated with the training activity. This progression allows for the participants to continue to practice the skills while building on previous learning. This approach is commonly used in virtual environments and allows for the scaffolding of the participants' learning which has shown to be specifically beneficial when providing social skills training (Kerr et al., 2002). The designed progression also included a reduction in the amount of support provided to the participants to complete the required training activities. At the onset of the intervention, participants receive higher levels of supports and information to ensure that the skills are understood and trained as intended. As the intervention continues, this support is gradually reduced to allow for independent practice and solidification of the learned skill (see Figure 3.2 for a visual representation of the progression). This process was completed for each construct separately and specific gamified tasks were assigned (see Figure 3.3 for an overview).

Figure 3.2

Progression of Constructs



Figure 3.3

Construct	Session 1	Session 3	Session 6		
Sustained Attention	6 different tasks	3 different + 1 similar	2 similar tasks		
	& 1 min DTC	& 3 min DTC	& 6 min DTC		
Inhibition	1 passive distant distractor	1 passive distant & 1 passive near distractors	2 active near distractors		

6 prescribed tasks Immediate +

Nonconsequential +

Identification and Action

Commander directs all to

chill out room

Progression Overview per Construct

Socio-Emotional Abilities

3 prescribed + 1 strategy

related tasks

Delaved + Nonconsequential

+ Identification

RA models + Commander

prompts

Sustained attention

Metacognition

Perspective

Taking

Emotion

Regulation

For this intervention, the cognitive construct of sustained attention was incorporated in the game by adjusting the level of exposure and intensity of the construct. The game was designed to start off relatively easy and to slowly become more difficult in terms of attentional requirements. This was done by slowly decreasing the number of tasks (first session is six activities and the last session comprises of two activities) the participants must complete thereby making them longer and inherently more attention intensive and requiring higher levels of sustained attention. In addition, the activities required to be completed by the participants, were designed to start off as all novel tasks which is known to increase engagement and attentional control. As the intervention and the storyline progress the tasks were designed to become more similar to previous tasks thereby putting a larger demand on sustained attention. Lastly, one mini game (Designed Time to Completion game, DTC) was built in per mission during which the

Cognitive Abilities

2 strategy related tasks

(Extinct) +

Consequential +

Identification + Action

Monitor only

participants were required to sustain their attention to proceed with the following tasks. The mini games varied in the requirements but were generally designed to be simple tasks (e.g., pressing a series of buttons to unlock a tool). The time restriction linked to these mini games was also designed to increase throughout the intervention leading to the training of this specific skill. For example, during the first intervention session, the participants complete a mini game requiring one minute of sustained attention which was increased to a six-minute requirement by the end of the intervention. These mini games varied in the required tasks but were incorporated into the storyline. One of the mini games requires the participants to continuously select a series of buttons on their Xbox controller to hack the security system while another requires the selection of arrows to find a way through a maze.

Inhibition

Within the game, participants were trained on the concept of inhibitory control through a slow increase in exposure to the number of distractors. Distractors are known to be enticing to individuals particularly when they are active in nature (allow for interaction such as an object that can be pushed) and when they are nearby (DeRosier et al., 2012). The game therefore started off with passive (e.g., objects that do not allow for interaction) distractors that were placed far away from the participants. As the intervention progresses the type of distractor changes to be active, meaning that the participants are then able to interact with the object. In addition, as the intervention sessions progress, the distracting items are placed near the participants increasing the likelihood of distractibility. This increases the inhibitory control requirements as engagement with the objects will interfere with the game objectives (e.g., participants who are distracted by the objects may take longer to get to the end point). Furthermore, the number of distractors also increase the attention demands placed on the participants. The inhibition construct is

therefore not linked to specific game tasks; however, the distractor items were designed to match the ongoing storyline and the locations of the missions (e.g., billboards, vending machines, computers).

Metacognition

For this specific construct, the progression takes place in terms of the type of tasks required. At the onset of the intervention, participants complete prescribed tasks only. During these tasks detailed instructions are provided to the participants on how to complete the game activities and how to work together to ensure success. As the intervention progresses these instructions lessen, and ultimately participants are required to engage in strategy related tasks. For these tasks, they are provided with vague instructions thereby requiring them to plan and evaluate their own game strategy as well as a team strategy. For example, during the first session, the participants are told to enter the carshop by first cutting the electricity to the gate. They are provided information on where they can find access to this. In the last mission, the only information provided to the team is to obtain access to the building.

As the development of the game progressed, another metacognitive training activity was added by including a debrief at the end of each intervention session. During this debrief, the commander guides the participants through an evaluation of the strategies used during the sessions.

Perspective Taking

Perspective taking is the first socio-emotional training construct included in the intervention and required additional thought transforming into gaming activities as it requires several steps. First, a person must have the recognition that someone else might have different thoughts or feelings than themselves. Secondly, they must then take action that corresponds to

that recognition. To effectively train this skill, the intervention started off with the modelling of both steps. Slowly, the amount of modelling is reduced and replaced by prompts on both how to recognize as well as act when there is a difference in perspectives. Next, the prompting was slowly removed by switching from immediate to delayed prompting. Ultimately, the goal was for participants to apply perspective taking approaches spontaneously when they were presented in the game format.

Opportunities for modelling of perspective taking skills were built into the game sessions through specific game activities. Initially the modelling was geared towards the "undercover" agent (played by a Research Assistant; RA) who would follow a script highlighting the steps of perspective taking. Certain tasks were also built into the storyline to create moments of perspective taking. For example, in one mission the undercover agent is provided with a photograph of the criminal the team is tasked to arrest. The undercover agent therefore has information unknown to the rest of the team.

Initially the modelling of the steps related to perspective taking is done immediately and had no consequence to the actual game play. Meaning that when the action associated with perspective taking was not completed by the participants it did not interfere with the continuation of the game. As the sessions progress, there is a change in how quickly the modelling or prompting of perspective taking skills is applied and there is an increased importance of the action to the completion of the game session. For example, noticing and acting on the perspective of someone else may provide a bonus to the team or it may allow them to continue to the next game activity thereby placing an increased importance on this skill.

Furthermore, the participants receive their instructions from their mission commander. This character was needed to provided information to the team and to serve as a potential mediator in case of difficulties; however, the participants' interactions with the commander also serve as ongoing perspective taking training opportunities throughout all the missions. The team is told that the commander is located back at headquarters and is unable to see what occurs during their mission. For the investigation to go according to plan, they are told to act as the commander's "eyes and ears" and to report back to him throughout and at the end of each mission. Certain tasks were also included that require participants to report specific information back to the commander prior to being able to continue the game. For example, one of the missions requires the participants to share specific information about the cars seen on location to the commander before he can send them the help they need to continue to the next task.

Emotion Regulation

The idea of training a socio-emotional construct though modeling was also used for the last concept of emotion regulation. This was a more challenging construct to gamify as it requires emotional arousal from the participants which can be inherit to the concept of video games but is more challenging to control (Plass et al., 2015). The training activities were therefore designed to include role-modeling by the undercover agent as their actions were within the control of the development team. The undercover agent provides modeling of the steps required to move from emotional dysregulation/arousal to emotional regulation. This modelling was reduced over time with a progression from verbal to non-verbal modelling. For example, at the onset of the intervention, the undercover participant verbalizes frustration and receives prompts from the game commander on how to regulate including deep breathing and grounding exercises. In later sessions, the undercover participant shows frustration by running around or making noises and then engages in calming down activities on his own.

A second component of the emotion regulation training construct was the inclusion of a "chill out room". This was a specially designed virtual space where participants could retreat to when feeling overwhelmed during game play. This room was accessible to the participants by a simple click on their controller. At the onset of the intervention, the purpose of this space was explained to the participants and suggestions were made for ways to regulate in this space (e.g., deep breathing, counting). Throughout the sessions, the commander also provided prompts to participants who appear emotionally dysregulated by reminding them of the option of the chill out room as well as the calm down strategies. During the first sessions the commander made these prompts immediately but delayed this response as the sessions progressed.

Materials Required

The development and the playing of the intervention involved several requirements in terms of hard and software.

Software

The game was developed by the researchers at the University of Alberta using the Unreal Engine 4 game development platform. This platform was chosen as it allowed for the possibility of creating a private virtual space that would only be accessible to the participants while keeping the costs of development down. The research team had previous experience with virtual environment developments in the Second Life platform; however, it was decided that the Unreal Engine 4 provided graphics that were closer to the desired effect as the appearance of true immersion into the virtual environment is said to be linked to overall impact of the intervention (Gee, 2003).

Development of the game underwent several versions and test runs were first conducted with adult video game players in the university community prior to the initial implementation phase of the intervention with participants. Researchers also worked on creating a secure server within the university's network to allow for the intervention to run on a provincial level. This allowed for a broader inclusion of participations around the province but required additional testing to ensure the security of the broader network capabilities.

Development difficulties were encountered throughout the process of the project, specifically regarding the interaction opportunities between all participants involved in the intervention. As the intervention had the goal of impacting social skills and social functioning, the research team focussed on increasing the opportunity for social interactions while maintaining the game-based learning principles such as the narrative. Ultimately, it was decided to include an external software program to allow participants to speak freely to each other. For the initial implementation of the intervention, participants were required to download TeamSpeak3, an online voice chat application. The opportunity for verbal communication was chosen over written (which is common is computer games) to reduce the participants' cognitive load while engaged in the game (Erlandson et al., 2010).

Hardware

Computer hardware was required for the development of the intervention but also for the playing of the intervention by the participants. Participants' computers were checked for a certain level of processing speed, graphics cards, memory, and internet connection and loaner laptops were provided when needed. In addition, each participant was provided with an Xbox One TM controller to standardize the controls for game play. This allowed the commander of the game to provide unified directions that were familiar to all players (e.g., "press the "x" button"). Lastly the game also included a headset that was provided by the researchers to limit potential difficulties with communication.

Part Two: Initial Implementation

The initial implementation of the game was conducted on a small sample of participants to ensure proper functioning of the game and game mechanics in addition to testing the fit with the population and to establish a level of feasibility in intervention delivery.

As mentioned earlier, the game was initially developed for adolescents with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). FASD is a diagnostic term that describes a range of significant cognitive, behavioral, and physical impairments resulting from prenatal alcohol exposure (Cook et al., 2016). Challenges with social functioning and social skills are also widely reported for this population (e.g., Coggins et al., 2007; Greenbaum et al., 2009; Kerns et al., 2016; Kjellmer et al., 2013; Lindinger et al., 2016; McGee et al., 2009; Quattlebaum & Connor, 2013; Rasmussen et al., 2011; Thomas et al., 1998; Whaley et al., 2001). As a result of these known impacts, some interventions targeting social functioning have been developed for this population; however, most of the research examining social interventions for individuals with FASD ranges from scarce for children to non-existent for the adolescent age group. The theorydriven video game based social skills intervention was geared to support this population and specifically the adolescent age group.

The use of technology or games in interventions for individuals with FASD is not a new idea. Previously, researchers have used video games with children with FASD to successfully improve attention abilities and executive functioning (Pei & Kerns, 2012), sustained and selective attention, spatial working memory, reading and math fluency (Kerns et al., 2010), and to teach fire and street safety (Coles et al., 2007; Padgett et al., 2006). In addition to these findings, Pei and Kerns (2012) also noted that the use of the video games resulted in high levels of engagement. The purpose of this current exploratory study was therefore to build upon this

emerging data and determine the potential impact of a video game-based intervention on the social skills and underlying cognitive abilities for adolescents with FASD using a case study design.

Participants

Prior to starting the study, ethics approval for the project was obtained from the institutional review board at the University of Alberta. Recruitment of participants was based on snowball sampling in which the information was distributed to participating local and provincial organizations providing services to individuals and families with FASD. Three participants between the ages of 11 and 14 and with a FASD diagnosis then participated in the study. These participants were selected to participate based on having: (a) a diagnosis of FASD, (b) reported difficulties with social functioning (as reported by caregivers), and (c) a willingness to participate, in addition to the absence of significant brain injuries or a co-morbid diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). A description for each of the participants, referred to by their assigned pseudonym, can be found below and in Table 3.1.

Brandon

Brandon was a 14-year-old African Canadian male with a diagnosis of Alcohol Related Neurodevelopmental Disorder (ARND) which falls under the FASD diagnostic umbrella, based on the Canadian 2005 diagnostic guidelines (Chudley et al., 2005), as reported by his caregiver. He was diagnosed at the age of six and was in foster care for a short period prior to his adoption. His adoptive mother indicated several social struggles for Brandon including a limited number of friends and social interactions.

Victoria

Victoria was an 11-year-old female with a diagnosis of FASD, as reported by her caregiver, and of Caucasian and Metis background. She was diagnosed at the age of 9 and was previously in foster care. Victoria now lives with her parental grandmother and has occasional visits with her biological father. Her grandmother reported several difficulties for Victoria, including difficulties with appropriate social behaviors. No cognitive testing was completed for Victoria due to her geographical location in relation to the location of members of the research team.

Tyler

Tyler was an 11-year-old Caucasian male with a diagnosis of FASD, based on the new Canadian 2016 diagnostic guidelines, as reported by his caregiver. He was diagnosed at the age of ten years old. He currently lives with his biological mother who reported Tyler's main difficulties to be related to not paying attention and not thinking before acting or speaking when interacting with peers or others.

Table 3.1

Ethnicity	Age	Diagnosis	Age at	Caregiver	Global	Verbal	Visual
			Diagnosis		IQ ^a	IQ ^a	IQ ^a
African American	14	ARND	6	Adoptive parent	75	69	89
Caucasian /Metis	11	FASD	9	Biological grandparent	N/A	N/A	N/A
Caucasian	11	FASD	10	Biological parent	73	77	75
	African American Caucasian /Metis Caucasian	EthnicityAgeAfrican14American11Caucasian11/Metis11Caucasian11	EthnicityAgeDiagnosisAfrican14ARNDAmericanCaucasian11/MetisCaucasian11FASD	EthnicityAgeDiagnosisAge at DiagnosisAfrican14ARND6American6Caucasian11FASD9/Metis710	EthnicityAgeDiagnosisAge at DiagnosisCaregiverAfrican14ARND6Adoptive parentAmerican79Biological grandparentCaucasian11FASD9Biological grandparentCaucasian11FASD10Biological parent	EthnicityAgeDiagnosisAge at DiagnosisCaregiver IQaGlobal IQaAfrican14ARND6Adoptive parent75American9Biological grandparentN/A/Metis9Biological parentN/ACaucasian11FASD9Biological parentN/ACaucasian11FASD10Biological parent73	EthnicityAgeDiagnosisAge at DiagnosisCaregiver GlobalGlobal IQaVerbal IQaAfrican14ARND6Adoptive parent7569American09Biological grandparentN/AN/A/Metis10Biological parent7377Caucasian11FASD10Biological parent7377

Participant Characteristics

^aas measured by the WRIT (Glutting et al., 2000)

Setting

All three participants participated in the study from their own homes located in different areas throughout Alberta, Canada. Within their homes, they were asked to find a private space with limited distractors (e.g., home office or bedroom). As a result of limited opportunities for a quiet space in his house, one of the participants chose to participate in the game in the office setting of his caregiver.

Materials

Software

Prior to the first intervention session, participants were required to download the game as well as TeamSpeak3, a free online communication system. For some, the caregivers of the participants aided with the downloads and where needed members of the research team were able to assist through verbal guidance or through a remote desktop connection during which they were able to download the required programs. This support was available for the participants regarding any technical difficulties associated with the intervention throughout all sessions (e.g., sounds not working, lags in the video game play).

Hardware

To run the video game, developed in the Unreal Engine 4, a computer or laptop with a certain level of processing speed, graphics cards, memory, and internet connection was required. Two out of three participants used their personal devices to participate in the study while the third youth was provided with a loaner laptop. In addition, the participants were provided with an Xbox One TM controller and a headset which allowed them to communicate to each other. All participants reported familiarity with both Xbox One controllers as well as headsets and no additional instructions were therefore provided.

Measures

Demographic Questionnaire

Caregivers completed a brief researcher-constructed demographic form to collect information about the participant's age, grade, diagnosis, prenatal history, placement history, and current living situation, as well as caregiver factors such as the relationship to the adolescent, marital status, level of education, occupation, and household income bracket.

Wide Range Intelligence Test (WRIT)

The WRIT (Glutting et al., 2000) provides a brief and reliable measure of verbal and nonverbal cognitive abilities for individuals ages four to 85. A total score is provided for an estimate general IQ in addition to scores for verbal (crystallized) IQ and visual (fluid) IQ (M = 100; SD = 15). Internal consistency reliability (.84-.90 for main scales) test-retest reliability (>.90), and inter-rater reliability (.98 to .99) for the main WRIT scales is high. Examination of the psychometric properties also shows acceptable construct, concurrent, and predictive validity (WISC-III, 0.90 and WRAT; .36 to .64) (Glutting et al., 2000). This measure was only provided to participants during the pre-testing phase.

Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating System

The SSIS-RS is a questionnaire that measures social skills in terms of frequency of occurrence (e.g., how often a child is helpful or polite) and behaviours relating to self-control, responsibility, cooperation, empathy, and assertion (Gresham & Elliott, 2008). For the purposes of this research both the parent and youth self-report versions (ages 8-12 and 13-18) were used, and the focus was placed on examining the two main scales of social skills and problem behaviors (M = 100, SD = 15). The SSIS rating scales are normed using a large representative US sample (N = 4700) and overall high levels of internal consistency reliability are found across

the different scales and subscales (ranging between .75 and .98). Medium test-retest reliability was also found across both the parent and the self-report measure (ranging from .59 to .81) (Gresham & Elliot, 2008).

Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (DKEFS)

The D-KEFS (Delis et al., 2001) is designed to measure a broad array of executive functions including problem-solving, planning, cognitive flexibility, and inhibition, and can be used with individuals ages eight to 89. The measure includes nine subtests and is co-normed using a large, non-clinical, representative US sample. For each subtest, raw scores are converted to scaled scores (M = 10; SD = 3), with lower scores indicating poorer performance. Moderate to high split-half reliability (0.62 - 0.86), and test-retest reliability have been determined for the CWIT (Homack et al., 2005). For the purposes of this study, the participants completed five D-KEFS subtests: trail-making test, design fluency test, color-word interference test, twenty questions test, and tower test.

Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd Edition (CPT-3)

The Conners CPT-3 is a computerized assessment of attention-related difficulties in individuals ages eight years and older. Test administration requires participants to respond to letters displayed on a computer screen, except for the letter X, by pressing on the space bar which provides information about inattentiveness, impulsivity, sustained attention, and vigilance. Obtained raw scores are converted to t-sores based on a normative sample (Conners, 2014; M =50, SD = 10). The third edition of this test is normed on representative US sample (N = 1400). An examination of the psychometric properties shows high internal consistency (.92 - .94) and moderate test-retest reliability (.67) (Conners, 2014).

Procedures

The initial implementation of the intervention served a very exploratory function to begin to assess both the feasibility and the potential impact of the developed game. As a result, a case study design was chosen to best represent this data collected to allow for an in-depth examination of the individual impact for the three participants while also helping to determine if future studies in this area are warranted.

Upon recruitment of the three participants, pre-testing occurred within three weeks of the intervention start date. During this period, the caregivers completed the demographics questionnaire and the parent version of the SSIS while the participants completed the SSIS-self report, the CPT-3, five subtests of the DKEFS, as well as the WRIT. The adolescents then participated in the video game twice a week for three weeks. The research team made the decision to run the intervention twice a week rather than once weekly due to the intervention taking place just prior to summer break. Running two sessions a week allowed for the intervention to be completed prior to the start of summer break with the intent not to impact attendance rates. The average length of game play per session was 28.5 minutes (range 25 to 33 minutes). Within two months of the last intervention session, post-testing took place during which the participants and the caregivers completed the same measures again except for the WRIT and the demographics questionnaire. All participants were provided with two \$10 iTunes gift cards and the caregivers received a \$25 Indigo gift card for their participation.

Results

Analysis of the pre and post SSIS reports was conducted using clinically significant and reliable change index (RCI) calculations (Jacobson & Truax, 1991). To calculate the RCI, the standard error of measurement (SEM) found in the manuals for the CPT-3 and SSIS were used
(Conners, 2014; Gresham & Elliot, 2008). The SEM for the DKEFS scales were derived from the reliability coefficients and standard deviations based on the normative age group for this participant pool (Delis et al., 2001). Once the RCI was calculated, change scores greater than 1.96 were considered statistically significant and clinically meaningful.

Brandon

An overview of Brandon's change scores can be found in Table 3.2.

Social Findings. Brandon started the intervention with self-perceived social skills in the *Above Average* range and maintained this view upon completion of the intervention. His perceived level of problem behaviors; however, significantly increased over the course of the intervention. It should be noted that this higher score still places him in the *Average* range. Next, Brandon's caregiver reported *Well-Below Average* social skills pre-intervention and the analysis showed a significant positive change after. Moreover, a positive significant reduction was also found for the reported problem behaviors.

Cognitive Findings. When examining Brandon's pre- and post-cognitive data on the DKEFS and the CPT-3 some reliable changes can be found; however, overall, his profile remains stable. Inconsistent findings were observed for the reliable changes noted in the CPT-3 administrations. Changes were observed in Brandon's error type on the CPT-3 indicating that he made significantly more omission errors post intervention which could point to increased inattention. However, improvement was noted in his response speed as this was observed to be more consistent during post testing which would indicate lower levels of inattention.

On the DKEFS only one reliable decrease was found on the number sequencing component of the Trail Making Task. Since Brandon obtained a score in the *Average* range for this task pre-intervention it is unlikely that this post-intervention score represents any difficulties in math or number processing but rather points to other factors such as inconsistent effort or

difficulties with inhibitory control.

Table 3.2

Summary of Brandon's Results

			Pre-	Post		Reliable
Measure	<u>a · 1 al · 11 a 1</u>	Scale	Score	Score	RCI	Change
SSIS	Social Skills – Sel	t a. 10	122	131	1.93	No
	Problem Behavior	s - Self	93	106	2.79	Yes*
	Social Skills – Car	regiver	69	79	2.36	Yes*
	Problem Behavior	s – Caregiver	139	130	-1.99	Yes*
CPT 3	<i>Response Style</i> (C)	63	70	1.37	No
	Detectability (d')		57	58	0.31	No
	Error Type %	Omissions	69	81	3.54	Yes*
		Commissions	49	46	-0.88	No
		Perseverations	51	54	0.66	No
	Reaction Time	HRT	49	50	0.64	No
		HRT SD	60	54	-2.02	Yes*
		Variability	52	60	1.26	No
		HRT Block Change	49	53	0.88	No
		HRT ISI Change	48	43	-1.10	No
DKEFS	Trail Making Test	Condition 1 - Visual Scanning	1	1	0	No
	1051	Condition 2 - Number Sequencing	9	1	-3.93	Yes*
		Condition 3- Letter Sequencing	4	1	-1.08	No
		Condition 4 - Number-Letter Switching	Invalid	1		
		Condition 5 - Motor Speed	7	8	0.56	No
	Design Fluency	Condition 1 - Filled Dots	, 7	6	-0.40	No
		Condition 2 - Empty Dots	, 7	5	-0.62	No
		Condition 3 – Switching	5	5 7	0.51	No
	Color Word Test	Condition 1- Color Naming	3	, 1	-1.03	No
		Condition 2 - Word Reading	5 1	1	0	No
		Condition 3 – Inhibition	1 2	1	-0.75	No
		Condition 4 -	∠ 1	1 /	1.58	No
	Twenty	Initial Abstraction Score	1 1	H Involid		INU
	~ `		4	mvanu		

No

0.31

8

7

Note. RCI = Reliable Change Index * reliable change detected

Victoria

An overview of Victoria's findings can be found in Table 3.3. As stated previously, data was only collected on Victoria's social-emotional functioning due to her geographical location. Despite not being able to collect cognitive data for this participant, her participation in the intervention highlights an added value beyond data collected as this emphasizes increased accessibility to intervention participation for those in more remote locations.

Social Findings. Victoria started the intervention with *Below Average* perceived social skills and showed a significant change to *Average* social skills post intervention. Her caregiver also noted a change in her social skills improving from *Well-Below Average* to the *Below Average* category. Furthermore, her caregiver also indicated positive reliable change in her problem behaviors again moving her into a different indicator category and suggesting improvements in this area.

Table 3.3

Measure	Scale	Pre-Score	Post Score	RCI	Reliable Change
SSIS	Social Skills – Self	71	99	5.35	Yes*
	Problem Behaviors – Self	115	120	0.79	No
	Social Skills – Caregiver	65	74	2.12	Yes*
	Problem Behaviors – Caregiver	143	132	-2.16	Yes*

Summary of Victoria's Results

Note. RCI = Reliable Change Index

* reliable change detected

An overview of Tyler's findings can be found in Table 3.4.

Social Findings. Tyler started the intervention, believing to have *Well-Above Average* social skills and reported *Below-Average* skills post intervention. A significant change was also found in his reported level of problem behaviors with an increase noted post intervention.

Tyler's caregiver noted *Well-Below Average* social skills pre-intervention with a reliable increase post intervention (up to the *Below-Average* range). A small reduction in problem behaviors was also found; however, this did not meet the RCI criteria.

Cognitive Findings. When examining Tyler's pre and post cognitive data on the DKEFS and the CPT-3, several reliable changes can be found. Overall, the change findings on the CPT-3 represent a reduction in problems with decreased errors rates, increase speed, and more consistency in responding which could point to decreased impulsivity and increased attention. It should be noted that despite the reliable change in these scores, the identified difficulties remain at the clinically significant level. Furthermore, decreased information processing was also found which may suggest more difficulties with sustained attention.

On the DKEFS, reliable positive changes were also found three out of the four Color Word Test conditions suggesting potential improvement in inhibitory control. A reliable negative change was also found on the measure of Trail Making Test (Number Sequencing) which similarly to this change found for Brandon likely represents some difficulty with inconsistent effort or inhibitory control.

98

Tyler

Table 3.4

Summary of Tyler's Results

Measure		Scale	Pre- Score	Post- Score	RCI	Reliable Change
SSIS	Social Skills – Self		126	83	-8.22	Yes*
	Problem Behaviors – Self		108	129	3.30	Yes*
	Social Skills – Caregiver		57	72	3.54	Yes*
	Problem Behaviors – Caregiver		150	145	-0.98	No
CPT 3	Response Style (C)		52	49	-0.59	No
	Detectability (d')		67	64	-0.92	No
	Error Type %	Omissions	64	59	-1.47	No
		Commissions	63	63	0	No
		Perseverations	89	72	-3.76	Yes*
	Reaction Time	HRT	59	51	-5.14	Yes*
		HRT SD	90	78	-4.04	Yes*
		Variability	72	66	-0.94	No
		HRT Block Change	24	68	9.72	Yes*
		HRT ISI Change	58	48	-2.21	Yes*
DKEFS	Trail Making Test	Condition 1 - Visual Scanning Condition 2 - Number	5	9	1.33	No
		Sequencing	10	6	-1.97	Yes*
		Sequencing Condition 4 - Number-Letter	1	2	0.36	No
		Switching	1	4	0.79	No
		Condition 5 - Motor Speed	7	10	1.66	No
	Design Fluency	Condition 1 - Filled Dots	6	10	1.62	No
		Condition 2 - Empty Dots	6	10	1.25	No
		Condition 3 – Switching	8	4	-1.01	No
	Color Word Test	Condition 1- Color Naming	1	7	3.09	Yes*
		Condition 2 - Word Reading	3	1	-0.98	No
		Condition 3 – Inhibition	5	9	2.98	Yes*
		Condition 4 - Inhibition/Switching	1	5	2.11	Yes*
	Twenty Questions	Initial Abstraction Score	8	11	1.59	No
		Total Weighted Achievement	9	9	0	No

Note. RCI = Reliable Change Index * reliable change detected

Discussion for Initial Implementation

The purpose of this exploratory study was to test the theory-driven video game based social skills intervention for adolescents with FASD. The initial implementation phase was conducted to ensure proper working of the video game and game mechanics in addition to testing the game with the adolescent FASD population. Lastly, this phase also set out to provide preliminary evidence for feasibility and potential impact of this video game as a delivery platform for a social skills intervention. Data from this project will add to the limited existing literature for this population.

The results were presented in a case study format to highlight the unique outcomes for each adolescent. FASD presents with diverse patterns of brain injury, and it is therefore not surprising that the improvements are different for the individuals who took part in this study. Furthermore, the case study approach also allowed for consideration of the intra-individual variability that is often present for this population (Ali et al., 2018). Despite the expected diversity, three overall significant trends can be identified in this study that will aid further research in this area.

First, for all three adolescents, the caregivers reported reliable positive change for the adolescent's overall social skills. Furthermore, although not all change met the level of RCI, a positive trend was also found for caregiver reports in reductions of problem behaviors. Decreases in problem behaviors have previously been linked to increases in observed prosocial behaviors and overall social skills (Gresham & Elliot, 2008). Taken together, these trends suggest a potentially positive impact of the intervention on the youth's social skills and problem behaviors.

Second, the self-report results differed from the caregiver reports which is consistent with previous research on multiple informant discrepancies (de Los Reyes & Kazdin, 2005) as well as previous findings on the discrepancies between caregiver and adolescent dyads within the FASD population (Mariasine et al., 2014). This may represent a tendency for individuals with FASD to present themselves in a favourable light or a tendency for caregivers to focus on the difficulties experienced by the participants. Additionally, this discrepancy in reports may also represent limited self-awareness for the participants in terms of their social functioning and potential difficulties associated with this. Among the three adolescent reports, negative trends in problem behaviors were also found suggesting that these behaviors increased after the intervention. This may represent an increase in self-awareness as a result of the intervention. Some research has linked the concepts of perspective taking and metacognition to the development of selfawareness (Bach & David, 2006; Weil et al., 2013) which may potentially explain the negative trends found in this study. As both perspective taking and metacognition were trained constructs it could be that this led to increases in self-awareness for the participants and particularly to their understanding of their perceived difficulties.

Third, the cognitive scores obtained for two of the three participants, show some reliable changes, supporting the idea of training cognitive abilities within a video game setting. However, these changes were not consistent across participants despite the consistent positive caregiver social skills findings. FASD is a diverse brain injury which can result in different presentations of individuals' cognitive functioning as well as intra-individual variability (Ali et al., 2018). Social skills are also commonly said to be a composite of several cognitive and socio-emotional abilities and perhaps the fact that this current intervention targeted a broad number of functions may help explain the positive social skills results. It is also possible that the game impacted

social functioning for reasons other than the cognitive skills highlighted and examining these relationships will help to further hone intervention efforts going forward. At this time, it is therefore difficult to discern the impact on cognitive constructs and further research is therefore needed to help clarify the potential link between cognitive training and positive changes in social skills.

Findings outside of the outcome measures also add to the research regarding the use of video games as interventions. The three participants were observed to be engaged and motivated as they expressed enjoyment on several occasions and only one session was missed by one participant due to an emergency. Additionally, participation demands were lowered as the adolescents were all able to play the game from the comfort of their home. The initial implementation of the game included some technical difficulties with regards to the download of the game and the running of the required programs. Some of the difficulties encountered were corrected through immediate technical support offered by the research team which allowed for smooth continuation of the game. There were no lags in game play as a result of difficulties with the game; however, several temporary glitches were noted for future improvement. Other difficulties highlighted the need for some targeted adaptations to allow the game to run more smoothly for future use. As this initial implementation intended on testing the feasibility of the developed game, these pieces of information are considered extremely valuable as it will likely lead to improvements in feasibility for subsequent implementations of the intervention. Overall, these observations provide initial positive feedback for using video games as a platform for social skills intervention.

Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

Some limitations of the study exist and highlight the need for further research. First, the sample size is small as was intended for this initial implementation phase. This allowed for an indepth examination of the intervention impact on three participants across their different social profiles. This approach also allowed for considerations for adaptations to the game itself as it highlighted areas to improve on feasibility. The small sample size and the case study approach limits the generalizability of the findings but highlights the need for a larger scale examination to better understand the impacts identified, keeping generalization in mind as the ultimate goal. The findings from this initial implementation are promising and suggest the need for future implementation with a larger pilot group.

Second, due to the nature of the intervention platform, recruitment of participants was limited to those who had access to laptops or computers compatible with the gaming software. One of the participants was provided with a loaner laptop; however, this requirement should be considered as a potential barrier in future work in this area. Furthermore, this requirement may have also led to recruitment of participants of somewhat higher SES thereby potential further hindering generalizability of findings. The potential impact of this bias should therefore be considered during future implementations of this study and an effort should be made to include participants from a variety of SES backgrounds.

Third, from a feasibility perspective it may be difficult for participants to consistently find access to a quiet and private area in their homes. For this current implementation one of the participants noted this as a difficulty ahead of the intervention and was able to find an alternate solution. However, the other participants encountered some minor disruptions during some of the sessions as a result of the intervention taking place in their home environment. Despite the benefits associated with participation from home (e.g., less resource intensive, no travel required) it may be beneficial to examine alternate locations that can offer quiet and private spaces (e.g., schools or libraries).

Fourth, the data collected to assess social skills changes is subject to the mono-method bias as only the use of behavior rating scales (SSIS) are included. It should be noted that both naturalistic behavioral observation and behavior rating scales are the primary choice of social skills assessment (Merrell, 2001). With observations being time and resource intensive, the SSIS questionnaires were the more feasible option for this study. In addition, input from multiple sources is included using both self- and caregiver reports. This is beneficial as it is unclear whether youth with social behavior problems can report accurately and reliable on their own social skills (Merrell, 2001). The only well-researched instrument of self-report assessment is the SSIS, showing strong levels of divergence between self-reported social skills and more direct measures of these abilities through observations and other behavior rating scales (Merrell, 2001).

Lastly, the data collected for this research project consisted only of quantitative data (e.g., cognitive change data, participant attendance). Inclusion of qualitative data on participant enjoyment, caregiver observations, and ease of participation from home could further guide research on the feasibility and effectiveness of the developed game. Specifically, qualitative input from the participants regarding their perceptions, experiences, and expectations of the game can help guide development changes that may increase enjoyment as well as learning potential for the adolescents (Sanford et al., 2015).

Conclusion

Within the realm of social skills interventions, a call for a new way of developing and delivering these interventions has become more pronounced over the past few years. The idea of

using video game technology and relying more heavily on theory driven intervention development was proposed as a way of answering this call and this paper set out to provide a preliminary scan of the feasibility and potential effects of such an intervention. Though the data presented in this current paper is limited, it does call attention to three important take-home messages that will add to the existing literature on social skills and its intervention methods.

First, the development phase as described in this paper highlights the ability for video games to serve as a highly adjustable platform through which an intervention can be securely grounded in theory and evidence-based research. The chosen training constructs were based on social skills development theory and although the true impact of training underlying abilities to instill change in overall social skills could not be established through the initial implementation, it shows promising preliminary results that support the need for subsequent implementations.

The trends found based on the initial implementation of this intervention also suggest promising results for an intervention tailored to the needs of a specific population or in this case adolescents with FASD. This is an important finding as researchers have suggested that interventions for social skills improvements should be designed specifically based on the social deficits noted for an individual (Gresham, 2016). As this approach would be resource and time intensive, the current study focused on targeting training constructs commonly found to be impacted for a specific population (e.g., sustained attention, perspective taking). Although the data collected on these cognitive constructs was limited, some positive changes were noted in overall reported social skills therefore suggesting that this approach should be evaluated further. Further evaluations may include examining the impact of this video game with other disability populations known to show deficits in similar areas of cognitive and socio-emotional abilities such as ADHD. Second, the case study data presented in this paper shows promising early results for the potential impact of the intervention for the participants in terms of reported decreases in problem behaviors associated with social interactions. Based on the current available data, the mechanisms of change resulting in these findings cannot be linked backed to any specifics yet, but further implementations of the intervention are expected to shed more light on this. Any future implementations would benefit from some adjustments to the game as were highlighted during this initial phase and future outcome studies could result in even more successful trends as a result.

Third, by capitalizing on the adjustable and motivational nature of video games, the development team was able to create an intervention targeting adolescents specifically from both urban and rural settings in Alberta. The positive feedback from participants, the high attendance rate, and overall engagement seen in the participants all speak to the importance of matching youth's interests to intervention development. Furthermore, the ability for participants to participate from the comfort of their own home can be viewed as a great asset for individuals struggling with anxiety regarding their social skills as well as for those in geographically challenging areas as supports are often limited there. Further investigation on the observed levels of engagement and participation should therefore help to strengthen the call for inclusion of modern technology to support teens.

Currently many of the social skills programs available are run within the school system, as this limits the demands placed on caregivers and allows for a greater number of individuals to be supported simultaneously. It may therefore be prudent to examine the potential for this video game-based intervention to be delivered in school systems as well as the home environment. In conclusion, the findings presented in this paper highlight some promising early results for a video game based social skills intervention which was initially tested on a small group of adolescents diagnosed with FASD. The promising results provide strong evidence for the need for subsequent implementations of this game with a higher number of participants from a more diverse background to examine the potential impact more thoroughly. Despite the need for further research, the current information presented already adds to the existing literature by highlighting the blueprints of the development process for a social skills intervention that is securely grounded in theory and technology while showing great potential for continued success.

References

- Ali, S., Kerns, K. A., Mulligan, B. P., Olson, H. C., & Astley, S. J. (2018). An investigation of intra-individual variability in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 24(5), 617–637.
- Ames, D. R., & Kammrath, L. K. (2004). Mind-reading and metacognition: Narcissism, not actual competence, predicts self-estimated ability. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 28*, 187-209.
- Andrade, B. F., Brodeur, D. A., Waschbusch, D. A., Stewart, S. H., & McGee, R. (2009).
 Selective and sustained attention as predictors of social problems in children with typical and disordered attention abilities. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *12*(4), 341–352.
- Anzman-Frasca, S., Francis, L. A., & Birch, L. L. (2015). Inhibitory control is associated with psychosocial, cognitive, and weight outcomes in a longitudinal sample of girls. *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*, 1(3), 203–216.
- Arnon-Ribenfeld, N., Hasson-Ohayon, I., Lavidor, M., Atzil-Slonim, D., & Lysaker, P.H.
 (2017). The association between metacognitive abilities and outcome measures among people with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *European Psychiatry*, 46, 33–41
- Bach, L.J., & David, A.S. (2006). Self-awareness after acquired and traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology Rehabilitation*, *16*(4), 397-414.
- Barkley, R.A. (1997). ADHD and the nature of self-control. Guilford Press.
- Barkley, R.A (1998). Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A Handbook for Diagnosis and Treatment, Second Edition. Guilford Press.

- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Firth, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? Cognition, 21(1), 37-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8</u>
- Bavelier, D., Green S., Pouget, A., & Schrater, P. (2012). Brain plasticity through the life span: learning to learn and action video games. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *35*, 391-416.
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*(1), 61-79.
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2015). School readiness and self-regulation: A developmental psychobiological approach. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66(1), 711–731.
- Boechler, P., Stroulia, E., deJong, E., Delaney, M., Carbonaro, M., Artym, C., Thomas, W. & Klassen, J. (2013). Virtual campus orientation: Supporting students' transition to post-secondary before they actually arrive. *In R. McBride & M. Searson (Eds.), Proceeding of Society for information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference 2013* (246-249). Chesapeake, VA.
- Bunford, N., Evans, S., Becker, S., Langberg, J., Evans, S. W., Becker, S. P., & Langberg, J. M. (2015). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and social skills in youth: a moderated mediation model of emotion dysregulation and depression. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(2), 283–296.
- Burke, B. (2014). *Gamify: How gamification motivates people to do extraordinary things*.Bibliomotion.
- Chudley, A., Conry, J., Cook, J., Loock, C., Rosales, T., & LeBlanc, N. (2005). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Canadian guidelines for diagnosis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 172, 1-21.

- Coggins, T., Timler, G., & Olswang, L. (2007). A state of double jeopardy: impact of prenatal alcohol exposure and adverse environments on the social communicative abilities of school-age children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, 38(2), 117-127.
- Coles, C.D., Strickland, D. C., Padgett, L., & Bellmoff, L. (2007). Games that "work": using computer games to teach alcohol-affected children about fire and street safety. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 28, 518–530.
- Conners, C. K. (2014). Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd edition[™] (Conners CPT 3[™]) manual. Multi-Health Systems Incorporated.
- Cook, J. L., Green, C. R., Lilley, C. M., Anderson, S. M., Baldwin, M. E., Chudley, A. E.,
 Conry, J.L., LeBlanc, N., Loock, C.A., Lutke, J., Mallon, B.F., McFarlane, A.A., Temple,
 V.K., & Rosales, T. (2016). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: A guideline for diagnosis
 across the lifespan. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 188(3), 191-197.
- Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Chen, Y., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Brown, T., Bourke-Taylor, H., Doma, K., & Leicht, A. (2015). Evaluating the psychometric quality of social skills measures: A systematic review. *Plos ONE*, *10*(7), 1-32. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.013229
- Corkum, P. V., & Siegel, L. S. (1993). Is the continuous performance task a valuable research tool for use with children with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34, 1217-1239.
- Craig, A.B., Brown, E., Gallagher, S., Raab, L. H., & DeRosier, M. E. (2015). Zoo U: The only research-proven online game that assesses and teaches social skills. 3C Institute.
- Craig, A., Brown, E., Upright, J., & DeRosier, M. (2016). Enhancing Children's Social Emotional Functioning Through Virtual Game-Based Delivery of Social Skills

Training. Journal of Child & Family Studies, 25(3), 959-968.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0274-8

- Crick, R., & Dodge, A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychology Bulletin*, 115, 74–101.
- deJong, E., Kuras, P., Boechler, P., Stroulia, E., Carbonaro, M., & King, S. (2011). Technical challenges and solutions: Creating Virtual Environments for a health science interprofessional course. *The Internet Journal of Allied Health Sciences and Practice, 4* (9), 1-14.
- Delis, D.C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. (2001). *Delis Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiner's manual*. The Psychological Corporation.
- Deming, D. J. (2017). The growing importance of social skills in the labor market. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *132*(4), 1593–1640.
- De Los Reyes, A., & Kazdin, A. E. (2005). Informant discrepancies in the assessment of childhood psychopathology: A critical review, theoretical framework, and recommendations for further study. *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 483–509.
- DeRosier, M., Craig, A., & Sanchez, R., (2012). Zoo U: A stealth approach to social skills assessment in schools. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2012, 1-7.
- DeRosier, M. & Thomas, J. (2019). Hall of Heroes: A digital game for social skills training with young adolescents. *International Journal of Computer Games Technology*, 1-12.
- Dixon, J. A., & Moore, C. F. (1990). The development of perspective taking: Understanding differences in information and weighting. *Child Development*, 61, 1502–1513. http://doi.org/10.2307/1130759

- Dodge, K. A., & Pettit, G. S. (2003). A biopsychosocial model of the development of chronic conduct problems in adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 39(2), 349-371.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408–416.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., & Spinrad, T.L. (2006). Prosocial Behavior. In: Eisenberg, N.,
 Damon, W., & Lerner, R.M. Handbook of child psychology: Volume 3 Social, emotional, and personality development 6th ed. Wiley.
- Eisenberg, N., Spinard, T. L., & Eggum, N. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *6*, 495-525.
- Erlandson, B. E., Nelson, B. C., & Savenye, W. C. (2010). Collaboration modality, cognitive load, and science inquiry learning in virtual inquiry environments. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 58(6), 693-710. <u>http://doi/org/10.1007/s11423-010-9152-7</u>
- Falconer, E., Bryant, R., Felmingham, K. L., Kemp, A. H., Gordon, E., Peduto, A., Olivieri, G.,
 & Williams, L. M. (2008). The neural networks of inhibitory control in posttraumatic
 stress disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 33(5), 413-422.
- Farris, M. S., Devoe, D. J., & Addington, J. (2019). Attrition rates in trials for adolescents and young adults at clinical high-risk for psychosis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 14(5), 515-527.

http://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12864

Flavell J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: a new area of cognitivedevelopmental inquiry. *American. Psychology*, *34*, 906–911.

- Föcker, J., Mortazavi, M., Khoe, W., Hillyard, S. A., & Bavelier, D. (2019). Neural correlates of enhanced visual attentional control in action video game players: An event-related potential study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 31(3), 377–389.
- Forster, S., Elizalde, A. O. N., Castle, E., & Bishop, S. (2015). Unraveling the anxious mind: Anxiety, worry, and frontal engagement in sustained attention versus off-task processing. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(3), 609–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht248</u>
- Frick, P. J., & Morris, A. S. (2004). Temperament and developmental pathways to conduct problems. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 54-68. http://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3301_6
- Furman, W., & Buhrmester, D. (1992). Age and sex differences in perceptions of networks of personal relationships. *Child Development*, 63(1), 103-115.
- Gee, J. P. (2003). What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Geurts, H. M., van den Bergh, S. F., & Ruzzano, L. (2014). Prepotent response inhibition and interference control in autism spectrum disorders: Two meta-analyses. *Autism Research*, 7, 407–420.
- Glutting, J., Adams, W., & Sheslow, D. (2000). *Wide Range Intelligence Test Manual*. Wide Range Incorporation.
- Greenbaum, R., Stevens, S., Nash, K., Koren, G., & Rovet, J. (2009). Social cognitive and emotion processing abilities of children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: A comparison with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Alcoholism-Clinical and Experimental Research*, 33(10), 1656-1670.

- Greene, R. W., Biederman, J., Farone, S. U., Wilens, T. E., Mick, E., & Blier, H. K. (1999).
 Further validation of social impairment as predictor of substance use disorders. Findings from a sample of siblings of boys with and without ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28, 349–354.
- Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 46(3), 319-332. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788
- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Manual. Pearson Assessments.
- Harsanyi, A., Csigo, K., Rajkai, C., Demeter, G., Nemeth, A., & Racsmany, M. (2014). Two types of impairments in OCD: Obsessions, as problems of thought suppression; compulsions, as behavioural-executive impairment. *Psychiatry Research*, 215(3), 651-658.
- Hay, D.F., Payne, A., & Chadwick, A. (2004). Peer relations in childhood. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 45(1), 84–108.
- Hubert, B., Guimard, P., & Florin, A. (2017). Cognitive self-regulation and social functioning among French children: A longitudinal study from kindergarten to first grade. *Psychology Journal*, 6(1), 57–75.
- Jacobson, N. S., & Truax, P. (1991). Clinical significance: A statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 59(1), 12–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.59.1.12</u>
- Jones, D. E., Greenberg, M., & Crowley, M. (2015). Early social-emotional functioning and public health: The relationship between kindergarten social competence and future

wellness. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(11), 2283-2290. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302630

- Kable, J. A., Taddeo, E., Strickland, D., & Coles, C. D. (2016). Improving FASD children's selfregulation: Piloting phase 1 of the GoFAR Intervention. *Child & Family Behavior Therapy*, 38(2), 124–141.
- Kandalaft, M., Didehbani, N., Krawczyk, D., Allen, T., & Chapman, S. (2013). Virtual reality social cognition training for young adults with High-Functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 43(1), 34-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1544-6</u>
- Kerns, K. A., MacSween, J., Wekken, S. V., & Gruppuso, V. (2010). Investigating the efficacy of an attention training programme in children with Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 13, 413–422.
- Kerns, K., Macoun, S., MacSween, J., Pei, J., & Hutchison, M. (2017). Attention and working memory training: A feasibility study in children with neurodevelopmental disorders, *Applied Neuropsychology: Child*, 6(2), 120-137.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2015.1109513

- Kerns, K. A., Siklos, S., Baker, L., & Müller, U. (2016). Emotion recognition in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Child Neuropsychology*, 22(3), 255-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2014.993310</u>
- Kerr, S. J., Neale, H.R., & Cobb, S. (2002). Virtual environments for social skills training: the importance of scaffolding in practice. Proceedings of the fifth international ACM conference on assistive technologies, 104-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/638249.638269</u>

- Kilford, E. J., Garrett, E., & Blakemore, S. (2016). The development of social cognition in adolescence: An integrated perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 106-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016</u>
- Kjellmer, L., & Olswang, L. B. (2013). Variability in classroom social communication: performance of children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and typically developing peers. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 56(3), 982-993.
- Kokol, P., Vošner, H. B., Završnik, J., Vermeulen, J., Shohieb, S., & Peinemann, F. (2020).
 Serious game-based intervention for children with developmental disabilities. *Current Pediatric Reviews*, 16 (1), 26-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.2174/1573396315666190808115238</u>
- Kooistra, L., Crawford, S., Gibbard, B., Ramage, B., & Kaplan, B. J. (2010). Differentiating attention deficits in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder or Attention-Deficit-Hyperactivity Disorder. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 52(2), 205-211.
- Kully-Martens, Denys, K., Treit, S., Tamana, S., & Rasmussen, C. (2012). A review of social skills deficits in individuals with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and Prenatal Alcohol Exposure: Profiles, mechanisms, and interventions. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, (4), 568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01661
- Lemerise, E. A., & Arsenio, W. F. (2000). An integrated model of emotion processes and cognition in social information processing. *Child Development*, *71*, 107–118.

Lindinger, N. M., Malcolm-Smith, S., Dodge, N. C., Molteno, C. D., Thomas, K. F., Meintjes, E.
M., Jacobson, J.L., & Jacobson, S. W. (2016). Theory of Mind in children with Fetal
Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(2), 367-376.

- Loftus, G. R., & Loftus, E. F. (1983). *Mind at play: The psychology of video games* (Vol. 14). Basic Books.
- Ludlow, B. L. (2015). Virtual Reality: Emerging applications and future directions. *Rural* Special Education Quarterly, 34(3), 3-10.
- Mahmood, Z., Burton, C. Z., Vella, L., & Twamley, E. W. (2018). Neuropsychological predictors of performance-based measures of functional capacity and social skills in individuals with severe mental illness. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 102,201-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.04.011</u>
- Makela, M. L., Pei, J. R., Kerns, K. A., MacSween, J. V., Kapasi, A., & Rasmussen, C. (2019). Teaching children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder to use metacognitive strategies. *Journal of Special Education*, 53(2), 119–128.
- Malone, T. W. (1981). Toward a theory of intrinsically motivating instruction. *Cognitive Science*, *5*, 333–369.
- Mariasine, J., Pei, J., Poth, C., Henneveld, D., & Rasmussen, C. (2014). Adaptive functioning, social skills, mental health, and personal strengths among adolescents with Prenatal Alcohol Exposure (PAE). *International Journal of Psychological Studies*, 6(2), 36-48.
- McGee, C. L., Fryer, S. L., Bjorkquist, O. A., Mattson, S. N., & Riley, E. P. (2009). Deficits in social problem solving in adolescents with Prenatal Exposure to Alcohol. *American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse*, 34(4), 423-431.
- Merrell, K. W. (2001). Assessment of children's social skills: Recent developments, best practices, and new directions. *Exceptionality*, 9 (2), 3-18. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2001.9666988</u>

- Mitchell, P., Parsons, S., & Leonard, A. (2007). Using virtual environments for teaching social understanding to 6 adolescents with Autistic Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 37(3), 589-600.
- Morand-Beaulieu, S., Grot, S., Lavoie, J., Leclerc, J. B., Luck, D., & Lavoie, M. E. (2017). The puzzling question of inhibitory control in Tourette syndrome: A metaanalysis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *80*, 240–262.
- Padgett, L. S., Strickland, D., & Coles, C.D. (2006). Case study: using a virtual reality computer game to teach fire safety skills to children diagnosed with fetal alcohol syndrome. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 31, 65–70.
- Pardina-Torner, H., X. Carbonell & M. Castejón. (2019). A comparative analysis of the processing speed between video game players and non-players. *Aloma, 37* (1), 13–20.
- Parsons, S., & Mitchell, P. (2002). The potential of virtual reality in social skills training for people with autistic spectrum disorders. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46(5), 430-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2002.00425</u>
- Pei, J., & Kerns, K. (2012). Using games to improve functioning in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Games for Health Journal*, 1(4), 308-311. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2012.0036
- Philipp, R., Kriston, L., Lanio, J., Kühne, F., Härter, M., Moritz, S., & Meister, R. (2019). Effectiveness of metacognitive interventions for mental disorders in adults-A systematic review and meta-analysis (METACOG). *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 26(2), 227–240.
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of Game-Based Learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258-283.

- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Chimpanzee problem-solving: A test for comprehension. *Science*, 202, 532–535.
- Prensky, M. (2003). Digital game-based learning. *Computers in Entertainment, 1*, 21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/950566.950596
- Quattlebaum, J., & O'Connor, M. (2013). Higher functioning children with prenatal alcohol exposure: Is there a specific neurocognitive profile? *Child Neuropsychology*, 19(6), 561-578.
- Rabiner, D. L., Godwin, J., & Dodge, K. A. (2016). Predicting academic achievement and attainment: The contribution of early academic skills, attention difficulties, and social competence. *School Psychology Review*, 45(2), 250–267.
- Rasmussen, C., Becker, M., McLennan, J., Urichuk, L., & Andrew, G. (2011). An evaluation of social skills in children with and without prenatal alcohol exposure. *Child: Care, Health* and Development, 37, 711–718.
- Rasmussen, C., & Bisanz, J. (2009). Executive functioning in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: Profiles and age-related differences. *Child Neuropsychology*, 15(3), 201-215. http://doi.org/10.1080/09297040802385400
- Richard-Devantoy, S., Gorwood, P., Annweiler, C., Olie, J. P., Le Gall, D., & Beauchet,
 O. (2012). Suicidal behaviours in affective disorders: A deficit of cognitive inhibition? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie*, 57 (4), 254–262.
- Rose, T. (2012). School readiness is about more than knowing the A-B-Cs and 1-2-3s. *Zero to Three*, *33*(1), 17-23.

- Ross, K. M., Kim, H., Tolan, P. H., & Jennings, P. A. (2019). An exploration of normative social and emotional skill growth trajectories during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 62, 102–115.
- Saenz, G. D., Geraci, L., & Tirso, R. (2019). Improving metacognition: A comparison of interventions. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 33(5), 918–929.
- Sanchez, R., Brown, E., Kocher, K., & DeRosier, M. (2017). Improving children's mental health with a digital social skills development game: A randomized controlled efficacy trial of adventures aboard the S.S. GRIN. *Games for Health Journal*, *6*(1), 19–27.
- Sanford, K., Starr, L. J., Merkel, L., & Bonsor Kurki, S. (2015). Serious games: Video games for good? *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 12(1), 90–106.
- Schunk, D. H., Pintrich, P. R., & Meece, J. L. (2008). *Motivation in education* (3rd ed.). Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Serret, S., Hun, S., Iakimova, G., Lozada, J., Anastassova, M., Santos, A., Vesperini, S., & Askenazy, F. (2014). Facing the challenge of teaching emotions to individuals with lowand high-functioning autism using a new serious game: a pilot study. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 1-35. http://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-37
- Spaans, R. (2014). *The perceived impact of a mentoring program for youth with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders* [Unpublished master's thesis]. University of Alberta.
- Standen, P. J., & Brown, D. J. (2005). Virtual reality in the rehabilitation of people with Intellectual Disabilities: Review. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 8(3), 272-282. http://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2005.8.272
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, *9*(2), 69-74.

- Steinberg, L. (2014). Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence. Houghton Mifflin.
- Stevens, S. A., Dudek, J., Nash, K., Koren, G., & Rovet, J. (2015). Social perspective taking and empathy in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(1), 74-84. http://doi.org/10.1017/S135561774001088
- Stichter, J., Laffey, J., Galyen, K., & Herzog, M. (2014). iSocial: Delivering the social competence intervention for adolescents (SCI-A) in a 3D virtual learning environment for youth with High Functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 44(2), 417-430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1881-0
- Temple, V. K., Cook, J. L., Unsworth, K., Rajani, H., & Mela, M. (2019). Mental health and affect regulation impairment in Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD): Results from the Canadian national FASD database. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 54(5), 545–550.
- Thomas, S., Kelly, S., Mattson, S., & Riley, E. (1998). Comparison of social abilities of children with fetal alcohol syndrome to those of children with similar IQ scores and normal controls. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22, 528–533.
- Villani, D., Carissoli, C., Triberti, S., Marchetti, A., Gilli, G., & Riva, G. (2018). Videogames for emotion regulation: A systematic review. *Games for Health Journal*, 7(2), 85–99.
- Walcott, C.M., & Landau, S. (2004). The relation between disinhibition and emotion regulation in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 772–782.
- Weil, L.G., Fleming, S.M., Dumontheil, I., Kilford, E.J., Weil, R.S., Rees, G., Dolan, R.J., &Blakemore, S.J. (2013). The development of metacognitive ability in adolescence.

Consciousness and Cognition, 22(1), 264-271.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.convog.2013.01.004

- Wells, A. (1995). Meta-cognition and worry: A cognitive model of Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 23(3), 301-320. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465800015897
- Whaley, S., O'Connor, M., & Gunderson, B. (2001) Comparison of adaptive functioning of children prenatally exposed to alcohol to a nonexposed clinical sample. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 25,* 1018–1024.
- Whetstone, P. J., Gillmor, S. C., & Schuster, J. G. (2015). Effects of a metacognitive social skill intervention in a rural setting with at-risk adolescents. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 34(2), 25–35.
- Wood, J., Matthews, A., & Dalgleish, T. (2001). Anxiety and cognitive inhibition. *Emotions, 1*(2), 166-181.

Chapter 4: Adolescent Social Skills Intervention: Innovation, Engagement and Change

Social skills, defined as specific behaviors necessary for social interactions (e.g., interpersonal and communication skills), are important during childhood and adolescence as these skills are linked to greater social competence which in turn has been linked to increased positive long-term outcomes (educational, psychological and vocational; e.g., Deming, 2017; Domitrovich et al., 2017) as well as decreased negative outcomes (e.g., mental health concerns, delinquency, and anti-social behavior; Davis et al., 2011; Erath et al., 2007; Feinberg et al., 2007; Gresham & Elliott, 2008; Gresham et al., 2012; Lugnegard et al., 2011; Segrin et al., 2016; Worley & Matson, 2011). Although social skills are considered important throughout the developmental span, their importance increases during adolescence. This developmental period, which is defined to include individuals between 10 to 24 years of age, involves significant biological and social changes (Sawyer et al., 2018). As children transition into adolescence, increased importance is typically placed on friendships and peer socialization resulting in an increase in the amount of time spent with peers rather than family (Andrews et al., 2020; Steinberg, 2014). Social skills are required to support adolescents during these additional social interactions. Furthermore, adolescence is typically characterized as a period of increased independence and autonomy in preparation of adulthood, skills development during the adolescent years can therefore be viewed as important for social interactions and social success later in life (Andrews et al., 2020; Steinberg, 2014).

In conjunction with observed changes in social demands, adolescence is also characterized as a period of *social brain* development. The term *social brain* describes a "circumscribed set of brain regions that are dedicated to social cognition" (Frith, 2007 p.671) including the frontal and temporal areas of the brain. These regions are linked to the development of executive functions (EF; e.g., working memory, planning, problem-solving, strategic behavior) and theory of mind (ToM) as they rely strongly on the activation of the frontal lobes (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010). EF and ToM in turn are cognitive and socioemotional skills required for overall social skills development (Cordier et al., 2015). During the adolescent years, several brain areas, such as those involved in the *social brain*, undergo continued structural and functional maturation as a result of synaptogenesis, synaptic pruning, and myelination (Andrews et al., 2020; Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010). This period of growth and maturation is therefore thought to positively impact underlying cognitive and socioemotional abilities thereby ultimately positively impacting overall social skills (Andrews et al., 2020).

Typically, a period of increased brain development as described above, or a sensitive period, is considered an optimal time for intervention due to the associated malleability of the brain and opportunity for change (Steinberg, 2014). This combined with the known increase in social demands during adolescence highlights the importance of offering social skills interventions specifically to the adolescent age group to promote skills development that will support these youth throughout their adolescence and into adulthood. Unfortunately, few social skills interventions geared towards youth are available as many of the training programs are aimed at school aged children (Ledford et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Storebø et al., 2019). In addition to overall scarcity of the adolescent geared interventions, a review of the available research also notes some concerns in terms of intervention design and implementation. First, high attrition rates have been noted for adolescents enrolled in these interventions (Lopata et al., 2019), which is suspected to be due to the adolescents not being engaged by the intervention (Farris et al., 2019). Second, there is limited research available on interventions aimed at training

underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities despite evidence showing the importance of this approach with adolescents. Third, many social skills interventions are geared toward specific diagnostic populations which may cause misalignment between identified individual needs and training goals (Maag, 2006), and/or may preclude some individuals from receiving supports based on their diagnosis. Research aimed at exploring and examining ways to address these concerns is therefore needed to ensure appropriate interventions are available to adolescents with social skills difficulties.

In response, the purpose of this research study is to examine the potential impact of a newly developed video game based social skills intervention for adolescents with social skills difficulties. Video games are known to be highly popular with youth across the world and due to this popularity, the use of technology and particularly video games have been proposed as a strategy for increasing engagement for mental health related services for adolescents (Georgeson et al., 2020; Plass et al., 2015). This format also creates opportunities to respond to the call for interventions to target underlying cognitive and socio-emotional needs due to its versatility and potential as a teaching platform (Bavelier et al., 2012). Finally, the use of video game-based interventions has been applied across several specialized populations and for a variety of different concerns such as depression (Stasiak et al., 2014), ADHD (Wegrzyn et al., 2012), and anxiety (Hopkins et al., 2011; Serret et al., 2014; Wols et al., 2018). A successful extension of this approach to a group of individuals presenting with shared identified social skills needs rather than a shared diagnosis is therefore expected and would examine the importance of alignment between participant needs and intervention goals or assess for a goodness of fit. Taken together, this research study aims to contribute to the current understanding of social skills intervention supports for adolescents with social skills difficulties.

Background

Engagement in Interventions

An intervention can be defined as a "purposeful action by a human agent to create change" (Midgley, 2000, p.113) and many different interventions exist to support people in a variety of ways or settings including therapeutic treatments such as pharmacological or psychological therapies, surgical procedures, medical devices, or behavioral treatments (Hughes-Morley, 2017). Within the field of psychology, interventions are typically developed to modify behavior, emotional states, or cognitive processes (Hughes-Morley, 2017) and include social skills training programs. Much of the research published on interventions focusses on the effectiveness, impact, or outcomes of the programs; however, the role of participant engagement has received an increasing amount of attention in recent years (Lindsey et al., 2013; O'Keeffe et al., 2019). Intervention engagement refers to the participants' involvement and interaction with the intervention (Baltierra et al., 2016) and is typically measured through quantitative findings such as time spent in the intervention, completion of intervention goals, attendance, and/or adherence (Georgeson et al., 2020; Perski et al., 2016). At times, subjective measures are used through self-report questionnaires or interviews about the individual's perceived experience of engagement, satisfaction, or useability of the intervention (Perski et al., 2016). Research on participant engagement has linked higher levels of engagement to increased effectiveness of the intervention (McKay et al., 2001; Strecher et al., 2008) as well as lower attrition rates (Couper et al., 2010). As a result, it is important to ensure that participants are engaged with the intervention as this may impact their continued attendance and overall success in the program.

Engaging Adolescents

Despite increased interest in examining the role of engagement in interventions, the current available literature is limited and specifically for adolescent geared interventions. Research conducted to date notes high attrition rates for youth (Farris et al., 2020) across different intervention settings (e.g., family-, school-, and community-based; Stattin & Kerr, 2009) including social skills related interventions (Lopata et al., 2019). Information about engagement in related fields such as psychotherapy suggests that between 28 to 75 percent of adolescents drop out of mental health services prematurely (deHaan et al., 2013). A similar trend is also observed for adolescent engagement in education as high school drop out rates are estimated to be as high as 9.3% for American youth and 9.8% for Canadian youth (Archambault et al., 2009). These numbers have been linked to decreases in the experienced engagement with school (Archambault et al., 2009) and several strategies have therefore been developed to help promote adolescent engagement in the school systems including a focus on inquiry-based learning as well as the inclusion of technology in the classroom (Taylor & Parson, 2011).

Leveraging Technology

The use of technology has also been proposed as a strategy for increasing engagement for mental health related services for adolescents (Georgeson et al., 2020). More specifically the use of video games has been suggested and evaluated to help support teens with behavioral concerns (Chacko et al., 2016), depression (Stasiak et al., 2014), ADHD (Wegrzyn et al., 2012), and anxiety (Wols et al., 2018; Wuthrich et al., 2012). Video games are thought to be a particularly well-suited platform for interventions to adolescents due to their already existing popularity among this age group (NPD Group as cited in Entertainment Software Association of Canada, 2017) as well as the possibility for video games to have built in narratives, incentive systems,

and visual aesthetics further enhancing the participants' motivation and engagement (Gee, 2003, Malone, 1981, Plass et al., 2015).

The use of video games as an intervention platform has also been applied to the field of social skills and specifically for the adolescent population (e.g., Hopkins et al., 2011; Serret et al., 2014). In addition to the overall benefits associated with this type of platform (e.g., increased engagement for youth, adaptable nature, more cost-effective, high program fidelity, learning potential; see Chapter 2 for review), video games appear to specifically align well with social skills training approaches. An examination of traditional social skills training (SST) programs suggests that modeling is an important training component, although concerns have been noted regarding the limited generalizability associated with traditional types of modeling (Bellini & Akulian, 2007). Within a video-game setting, the virtual environment is adaptable and can include modeling of social skills in more realistic settings with opportunities to practice, which is thought to enhance generalizability (Parson & Mitchell, 2002). Furthermore, video games often take place in a group setting with peers, thereby creating another naturalistic setting for the participants to practice and model skills. Despite these potential advantages, the body of literature examining the impact of video game based social skills interventions is limited and particularly concerning the level of engagement that is experienced by the participants as a result of the technology-based delivery platform (Georegeson et al., 2020). Further research in this area would likely aid a better underlying on how to support adolescents and engage them in interventions.

Social Skills Change

The goal of participant engagement in social skills interventions is to positively change social skills abilities and in turn improve participants' overall social functioning. There are several ways in which these programs aim to do this. Many interventions focus on teaching specific behavioral social skills such as communication skills, eye contact, or conflict resolutions skills (see Andrews et al., 2020b). These types of interventions tend to use direct teaching and modeling as the main teaching method and some have shown to be effective in positively impacting individuals' social skills (e.g., Leaf et al., 2016; Stichter et al., 2010). However, reviews indicate mixed reports on the effectiveness and generalizability of these programs (e.g., Gates et al., 2017; Wolfenstan et al., 2018). A change to the methods through which social skills change is expected to occur may lead to stronger efficacy and effectiveness results and should therefore be examined.

Focus on Underlying Abilities

Over the past few years, research on social skills interventions has increased and the importance of underlying abilities required for social functioning has been highlighted through increased knowledge on the social brain (Soto-Icasa et al., 2015). This thinking also aligns with the Social Information Processing (SIP) Model (Dodge et al., 1986), a well-known social skills development theory which states that abilities such as attention and memory are required in order for an individual to respond and interpret to social situations. Training of the underlying cognitive and social emotional abilities is believed to lead to improvements in social skills and overall social functioning (e.g., Cordier et al., 2015; Ross et al., 2019; Soto-Icaza et al, 2015) and interventions have therefore been designed to focus on these areas rather than historical approaches on teaching specific behavioral skills. Despite some interventions showing success targeting social problem solving (Bell & D'Zurilla, 2009), perspective taking (Radley et al., 2014), and emotion regulation (Thomson et al., 2015), more research is needed to further explore the impact of training these and similar constructs and its impact on overall social skills change.

The complexity of social skills and continued disagreements on uniform classification of the behaviors included in the term social skills (Matson & Wilkins, 2007, 2009), can lead to some challenges determining which underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities are important to social skills development and should therefore be considered training goals for intervention purposes. However, researchers have established links between several cognitive and socio-emotional constructs and social skills abilities specifically for individuals with developmental disabilities and/or mental health concerns as these individuals are more likely to struggle with social functioning (Cordier et al., 2015). Some of the prominently identified underlying abilities in this research include sustained attention (e.g., Andrade et al., 2009), inhibition (e.g., Hubert et al., 2017), metacognition (e.g., Ames & Kammrath, 2004; Whetstone et al., 2015), perspective taking (Dixon et al., 1990; Eisenberg et al., 2006), and emotion regulation (Eisenberg et al., 2010; Frick & Morris, 2004; see chapter 3 for a review). Although additional abilities are at times also discussed in their relation to social functioning, the research on training cognitive and socio-emotional constructs and the evidence for their potential link to social skills appears most strong for sustained attention, inhibition, metacognition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation (Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Kully-Martens et al., 2012). Furthermore, the selection of these five underlying abilities was informed by and aligns with Social Information Processing (SIP) model (Dodge et al., 1986) highlighting the need for foundational skills that allow for the enactment of social skills.

A social skills intervention aimed at training these identified five important underlying constructs is therefore thought to lead to positive changes in overall social skills. This type of intervention is particularly well suited to the adolescent age group due to the known structural and functional maturation that takes place in certain brain areas during this sensitive
developmental period (Andrews et al., 2020a; Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010). The brain regions commonly impacted by this maturation process include several of the cognitive and socio-emotional abilities mentioned above. As a result, an intervention aimed at training these abilities during a period of expected brain maturation is likely to be beneficial to social skills and ultimately social functioning. There is limited research available examining the impact of video game interventions targeting underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities with the overall goal to improve social skills. As a result, exploratory research is needed to examine if evidence of intended change would be found for a video game based social skills intervention for adolescents. This preliminary work would be foundational to future research examining the potential impact this intervention approach could have on enhancing efficacy.

Goodness of Fit

In addition to the idea of potentially enhancing efficacy for social skills intervention by targeting underlying abilities, these training programs may also benefit from a goodness of fit approach when it comes to intervention design and intervention selection. Currently there is an apparent trend for social skills interventions to be designed and evaluated for specific diagnostic populations (e.g., ADHD, ASD, LDs, FASD). This is often done based on the assumption that these populations will "require modifications to assessment and treatment" (Matson et al., 2017, p.7) and appears to be in opposition to the call made by several researchers for interventions to be selected and informed by knowledge of functional needs of the individual requiring supports (assessment to inform intervention on an individual level) (e.g., Gresham, 1981, see also Cordier et al., 2015; Elliott & Gresham, 2008; Gumpel, 2007; Lerner & White, 2015; Maag, 2005; Walker et al., 2004) thereby calling for a "goodness of fit" between the chosen intervention and the participant. On the surface, social skills interventions targeting specific diagnostic

populations may be viewed as beneficial as it can help streamline intervention selection (e.g., all individuals with social skills difficulties and ADHD receive intervention X). However, this approach does not guarantee alignment between an individual's functional needs and intervention goals, as diagnostic groups (e.g., ASD, FASD, ADHD) are known to display high levels of heterogeneity as well as comorbidity (e.g., Aduen et al., 2018; Dajani et al., 2016). Designing and selecting interventions based on an individual's diagnosis may therefore lead to a misalignment between their identified needs and the intervention goals which has been identified as a common problem for social skills interventions (e.g., Bellini et al 2007; Kilgus et al 2015; Maag, 2006; Schoenfeld et al., 2008). This is important to consider as misalignment is said to impact the overall effectiveness and generalizability of the intervention (Maag, 2006).

Furthermore, intervention specification based on diagnosis may also limit the intervention options available for teens even further as many of the interventions available are geared towards and evaluated for individuals with an ASD diagnosis (Lanovaz et al., 2017). An intervention for adolescents with ASD may also be beneficial for an individual with an alternate diagnosis depending on their identified needs and the intervention goals. There is limited research available examining the potential impact of a goodness of fit approach to intervention selection. First steps in examining this approach would be to explore the use of a social skills intervention with a group of participants with identified social skills difficulties (rather than recruit based on diagnosis) and to learn about potential commonalities and differences in social skills profiles for these participants. Further research on whether a single social skills intervention can support adolescents with social skills needs regardless of a shared diagnosis is therefore warranted.

Research Questions

In response to these identified challenges, this current research aims to explore the concepts of engagement, underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities, and "goodness of fit" for social skills interventions with adolescents with identified social skills difficulty. This was done by analyzing data collected from 10 adolescents with third party identified social skills difficulties who participated in a video game based social skills intervention. Three specific research questions are examined with the intent of providing further information to support adolescents with social skills difficulties.

Research Question 1

What is the level of engagement measured for adolescents who participated in the video game intervention? Based on previous research advocating for the use of video games as intervention platforms due to expected increases in engagement (e.g., Georgeson et al., 2020), high levels of engagement for the participants in this study (as measured by their attendance levels, intervention completion, and participation in tasks) are expected.

Research Question 2

What are the characteristics of the group of participants who engaged in the intervention? The participants enrolled in this research study were selected based on third party identified social skills difficulties (by caregiver or school personnel) regardless of diagnosis. As a result, the participant group is not as homogeneous as is often seen for social skills interventions. Typically, social skills interventions are provided to participants from the same diagnostic populations and some commonalities in strengths and weaknesses can be assumed. The same can not be assumed for the group of participants in this study and it is therefore important to understand the social skills strengths and needs (or social skills profile) of this

group. This recruitment approach was chosen with the aim to improve information about the use of a social skills intervention based on an individual's identified needs rather than based on diagnosis alone. As a result, it is important to examine and explore the participants' preintervention profiles to establish commonalities and potential differences in their overall profiles.

It is hypothesized, based on the selection criteria for this study, that all participants will show deficits in social skills as measured by the SSIS. Furthermore, based on the research emphasizing the link between underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities and the development of social skills, it is hypothesized that the participants in this study will show deficits in at least one measured cognitive and/or socio-emotional ability. This will thereby provide some evidence for the role of these underlying abilities and the need to target them as training constructs in intervention programs. No further a priori hypotheses were made due to the exploratory nature of the research question.

Research Question 3

Is there evidence of change after participation in the intervention? More specifically, (a) is there evidence of change in social skills and/or problem behaviors post-intervention, (b) is there evidence of change in sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, or emotion regulation (as measured in this study) after participation in the intervention, and (c) are there differences between participant baseline profiles (compiled by information obtained from social skills and underlying cognitive and socio-emotional assessments) and if so, are these differences associated with changes post-intervention?

Engagement is critical for interventions; however, the overall goal is to instill change in social skills. Based on the research linking cognitive and socio-emotional abilities to social skills (e.g. Cordier et al., 2015; Soto-Icasa et al., 2015; Ross et al., 2018), in addition to the research

showing evidence for the use of video games as an intervention platform (e.g., Hopkins et al., 2011; Stasiak et al., 2014; Wegrzyn et al., 2012; Wols et al., 2018), it was hypothesized that evidence of change would be found for participants in overall social skills as measured by the SSIS self and caregiver reports. Specifically, social behaviors (including communication, cooperation, assertion, responsibility, empathy, engagement, and self-control) were expected to increase post intervention while problem behaviors (bullying, externalizing, internalizing, hyperactivity/inattention), which are said to interfere with acceptable social behaviors, were hypothesized to decrease. Furthermore, evidence of change was expected for all measured underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities as these were targeted in the intervention. This included expected improvements in measured sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation.

Study Design

This study is exploratory in nature and aims to answer three related yet distinct research questions. Within intervention research it is common for exploratory studies to adopt a formal evaluative design (using an RCT design) (Hallingberg et al., 2018). The goal of these exploratory studies is typically to investigate the concepts of feasibility, intervention refinement, and to ultimately provide evidence and guidance for a full evaluation of the intervention. As a result, several research questions are often asked and answered in these studies, requiring a potential variety of research approaches.

For this current study, descriptive research is used to help define the characteristics of the participant group which is important for future implementations of the intervention. Descriptive statistics are also used to study the concept of participant engagement within the new intervention design. Furthermore, a pre-post design is used to examine the participant data

collected before and after the completion of the intervention. Due to the early stages of this exploratory work, no control is included for this current study.

Method

Procedure

This study is a continuation of a previous study through the University of Alberta for which ethics approval was sought and granted by the institutional review board. The recruitment phase for this study continued from the recruitment efforts made during the initial implementation of the study (see Chapter 3). This included the research information being distributed to participating local and provincial organizations providing services to individuals and families with FASD and participants being recruited through this snowball sample. Participants who enrolled in the study based on these recruitment efforts completed the intervention sessions from their home.

The recruitment process for this current study was broadened to expand beyond adolescents with an FASD diagnosis. To do so, a research request application was submitted to a local school district in Alberta. Once the proposal was accepted, a team of school administrative staff was provided with criteria to select potential participants. These criteria included the age of the participants to be between 11 and 18 years, observed social skills deficits by the school staff, as well as any diagnosis (e.g., FASD, ADHD, depression). Exclusionary criteria were provided as individuals with ASD as well as youth with significant traumatic brain injuries were not allowed to participate in the study. Participants who enrolled in the study based on these recruitment efforts completed the intervention sessions at school during class time.

Prior to the start of the intervention the participants completed pre-testing and caregivers were asked to complete a demographics questionnaire as well as one rating scale. Upon completing the pre-testing, the adolescents received a \$10 iTunes gift cards. The school participants then completed the intervention by playing one session per week. The participants who played from home completed the intervention in a condensed format and engaged in two sessions per week. After the intervention, caregivers were asked to complete the rating scale again and they were provided with a \$25 gift card to Indigo. Post-testing was also completed for the participants, and they received another \$10 iTunes gift card upon completing this second round of testing.

Participants

Eight participants were originally selected by the school administrators through the recruitment process in the school system. One of the participants did not meet the inclusionary criteria and pre-testing was only therefore completed for the remaining seven participants, between the ages of 11 and 14, and their caregivers.

After the school participants completed the intervention, three participants between the ages of 11 and 16 and with a FASD diagnosis were recruited using the snowball sample efforts described above. This method allowed interested caregivers to contact the research team and the participants were recruited into the intervention based on having a diagnosis of FASD in addition to difficulties with social functioning as reported by their caregiver (see Table 4.1 for a breakdown).

Setting

The intervention was provided to participants in two different settings (see Table 4.1). The first two groups were recruited through the school system and engaged in the study on school property. The school group was comprised of seven participants, split up in a group of four and a group of three. This was done as the capacity of game play allowed up to four participants in the intervention at a time. The composition of the two groups was created in collaboration with school personnel as they made suggestions for groupings based on assumptions about potential group dynamics and participant availability.

Within the school, the participants were spread out across different empty offices and classrooms to create a private space for them to participate in the intervention without outside distraction.

Table 4.1

Participant	Setting	Gender	Ethnicity	Age	Diagnosis	Caregiver	Global IQ ^a
104	School – Group 1	Male	Caucasian	12	ADD/ADHD, Anxiety, Tourette's Syndrome, ODD	Biological Parent	105
105	School – Group 1	Male	Caucasian	13	ADD/ADHD, Anxiety	Biological Parent	129
106	School – Group 1	Male	Caucasian	12	ADD/ADHD, Anxiety, PTSD	Biological Parent	90
107	School – Group 1	Male	Caucasian	11	Depression, Anxiety	Biological Parent	117
108	School – Group 2	Female	Caucasian/ Metis	11	ADD/ADHD, ODD	Biological Parent	110
109	School – Group 2	Male	Caucasian	11	ADD/ADHD, Depression, Anxiety	Biological Parent	124
110	School – Group 2	Male	Caucasian	11	Mild Cognitive Learning Disorder	Biological Parent	72
111	Home	Male	Caucasian	12	FASD, ADD/ADHD, Depression, Anxiety, Bi-Polar	Adoptive Grandparent	97
112	Home	Female	First Nation	16	FASD	Foster Parent	87
113	Home	Female	Caucasian	16	FAS, ADD/ADHD	Adoptive Relative	86

Participant Characteristics

^aas measured by the WRIT (Glutting et al., 2000)

In addition to the school participants, the three participants, who played the video game in their own homes, were in different areas throughout Alberta, Canada. Within their homes, they were asked to find a private space with limited distractors (e.g., home office or bedroom). As these three individuals participated in the intervention during summer break, two of the participants completed some of the intervention sessions while being away from their home and played the game in a tent or trailer.

Intervention

The participants were asked to partake in a video game based social skills intervention. This intervention was initially designed for adolescents with FASD and aimed to train five underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities including sustained attention, inhibition, metacognition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation, as these are commonly impacted abilities within the FASD population. However, after a detailed examination of the available literature and the gaps in available social skills interventions, the decision was made to apply the specifically designed intervention to the general population of adolescents with social skills difficulties and to test its efficacy with this group. This generalization in the use of the intervention is thought possible due to the overlap in commonly identified underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities across a variety of diagnoses commonly found in adolescents (e.g., ADHD, FASD, Anxiety, Depression; see Chapter 3).

The videogame itself was developed using the Unreal Engine 4 and requires the participants to work together as secret agents to solve crimes and apprehend criminals. To do so, the participants must engage in gamified tasks that expose the players to one or more of the underlying abilities mentioned above. The intervention includes six sessions or what are referred to as "missions" for the team to complete. Each of the missions is designed to build on the previous one in terms of storyline and difficulty level. At the onset of the mission, the team of participants receives their mission objectives from the commander, who is a member of the research team virtually present to moderate and monitor the game play. At the end of the mission, the commander also provides feedback to the team about their completed mission and provides reminders for the upcoming session.

Measures

The measures included in this study were chosen based on careful examination of the available literature on social skills development and assessment and aim to provide a comprehensive overview of the participants social skills in addition to the underlying cognitive and socioemotional abilities included in this study. Additional measures were included due to the exploratory nature of the study, to help provide more background information about the participants specifically regarding factors that could be important to social skills functioning (e.g., language development; Beauchamp & Anderson, 2010; Kully-Martens et al., 2012). Furthermore, resources and costs were also considered a factor when deciding on the measures to allow for increased feasibility and replications in non-research settings.

Demographic Questionnaire

Caregivers completed a brief researcher-constructed demographic form to collect background information about the participant's as well as the caregiver, marital status, level of education, occupation, and household income bracket. In addition to general participant information, this questionnaire also included six questions related to early language development and current language abilities adapted from the Alberta Language and Development Questionnaire (ALDeQ; Paradis et al., 2010).

Wide Range Intelligence Test (WRIT)

The WRIT (Glutting et al., 2000) provides a brief and reliable measure of verbal and nonverbal cognitive abilities for individuals ages four to 85. A total score is provided for an estimate general IQ in addition to scores for verbal (crystallized) IQ and visual (fluid) IQ (M = 100; SD = 15). Internal consistency reliability (.84-.90 for main scales) test-retest reliability (>.90), and inter-rater reliability (.98 to .99) for the main WRIT scales is high. Examination of the psychometric properties also shows acceptable construct, concurrent, and predictive validity (WISC-III, 0.90 and WRAT; .36 to .64) (Glutting et al., 2000). This measure was only provided to participants during the pre-testing phase.

Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating System

The SSIS is one of the most used social skills assessments and can be utilized with individuals ages three to 18 (Gresham & Elliot, 2008). Separate rating scales exist for self-report, teacher, and caregiver report and all three aim to collect information regarding an individual's social skills and associated problem behaviors. The Social Skills Scale consists of seven social behaviors including self-control, responsibility, cooperation, communication, empathy, and assertion (Gresham & Elliot, 2008). The Problem Behavior Scale examines the areas of externalizing, internalizing, bullying, and hyperactivity/inattention. The caregiver report includes an additional subscale assessing for autism spectrum behaviors. To complete the SSIS, the informant rates both the frequency with which a social behavior has been exhibited (never, seldom, often, or almost always) as well as the perceived importance of each of these behaviors (not important, important, critical) (Gresham & Elliot, 2008).

For this study, the multiple informant approach was applied using both self-report and caregiver report. Included in the analyses are the Social Skills (M = 100, SD = 15) and Problem

Behavior Scales which are composite scores (M = 100, SD = 15) based on a large representative US sample (N = 4700; Gresham & Elliot, 2008). Furthermore, raw score data obtained from the associated subscales are also used in some of the analyses and standard deviations and means were obtained for each of these scales from the SSIS manual (Gresham & Elliot, 2008). Overall, research indicates overall high levels of internal consistency reliability are found across the different scales and subscales (ranging between .75 and .98). Medium test-retest reliability was also found across both the parent and the self-report measure (ranging from .59 to .81) (Demaray et al., 1995; Gresham & Elliott, 2008).

Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (DKEFS)

The D-KEFS (Delis et al., 2001) is a normed measure of executive functions such as problem-solving, planning, cognitive flexibility, and inhibition, and can be used with individuals ages eight to 89. The DKEFS is normed on a large, non-clinical, and representative US sample and provides scaled scores for each subtest with lower scores signifying poorer performance (M = 10, SD = 3). For the purposes of this study, the Color-Word Interference Test (CWIT) was used to provide information about the participants' pre and post inhibition performance. The CWIT is a subtest of verbal inhibition and is comprised on four parts including color naming, word reading, inhibition, and inhibition/switching. Only the inhibition test was used for analyses in this study; however, it should be noted that a score can not be obtained for the inhibition component of the test if a participant has made several errors in previous parts that exceed a provided limit. Moderate to high split-half reliability (0.62-0.86), and test-retest reliability have been determined for the CWIT (Homack et al., 2005).

Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd Edition (CPT-3)

The Conners CPT-3 is a computerised assessment of attention-related difficulties in individuals ages eight years and older. Test administration requires participants to respond to letters displayed on a computer screen, except for the letter X, by pressing on the space bar which provides information about inattentiveness, impulsivity, sustained attention, and vigilance. Obtained raw scores are converted to t-sores based on a normative sample (Conners, 2014; M =50, SD = 10). The third edition of this test is normed on representative US sample (N = 1400). An examination of the psychometric properties shows high internal consistency (.92 - .94) and moderate test-retest reliability (.67) (Conners, 2014).

The only score obtained from the CPT3 used in the analyses of this study is the Hit Reaction Time Block Change (HRT Block Change) which measures change in reaction time across the duration of the test (Conners, 2014). A low score on this measure suggests that responses became quicker as the test progressed which would suggest that the participant was able to sustain their attention. A high score on the other hand suggests a slowing of reaction time and is said to indicate difficulties with sustained attention (Conners, 2014).

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale – Short Form (DERS-SF)

The DERS-SF (Kaufman et al., 2016) is a short version of the DERS (Gratz & Roemer, 2004), a widely used self-report measure for assessing emotion regulation problems among adolescents and adults. This shortened instrument maintains the excellent psychometric properties (ranging between .79 and .91) and retains the total and subscale scores of the original measure with 18 items (Kaufman et al., 2016). The shorter version was chosen over the original measure to limit the demands placed on participants. Participants were asked to rate their regulation abilities related to six subscales including 1) non-acceptance or negative reactions to

emotions, 2) engaging in goal-oriented behavior, 3) controlling impulsive behavior, 4) emotional awareness, 5) ability to cope with negative emotions (strategies), and 6) lack of clarity about one's emotions, using a 5-point likert scale (Kaufman et al., 2016). A score is provided for each of the subscales as well as a Total Score for overall emotion regulation with a high score indicating more difficulties.

The DERS-SF is not a normed measure; however, some psychometric properties have been reported in several validation studies specifically validating the DERS-SF for the adolescent population. Some difficulties have been noted for some of the subscales related to the original DERS as well as the DERS-SF and as a result only the Total Average Score was used for analyses in this current study following a recommendation made by Charak and colleagues (2019). Kaufman and colleagues reported a Cronbach's alpha and standard deviation of 0.91 and 0.79 respectively (2016) and a similar number was found in a recent validation study ($\alpha = 0.90$; Skutch et al., 2019).

Reading the Mind in the Eyes: Child (RMEC)

The original RME was developed to assess theory of mind abilities in adults and was adapted for use with children in 2001 (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001). The measure exists of 28 photographs of individuals' eyes, participants are then asked to identify the inner affective and cognitive states of the portrayed people. A raw score is then comprised of the number of correctly identified emotions. Several researchers have published on the psychometric properties of the adult version of the RME (adequate levels of internal consistency and overall validity; Olderbak et al., 2015); however, limited information is available regarding the validity and reliability for the child version. A validity study for the use of the RME with children showed a mean correct score of 17.8 with a standard deviation of 3.5 (Müller et al., 2014). Internal consistency was found to be low ($\alpha = 0.53$), and results obtained in this study should therefore be considered with caution.

Planned analyses

All data was entered into SPSS Version 27 and several analyses were planned to answer the three outlined research questions. Descriptive statistics were conducted to describe demographic variable and data of interest in this study.

In order to answer the first research question, descriptive statistics on time spent in the intervention, attendance rates, and task completion, were used.

For the second research question, pre-intervention characterization of the participants' social skills profile was completed using descriptive statistics of social skills, cognitive and socio-emotional abilities.

For the third research question, paired t-tests were conducted in SPSS version 27. Assumptions of normality were checked and met for most of the analyses ran using Shapiro-Wilk. However, the assumption of normality was not met for the subscale externalizing on the SSIS self-report (W (9) = 0.749, p = 0.005) as well as the Bullying subscale for the SSIS Caregiver-report (W (7) = 0.710, p = 0.005). Caution should therefore be paid when interpreting the results for these two subscales. Furthermore, a Bonferroni correction was applied to results obtained from the paired t-tests due to the multiple analyses made.

In addition to the paired t-tests, individual analyses of the change observed post intervention was also completed due to the small and heterogeneous population used for this study. These individual analyses aim to add information about potential clinically relevant change and was completed using the Jacobson and Truax's (1991) Reliable Change Index criteria. Therefore, a change score on the outcome measures was considered a reliable change if it exceeded the standard error of the measure. Similarly, to the paired t-tests, this individual analysis approach was applied to all outcome measures collected in this study (social skills, problem behaviors, sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking and emotion regulation). Lastly, examination of the change scores based on baseline profiles was conducted using independent t-tests on the change scores between groups.

Results

Research Question 1: What is the level of engagement measured for adolescents who participated in the video game intervention?

To answer the first research question, descriptive data was collected on the adolescents' engagement with the intervention. This was done by measuring the time spent in the intervention, the attendance rates, and the number of intervention tasks completed by the participants. This information was gathered per group (school 1, school 2, and the participant group who played from home; see Table 4.2).

This analysis shows that all 10 participants completed the intervention with all of the intervention tasks being completed by all of the participants throughout all of the six intervention sessions. Furthermore, the data shows that the participants engaged in the intervention play for an average of 23 minutes per session (Range = 14 to 35 minutes). It should be noted that this refers only to the time engaged in actual game play. The participants often engaged with the intervention (talk to other participants and research staff) prior to the start of the mission to get the video game started and to sort out any technical difficulties. This time ahead of the intervention was not consistently measured as it was variable for the participants and at times included restarts of computers for participants and researchers to ensure optimal functioning of the game.

Lastly, attendance rates show an overall attendance of 91.67% and attendance was high across all three different groups. The attendance rate was higher for the two school-based groups as compared to the participants who completed the intervention from home.

Table 4.2

Quantitative Engagement Data

Setting	Average play time per	Attendance rate	Participation in
	session (in minutes)	(%)	Tasks (%)
School Group 1 ($n = 4$)	27 (range = 17-35)	95.83%	100%
School Group 2 ($n = 3$)	22 (range = 14-31)	94.44%	100%
Home $(n = 3)$	22 (range=19-28)	83.33 %	100%
Total $(n = 10)$	23 minutes	91.67%	100%

Research Question 2: What are the characteristics of the group of participants who engaged in the intervention?

To answer this research question, an exploration of the descriptive statistics related to the participants' social skills data was conducted (Table 4.3). This showed that 60% (n = 10) of participants were identified either, through self- or caregiver report, to struggle with social skills (based on a standard score of < 85). Agreement between self- and caregiver reported social skills deficit was found for only one participant. None of the participants were identified to show any social skill strengths as measured by the SSIS. The SSIS data also shows that Problem Behavior difficulties are noted for 100% (n = 10) of the participants as reported through either self- or caregiver report (or both n = 3) (see Table 4.3). An examination of the above average identified subscales included in the Problem Behavior showed that seven caregivers noted concerns related to internalizing behaviors, six identified hyperactivity/inattention as a concern, and five reported concerns for externalizing, bullying and autism spectrum behaviors. For the self report, the most frequently noted problem behavior was externalizing (n = 5), followed by

hyperactivity/inattention (n = 4) and internalizing (n = 4) and only two participant self-disclosed

bullying behaviors (see Table 4.4).

Table 4.3

Participant	Social Skills Scale	Problem Behavior	Social Skills Scale	Problem Behaviors
	Score – Self	Scale – Self	Score – Caregiver	Scale-Caregiver
104	107	99	103	126 ^a
105	92	124 ^a	-	-
106	83 ^a	111	90	130 ^a
107	90	130 ^a	92	122 ^a
108	67 ^a	126 ^a	67 ^a	139 ^a
109	88	141 ^a	64 ^a	154 ^a
110	110	142 ^a	-	-
111	-	-	74 ^a	149 ^a
112	89	96	76 ^a	129 ^a
113	93	96	73 ^a	160 ^a

Overview of SSIS Self and Caregiver Report

^a represents an area of difficulty as defined by the SSIS measure.

Table 4.4

Number of Reports of Above Average rated Problem Behavior Subscales Pre-Intervention

SSIS Subscale	Self-Report $(n = 9)$	Caregiver Report $(n = 8)$
Externalizing	5	5
Bullying	2	5
Hyperactivity/Inattention	4	6
Internalizing	7	4
Autism Spectrum	-	5

An examination of the data collected pre-intervention on the participants' sustained

attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation abilities shows variability across the participant group (See Table 4.5). Despite this variability, 70% (n = 7) of participants showed one or more deficits (as defined as 1 SD below Average) in at least one of the identified four underlying cognitive/socio-emotional areas of sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation. Two participants within this group of seven, showed a deficit across two underlying abilities. Emotion regulation difficulties were more frequently noted for the participants as 40% showed higher than average levels of dysregulation. For one participant, a score could not be computed for emotion regulation due to skipped items on the questionnaire. In addition, a CWIT score could not be computed for three participants due to high error rates in their completion of the task.

Table 4.5

Participant	Sustained attention	Inhibition	Perspective Taking	Emotion Regulation
	(HRT block Change)	(CWIT)	(Total RMEC score)	(Total DERS)
104	36	11	17	1.28
105	63 ^a	11	20	2.39
106	60 ^a	-	23	3.17 ^a
107	59	-	21	3.88 ^a
108	52	9	22	2.22
109	53	14	15	3.67 ^a
110	33	-	7 ^a	3.56 ^a
111	49	5 ^a	21	-
112	52	5 ^a	22	2.50
113	46	8	22	2.11

Overview of Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities

^a represents an area of difficulty defined as 1 SD Below Average

Characterization of this group of participants therefore shows that the main difficulty identified appears to be related to problem behaviors (100%), followed by identified difficulties with social skills (60%), and emotion regulation concerns (40%).

Research Question 3: Is there evidence of change after participation in the intervention? More specifically, (a) is there evidence of change in social skills and/or problem behaviors post-intervention, (b) is there evidence of change in sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, or emotion regulation (as measured in this study) after participation in the intervention, and (c)

are there differences in participant baseline profiles and if so, are these differences associated with changes post-intervention?

Evidence of Change on the SSIS

Paired sample *t*-tests were conducted to examine the pre- and post- data collected from all 10 participants for evidence of change in social behavior as measured by the Social Skills Scale and associated subscales (communication, cooperation, assertation, responsibility, empathy, engagement, and self-control) on the SSIS. In addition, a change in problem behavior was also assessed through the Problem Behavior Scale and associated subscales (externalizing, bullying, hyperactivity/inattention, internalizing, and autism spectrum disorder). Both self-report as well as caregiver report data was used. Due to the high number of comparisons and the small sample size (nine participants for the self-report and seven for caregiver report) a Bonferroni correction was applied. As a result, the level of significance is set at 0.0038 (0.05/13) for the self-report data and 0.0036 (0.05/14) for caregiver report. The exploration of change in social skills post intervention as reported by the participants themselves showed no significant change on either the social skills or problem behaviors scales (see Table 4.6). In addition, no significant change was detected on any of the subscales.

An examination of individual change scores was conducted to provide further information about the potential individual change for each of the participations. Using the Jacobson and Truax (1991) criteria for reliable change, eight participants remained unchanged in terms of their reported social skills and problem behaviors (see Table. 4.7). One participant reported a reliable improvement in their reported problem behaviors and another participant noted a deterioration of social skills post-intervention.

Table 4.6

Scale	Mean Pre- Test	Mean Post-Test	Significant change at 0.0038
Social Skills Scale Composite	91.00	87.33	No (p = .125)
Communication	12.56	11.67	No (<i>p</i> = .312)
Cooperation	12.44	12.33	No (<i>p</i> = .834)
Assertion	11.67	10.33	No (<i>p</i> = .257)
Responsibility	12.44	12.44	No $(p = 1)$
Empathy	13.11	12.44	No (<i>p</i> = .169)
Engagement	12.56	10.78	No (<i>p</i> = .028)
Self-Control	9.89	9.44	No (<i>p</i> = .498)
Problem Behavior Scale Composite	118.33	113.22	No (<i>p</i> = .166)
Externalizing	14.89	13.11	No (<i>p</i> = .280)
Bullying	4.33	3.11	No ($p = .005$)
Hyperactivity/Inattention	10.67	9.44	No (<i>p</i> = .367)
Internalizing	15.67	13.56	No (<i>p</i> = .169)

Summary of Paired T-tests SSIS Self-Report N = 9

Table 4.7

RCI Summary	of SSIS Sel	f-Report
	- , ,	

Participant	SSIS Social Skills Reliable Change	SSIS Problem Behavior Reliable
	at 1.96	Change at 1.96
104	No (RCI = 0.38)	No (RCI = -1.1)
105	No (RCI = 0.86)	No $(RCI = 0)$
106	No (RCI = -0.76)	No (RCI = 1.26)
107	No (RCI = 0.76)	No (RCI = -1.57)
108	No ($RCI = 0.19$)	No (RCI = 0.16)
109	No $(RCI = -1.34)$	Yes $(RCI = -3.93)$
110	No (RCI = -0.57)	No (RCI = -1.89)
111	-	- -
112	No (RCI = -0.86)	No (RCI = 1.07)
113	Yes ($RCI = -3.86$)	No (RCI = -1.29)

Similar to the self-report data, an exploration of the caregiver-report data collected preand post-intervention using paired t-tests also showed no significant change in either social skills or problem behaviors nor for any of the related subscales (see Table 4.8).

Table 4.8

Scale	Mean Pre-	Mean Post-	Significant change at
	Test	Test	0.0038
Social Skills Scale Composite	78.43	74.57	No $(p = .310)$
Communication	13.29	11.29	No (<i>p</i> = .162)
Cooperation	9.00	9.14	No (<i>p</i> = .788)
Assertion	11.43	10.86	No (<i>p</i> = .457)
Responsibility	10.29	9.42	No (<i>p</i> = .270)
Empathy	11.14	10.57	No (<i>p</i> = .611)
Engagement	9.43	9.71	No $(p = .805)$
Self-Control	8.29	6.43	No (<i>p</i> = .102)
Problem Behavior Scale Composite	139.86	138.86	No (<i>p</i> = .787)
Externalizing	17.14	15.86	No ($p = .336$)
Bullying	4.14	4.14	No (<i>p</i> = 1.00)
Hyperactivity/Inattention	11.57	11.57	No (<i>p</i> = 1.00)
Internalizing	16.57	17.00	No (<i>p</i> = .800)
Autism Spectrum	19.57	20.00	No (<i>p</i> = .706)

Summary of Paired T-tests of SSIS Caregiver Report N = 7

An analysis of the individual change showed that five caregivers reported unchanged social skills for the participants and deterioration was noted for two participants (see Table 4.9). For the problem behaviors scale, four caregiver reports showed no change, while two caregivers noted deterioration, and one showed improvement through a reduction of the problem behaviors.

Table 4.9

Participant	SSIS Social Skills Reliable Change at	SSIS Problem Behavior Reliable
	1.96	Change at 1.96
104	Yes ($RCI = -3.77$)	No (RCI = -0.98)
105	-	-
106	-	-
107	No (RCI = 1.18)	No (RCI = -1.77)
108	No (RCI = 1.18)	Yes ($RCI = 1.964$)
109	No (RCI = -0.94))	No (RCI = 0.39)
110	-	-
111	Yes (RCI = -4.01)	Yes ($RCI = 1.964$)
112	No (RCI = 0.24)	No (RCI = 0.00)
113	No (RCI = -0.24)	Yes ($RCI = -3.31$)

RCI Summary of SSIS Caregiver-Report

Evidence of Change in Underlying Abilities

After the analyses for the social skills and problem behavior data was completed, the same process of analysis was applied to examine evidence of change in the underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities including sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation after participation in the intervention. For the paired sample t-tests, a Bonferroni correction was applied and set at 0.0125 (0.05/4). Using this correction, the results of these paired t-tests, showed no significant change in sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, or emotion regulation (see Table 4.10).

Table 4.10

Summary of paired T-tests for Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities

Underlying Abilities	Measure	Ν	Mean	Mean	Significant
			Pre-Test	Post-Test	change at 0.0125
Sustained Attention	CPT3 HRT Block	10	50.30	49.40	No $(p = 0.924)$
	Change				
Inhibition	DKEFS CWIT	6	9.67	10.50	No (<i>p</i> = 0.042)
Perspective Taking	RMEC Total Correct	10	19	20	No (<i>p</i> = 0.252)
Emotion Regulation	DERS Total Average	9	2.75	2.57	No (<i>p</i> = 0.304)

An examination of individual change scores was conducted to provide further

information about the potential individual change for each participant (see Table 4.11). All participants remained unchanged on the measures of perspective taking and inhibition according to the Jacobson and Truax criteria (1991). Seven participants remained unchanged for emotion regulation while one participant deteriorated and one improved post intervention. Lastly, on the measure of sustained attention, three participants remained unchanged, three participants deteriorated, and four participants improved.

Table 4.11

Participant	Sustained Attention	Inhibition	Perspective Taking	Emotion
1				Regulation
	CPT3 HRT Block	DKEES CWIT	RMEC Total Correct	DERS Total
		DIGLISCWII		
	Change			Average
104	Yes ($RCI = 7.95$)	No (RCI = 0.75)	No (RCI = -1.47)	No (RCI = 0.99)
105	Yes (RCI = -10.16)	No (RCI = 0.75)	No (RCI = 0.88)	Yes (RCI = 1.99)
106	Yes (RCI = -4.42)	-	No (RCI = 0.59)	No (RCI = -1.66)
107	Yes (RCI = -4.64)	-	No (RCI = 0.29)	No (RCI = -1.66)
108	Yes (RCI = 4.20)	No (RCI = 0.75)	No (RCI = 0.59)	No (RCI = 0.166)
109	Yes (RCI = -4.20)	No (RCI = 0.00)	No (RCI = 1.18)	No (RCI = -0.50)
110	Yes (RCI = 11.27)	-	No (RCI = 0.88)	Yes (RCI = -2.32)
111	No (RCI = -1.10)	-	No (RCI = -0.29)	-
112	No (RCI = -1.10)	No (RCI = 0.00)	No (RCI = 0.29)	No (RCI = -0.83)
113	No (RCI = 0.22)	No (RCI = 1.49)	No (RCI = 0.00)	No (RCI = -0.33)

RCI Summary of Underlying Cognitive and Socio-Emotional Abilities ($RCI \ge 1.96$)

Evidence of Change based on Participant Profiles

The descriptive statistics examined in research question 2 showed several differences in the baseline profiles obtained for the participants. Notable was the difference in reported social skills difficulties as only six out of the ten participants were identified either through self report or caregiver report to show difficulties with overall social skills (SSIS Social Skills Scale <85).

The other four participants showed no overall social skills difficulties as measured by the SSIS self- or caregiver-report.

Independent sample t-tests were therefore conducted to determine if there was a significant intervention effect when comparing the social skills difficulties group to the no social skills difficulties group on the outcome measures assessing for social behaviors, problem behaviors, sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation (see Table 4.12). No significant differences were found between the social skills difficulties group (n = 6) and the no social skills difficulties group (n = 4) on the social skills or problem behavior scale nor on any of the underlying cognitive and socio-emotional measures.

Table 4.12

Variable	Mean Change (SD)	Significance difference at 0.05
SSIS Social Skills Scale- Self		No $(p = 0.166)$
SSD group	-6.40 (7.09)	
No SSD group	-0.25 (3.86)	
SSIS Social Skills Scale- Caregiver		No $(p = 0.795)$
SSD group	-3.20 (8.38)	
No SSD group	-5.50 (14.85)	
SSIS Problem Behavior Scale – Self		No $(p = 0.603)$
SSD Group	-3.40 (13.16)	
No SSD Group	-7.25 (5.25)	
SSIS Problem Behavior Scale – Caregiver		No $(p = 0.327)$
SSD Group	1.40 (10.24)	
No SSD Group	-7.00 (2.83)	
CPT-3 HRT Block		No $(p = 0.704)$
SSD group	-4.83 (14.37)	
No SSD group	5.00 (46.02)	
D-KEFS CWIT		No $(p = 0.745)$
SSD group	0.75 (0.96)	
No SSD group	1.00 (0.00)	
RMEC Total Correct		No $(p = 0.859)$
SSD group	1.33 (1.75)	
No SSD group	0.50 (3.79)	
DERS Total Average		No $(p = 0.645)$
SSD group	-0.21 (0.23)	

Independent T-test Results

Discussion

This study explored the concepts of engagement and social skills change for adolescents with social skills difficulties using a video game based social skills intervention. More specifically three goals of the study were outlined at the onset. First, the goal was to learn about the impact of the video game intervention on engagement for adolescents. Second, this study aimed to provide information about an implementation of a single social skills intervention, aimed at training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities, with a group of adolescent participants with potentially different social skills needs and to learn about the potential commonalities and differences in social skills needs for these participants. Lastly, preliminary evidence was sought for indications of change as a result of training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities mithin the intervention. Despite the limitation faced in this study due to the exploratory nature, there are some valuable lessons learned that will add to the field of social skills literature.

Engagement

The quantitative engagement data collected and analyzed as part of this study provided some preliminary evidence in support of using video games to help engage adolescents in intervention work. All participants enrolled in the study completed the six intervention sessions and showed high levels of engagement throughout (as measured by the number of tasks completed). This finding is important to consider based on previous research estimating intervention drop out rates for adolescents to be as high as 28 to 75 percent (deHaan et al., 2013).

Overall high attendance was also found across all three groups of participants; however, slightly lower attendance was recorded for the participants who engaged in the intervention from

home. This could potentially be attributed to the fact that this group of participants was enrolled in the intervention over summer vacation, and this led to some participants being unavailable during scheduled intervention sessions. Furthermore, this may also speak to the benefit of providing interventions to adolescents in a school setting. Known benefits of school-based interventions also include reduced costs and time commitments for families, as well as increased potential for student engagement (Paulus et al., 2016). However, when interventions occur in the school system, it may be more difficult to engage caregivers and it is often difficult to secure a physical space within the school (Paulus et al., 2016). The research presented in this study showed preliminary evidence for the use of a video game based social skills intervention in the school system. Despite some identified difficulties in terms of finding appropriate spaces to run the intervention, the study showed that the video game intervention was run during school hours with the support of school administrators and engagement of students. These promising results suggest that further research on feasibility of using video game-based interventions from the home and the school environment is needed.

The overall high quantitative engagement results are hypothesized to be due to the engaging nature of video games as well as the shared experience of a group or team-based intervention. Video games are proposed as a potential platform for interventions based on previous research providing evidence for increased engagement and participant motivation for video-game based learning compared to traditional educational methods (e.g., Huizenga et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2017). The findings presented in this paper provide preliminary evidence that a similar trend may be applicable to social skills interventions and further research is therefore warranted.

Furthermore, engagement is said to be high for video games that include a social component or a multiplayer component (e.g., Kang et al., 2019; Siu et al., 2017). As the intervention used for this study relies on teamwork and cooperation for the game narrative but also for task completion it is likely that this aided the observed level of engagement for the participants. As a next step, researchers may want to further explore if observed levels of engagements for video game-based interventions differs for multiplayer versus single player games.

Participant Social Skills Characteristics

An analysis of the baseline profiles shows mixed results in terms of identified areas of need and strengths. All ten participants were identified with problem behaviors higher than average. However, 60 percent of participants were identified with social skills difficulties and 70 percent showed a deficit in one or more cognitive and socio-emotional abilities. Forty percent also noted difficulties with emotion regulation. These findings show that there was high diversity based on identified needs for the participants. Several participants shared one or more diagnoses, yet the overall baseline profile does not necessarily represent this. Taken together this provides preliminary evidence against the current methods of intervention selection and suggests that further research should be completed on best practices for this selection process.

Another important finding from this section includes the fact that despite social skills difficulties being a requirement for enrollment, 40 percent of the participants were not identified to have social skills difficulties through either self or caregiver report. However, this 40 percent was identified as having problem behaviors. This finding could suggest that difficulties with externalizing or internalizing behaviors can be mistaken for social skills difficulties by caregivers and/or teachers and highlights the need for more rigorous pre-testing prior to enrollment in an

intervention. The overlap between social competence and behavioral problems has been highlighted by previous research as children and adolescents with lower levels of social competence are known to display higher levels of problem behaviors and vice versa (e.g., Hukkelberg et al., 2019). Due to limited research in this area, the directionality and strength of this correlation is unknown. However, a meta-analysis on the topic does show that higher levels of inconsistencies in reporting of social skills difficulties versus problem behaviors are found when both caregiver and teacher reports are used (Hukkelberg et al., 2019). This is explained by the fact that caregiver tend to provide reports based on individual evaluations whereas teachers complete normative assessments (Hukkelberg et al., 2019). This may help explain some of the variance found in the current study as informal teacher report was used for recruitment purposes and caregiver report for assessment purposes. Furthermore, social skills are behaviors that are not guaranteed to be equal across context, suggesting that it is possible for an individual to show positive uses of social skills in one setting but not in another such as home versus school settings (Hukkelberg et al., 2019). Despite several unknowns surrounding the relation between social competence and behavioral problems, the meta-analysis completed by Hukkelberg and colleagues (2019) suggests that interventions aimed at either problem behaviors or social competence or social skills can have a positive impact on both constructs with the ultimate goal of improving the well-being of children and adolescents. Taken together these findings provide some potential explanations for the results in this current stuy while also highlighting the need for more research on how to best capture the overlap and differentiation between social skills difficulties and problem behaviors in intervention research.

Evidence of Change

An analysis of individual change using the Reliable Change Index showed mixed results as some participants remained unchanged, while others showed improvement and some deteriorated with no noticeable consistent pattern to analyse further. Notable are the four participants who improved on the measure of sustained attention as this is the largest group of improvements observed. Research in the field of recreational video games has shown a link between game play and visual attention skills with improvements noted for frequent "gamers" (e.g., Green & Bavelier, 2012; Spence & Feng, 2010). Although the relationship between video games and sustained attention specifically is not yet fully understood similar outcomes are expected (Trisolini et al., 2018). Therefore, the preliminary findings presented in this paper may provide potential evidence that sustained attention can improve after video game training.

In addition to the preliminary positive findings, it is also important to discuss the fact that deterioration was found for several participants on some of the outcome measures. Specifically, those found on the social skills self report may represent an important finding as the worsening of these behaviors could be corresponding to a response-shift bias (Drennan & Hyde, 2008). Response shift bias occurs when the reporters' internal frame of reference of the abilities measured changes between the pre- and post-tests due to influences associated with the intervention (Aiken & West, 1990; Drennan & Hyde, 2008). For this study this could mean that the participants' beliefs or awareness of their social skills changed as a result of participation in an intervention focussed on social skills improvements. Further investigations should include retrospective pre-testing to control for this type of bias (Drennan & Hyde, 2008).

Limitations and Future Research

Even though technology has been around for several decades and appears to have permeated much of daily life, the use of video games as intervention platforms continues to be viewed as a relatively novel idea. The current study does not only deviate from common social skills intervention based on the delivery platform but also in the chosen focus of training constructs. Rather than teaching direct social behaviors, underlying cognitive and socioemotional abilities were the focus of the intervention discussed in this study. This approach is supported by theory (e.g., Cordier et al., 2015; Soto-Icasa et al., 2015); however, limited research has been completed to date to show evidence. Furthermore, delivering a social skills intervention to a general group of adolescents with social difficulties rather than with a common shared diagnosis can also be viewed as uncommon. As a result of these novel concepts tested, the study presented here should be viewed as preliminary and exploratory. This limits the potential for generalizability of the current findings but provides rich information for future directions.

Future studies may want to explore additional method of assessing for intervention engagement through the collection of subjective data or what is referred to as attitudinal engagement (the participants' emotional investment in and commitment to the intervention; Lindsey et al., 2014; Perski et al., 2016). For this study, no information was collected on participants' commitment or interest in the intervention nor their attention level during game play. This means that while they appeared to be engaged in the intervention they could have been engaged in several other online activities or distracted by things in their environment, thereby lowering their attention to and ultimately engagement with the intervention.

Next, one of the goals of this study was to provide information about delivering the intervention to a general group of adolescents with social difficulties rather than a specific

diagnostic population and to learn about social skills needs for this more heterogenous group. Despite the limitations associated with the current study, the work presented here should be considered critical to any future research conducted examining the use of a goodness of fit approach to intervention design and selection. The findings presented here show shared common deficits in not only social skills or problem behaviors but also in cognitive and socio-emotional abilities across different diagnoses thereby highlighting the importance of a fit between intervention goals and identified needs. Any future research done in this area would benefit from more sensitive and normed measures to provide a more comprehensive individual profile of needs and strengths.

Another goal outlined at the onset of this study was to provide preliminary evidence for indications of change as a result of training underlying abilities rather than employing direct training methods to teach specific social behaviors. Uncovering information about potential change as a result of this new approach to social skills training was thought to be foundational to future research in this area. Although the data presented in this research is limited there were some identified trends of possible impact and more importantly there was no significant decline in abilities or skills post-intervention. The limited evidence of change found in this study could be due to the small sample size, the measures used, or the short duration of the intervention. As a result, further research is needed using a larger sample size, more sensitive measures, a randomized control design, and an exploration of the ideal length of an intervention should be completed.

The preliminary work done in this study show the necessary first steps to test and examine the novel ideas presented in the areas of video game interventions, engagement, as well as efficacy enhancements by changing training modalities and intervention selection criteria. Future research should build on this promising work with a continued aim of improving the supports available to adolescents with social skills difficulties.

Conclusion

This study focused on the importance of engagement, underlying abilities, and participant profiles, related to social skills interventions for adolescents. The study was exploratory in nature as several new concepts were trialed including the use of a video game as the intervention platform, a focus on training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities rather than directly training specific social behaviors, as well as the inclusion of a heterogeneous pool of participants with common perceived difficulty with social functioning. The study included an analysis of quantitative information gathered on the adolescent participants' levels of engagement, an examination of participant profiles which showed some commonalities in social skills needs, and an exploration of change observed for the participants in terms of social skills, problem behaviors, sustained attention, inhibition, perspective taking, and emotion regulation.

Overall, the positive trends discovered and absence of negative statistically significant findings, suggest that these novel ideas to changing the field of social skills interventions for adolescents warrant further attention from researchers in the field. Continued explorations on how to better support adolescents with social skills difficulties is critical and the research presented in this paper hopes to guide this future research while promoting change and innovation.

References

- Aduen, P. A., Day, T. N., Kofler, M. J., Harmon, S. L., Wells, E. L., & Sarver, D. E. (2018).
 Social problems in ADHD: Is it a skills acquisition or performance problem? *Journal of Psychopathology & Behavioral Assessment*, 40(3), 440–451.
- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1990). Invalidity of true experiments: Self-report pretest biases. *Evaluation Review*, 14(4), 374–390.
- Ames, D. R., & Kammrath, L. K. (2004). Mind-reading and metacognition: Nacissism, not actual competence, predicts self-estimated ability. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 28, 187-209.
- Andrade, B. F., Brodeur, D. A., Waschbusch, D. A., Stewart, S. H., & McGee, R. (2009).
 Selective and sustained attention as predictors of social problems in children with typical and disordered attention abilities. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *12*(4), 341–352.
- Andrews, J. L., Ahmed, S. P., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2021). Navigating the social environment in adolescence: The role of social brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 109– 118.
- Andrews, L. A., Grover, R. L., Buffie, M. L., & Nangle, D. W. (2020). Intervening with youth. In Nangle, D.W., Erdley, A.C., & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (Eds.), *Social Skills across the life span: theory, assessment, and intervention*. Academic Press.
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Morizot, J., & Pagani, L. (2009). Adolescent behavioral, affective, and cognitive engagement in school: Relationship to dropout. *Journal of School Health*, 79(9), 408–415.
- Baltierra, N. B., Muessig, K. E., Pike, E. C., LeGrand, S., Bull, S. S., & Hightow-Weidman, L.B. (2016). More than just tracking time: Complex measures of user engagement with an

internet-based health promotion intervention. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, *59*, 299–307.

- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Scahill, V., Spong, A., & Lawson, J. (2001). Are intuitive physics and intuitive psychology independent? A test with children with Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Developmental and Learning Disorders*, 5, 47–78.
- Bavelier, D., Green S., Pouget, A., & Schrater, P. (2012). Brain plasticity through the life span: Learning to learn and action video games. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 391-416.
- Beauchamp, M., & Anderson, V. (2010). SOCIAL: An integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(1), 39-64.
- Bell, A. C., & D'Zurilla, T. J. (2009). Problem-solving therapy for depression: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(4), 348–353.
- Bellini, S., & Akullian, J. (2007). A meta-analysis of video modeling and video self-modeling interventions for children and adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Exceptional Children*, 73, 264–287. <u>https://doi:10.1177/001440290707300301</u>
- Brotzman, S. B., & Novotny, S. R. (2018). Historical perspectives in orthopaedic manual physical therapy. In C. E. Giangarra & R. Manske (Eds.), *Clinical orthopaedic rehabilitation: A team approach* (4th ed., pp. 2-15). Elsevier.
- Chacko, A., Isham, A., Cleek, A. F., & McKay, M. M. (2016). Using mobile health technology to improve behavioral skill implementation through homework in evidence-based parenting intervention for disruptive behavior disorders in youth: Study protocol for intervention development and evaluation. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 2, 1–11.

- Charak, R., Byllesby, B. M., Fowler, J. C., Sharp, C., Elhai, J. D., & Frueh, B. C. (2019). Assessment of the revised Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scales among adolescents and adults with severe mental illness. *Psychiatry Research*, 279, 278–283.
- Conners, C. K. (2014). *Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd edition™ (Conners CPT 3™) manual*. Multi-Health Systems Incorporated.
- Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Chen, Y., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Brown, T., Bourke-Taylor, H., Doma, K., & Leicht, A. (2015). Evaluating the Psychometric Quality of Social Skills Measures: A systematic review. *Plos ONE*, *10*(7), 1-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.013229</u>
- Couper, M.P., Alexander, G.L., Zhang, N., Little, R. J., Maddy, N., Nowak, M.A., & Johnson, C.
 (2010). Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *12* (4), 1-29.
- Dajani, D. R., Llabre, M. M., Nebel, M. B., Mostofsky, S. H., & Uddin, L. Q. (2016). Heterogeneity of executive functions among comorbid neurodevelopmental disorders. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 365-366.
- Davis, T. E., Hess, J. A., Moree, B. N., Fodstad, J. C., Dempsey, T., Jenkins, W. S., & Marson, J. L. (2011). Anxiety symptoms across the lifespan in people diagnosed with autism disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5, 112–118.
- de Haan, A. M., Boon, A. E., de Jong, J. T. V. M., Hoeve, M., and Vermeiren, R. R. J. M.
 (2013). A meta-analytic review on treatment dropout in child and adolescent outpatient mental health care. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33, 698–711.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.04.005
- Demaray, M. K., Ruffalo, S. L., Carlson, J., Olson, A. E., McManus, S., & Leventhal, A. (1995). Social skills assessment: A comparative evaluation of six published rating scales. *School Psychology Review*, 24, 648-671.
- Deming, D. J. (2017). The growing importance of social skills in the labor market. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *132*(4), 1593–1640.
- Delis, D.C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. (2001). *Delis Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiner's manual*. The Psychological Corporation.
- DeRosier, M., Craig, A., & Sanchez, R., (2012). Zoo U: A stealth approach to social skills assessment in schools. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2012, 1-7.
- DeRosier, M. & Thomas, J. (2019). Hall of Heroes: A digital game for social skills training with young adolescents. *International Journal of Computer Games Technology*, 1-12.
- Dixon, J. A., & Moore, C. F. (1990). The development of perspective taking: Understanding differences in information and weighting. *Child Development*, 61, 1502–1513. <u>http://doi.org/10.2307/1130759</u>
- Drennan, J., & Hyde, A. (2008). Controlling response shift bias: The use of the retrospective pretest design in the evaluation of a master's programme. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 33(6), 699–709.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, *88*(2), 408–416.
- Eisenberg, N., Spinard, T. L., & Eggum, N. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *6*, 495-525.

- Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2008). Social skills improvement system: Intervention guide. Pearson Assessments.
- Entertainment Software Association. (2017). Essential facts about the computer and video game industry. Retrieved from www.theesa.com/facts/pdfs/ESA_EF_2016.Pdf
- Erath, S., Flanagan, K., & Bierman, K. (2007). Social anxiety and peer relations in early adolescence: Behavioral and cognitive factors. *Journal Of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(3), 405-416.
- Farris, M. S., Devoe, D. J., & Addington, J. (2020). Attrition rates in trials for adolescents and young adults at clinical high-risk for psychosis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 14(5), 515-527.
- Feinberg, M. E., Ridenour, T. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Aggregating indices of risk and protection for adolescent behavior problems: The communities that care youth survey. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 40 (6), 506–513.
- Frey, J. R., Elliot, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2011). Preschoolers' social skills: Advances in assessment for intervention using social behavior ratings. *School of Mental Health*, 3(4), 179-190.
- Frick, P. J., & Morris, A. S. (2004). Temperament and developmental pathways to conduct problems. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *33*, 54-68.
- Frith, C. D. (2007). The social brain? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences, 362, 671–678.
- Gates, J. A., Kang, E., & Lerner, M. D. (2017). Efficacy of group social skills interventions for youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 52, 164–181.

- Georgeson, A. R., Highlander, A., Loiselle, R., Zachary, C., & Jones, D. J. (2020). Engagement in technology-enhanced interventions for children and adolescents: Current status and recommendations for moving forward. Clinical Psychology Review, 78, 1018-1058.
- Gee, J.P. (2003). What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Glutting, J., Adams, W., & Sheslow, D. (2000). Wide Range Intelligence Test Manual. Wide Range Incorporation.
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. Journal of Psychology and Behavioral Assessment, 26(1), 41– 54.
- Gresham, F. M. (1981). Social skills training with handicapped children: A review. *Review of* Educational Research, 51, 139–176.
- Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *46*(3), 319-332.

http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788

- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Manual. Pearson Assessments.
- Gresham, F., Elliott, S., & Kettler, R. (2010). Base rates of social skills acquisition/performance deficits, strengths, and problem behaviors: An analysis of the Social Skills Improvement System-Rating Scales. Psychological Assessment, 22(4), 809-815. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0020255

- Gresham, F., Robichauz, N., York, H., & O'Leary, K. (2012). Issues related to identifying and implementing evidence-based social skills interventions for students with high-incidence disabilities. Advances in learning and behavioural disabilities. In Cook, B., Tankersley, M., & Landrum, T., (2012). *Volume 25 classroom behaviour, contexts and interventions*. Emerald Group Publishing.
- Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 46(3), 319-332. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788
- Gumpel, T. P. (2007). Are social competence difficulties caused by performance or acquisition deficits? The importance of self-regulatory mechanisms. *Psychology in the Schools, 44*, 351–372.
- Hallingberg, B., Turley, R., Segrott, J. Wight, D., Craig, P., Moore, L., Murphy, S., Robling, M., Simpson, S.A., & Moore, G. (2018). Exploratory studies to decide whether and how to proceed with full-scale evaluations of public health interventions: a systematic review of guidance. *Pilot Feasibility Study*, *4*, 104, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-018-0290
- Homack, S., Lee, D., & Riccio, C. A. (2005). Test review: Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 27(5), 599-609. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/1380339049091844</u>
- Hopkins, I., Gower, M., Perez, T., Smith, D., Amthor, F., Casey Wimsatt, F., & Biasini, F.
 (2011). Avatar Assistant: Improving social skills in students with an ASD through a computer-based intervention. *Journal Of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, *41*(11), 1543-1555. <u>Http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1179</u>

- Hubert, B., Guimard, P., & Florin, A. (2017). Cognitive self-regulation and social functioning among French children: A longitudinal study from kindergarten to first grade. *Psychology Journal*, 6(1), 57–75.
- Hughes-Morley, A. (2017). What are effective methods to recruit research participants into mental health trials? (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Manchester, Manchester.
- Huizenga, J., Admiraal, W., Akkerman, S., & Dam, G. ten. (2009). Mobile game-based learning in secondary education: Engagement, motivation and learning in a mobile city game. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 25(4), 332–344.
- Hukkelberg, S., Keles, S., Ogden, T., & Hammerstrøm, K. (2019). The relation between behavioral problems and social competence: A correlational meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *19*(1), 1–14. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2343-9</u>
- Jacobson, N. S., & Truax, P. (1991). Clinical significance: A statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 59(1), 12–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.59.1.12</u>
- Kang, K., Lu J., & Zhao, J. (2019). How to improve customer engagement: A comparison of playing games on personal computers and on mobile phones. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 15(2), 76-92.
- Kaufman, E. A., Xia, M., Fosco, G., Yaptangco, M., Skidmore, C. R., Crowell, S. E. (2016). The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale Short Form (DERS-SF): Validation and replication in adolescent and adult samples. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 38, 443–455. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-015-9529-3</u>

- Khan, A., & Hayat, F. (2017). Use of digital game-based learning and gamification in secondary school science: The effect on student engagement, learning and gender difference. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22, 2767-2804.
- Kilgus, S. P., von der Embse, N. P., Scott, K., & Paxton, S. (2015). Use of the "Intervention Selection Profile-Social Skills" to identify social skill acquisition deficits: A preliminary validation study. *Assessment for Effective Intervention*, 40(4), 228–239.
- Kully-Martens, Denys, K., Treit, S., Tamana, S., & Rasmussen, C. (2012). A review of social skills deficits in individuals with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and Prenatal Alcohol Exposure: Profiles, mechanisms, and interventions. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, (4), 568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01661</u>
- Lanovaz M.J., Dufour M. M., Argumedes M. (2017) Behavior Analytic Methods. In: Matson
 J. (eds) Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child
 Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Ledford, J. R., King, S., Harbin, E. R., & Zimmerman, K. N. (2018). Antecedent social skills interventions for individuals with ASD: What works, for whom, and under what conditions? *Focus on Autism & Other Developmental Disabilities*, *33*(1), 3–13.
- Leaf, J. B., Taubman, M., Milner, C., Dale, J., Townley-Cochran, D., Tsuji, K., Kassardijan, A., Alacay, A., Leaf, R., & McEachin, J. (2016). Teaching social communication skills suing a cool versus not cool procedure plus role-playing and social skills taxonomy. *Education and Treatment of Children, 39*, 44-63.
- Lerner, M. D., & Mikami, A. Y. (2012). A preliminary randomized controlled trial of two social skills interventions for youth with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 27(3), 147–157.

- Lerner, M. D., & White, S. W. (2015). Moderators and mediators of treatments for youth with autism spectrum disorders. In Maric, M., Ollendick, T.H., & Prins, P. J. M., *Moderators* and Mediators of Youth Treatment Outcomes. Oxford University Press.
- Lindsey, M. A., Brandt, N. E., Becker, K. D., Lee, B. R., Barth, R. P., Daleiden, E. L., & Chorpita, B. F. (2014). Identifying the common elements of treatment engagement interventions in children's mental health services. *Clinical Child Family Psychology Review*, 17, 283-298.
- Lopata, C., Donnelly, J. P., Rodgers, J. D., & Thomeer, M. L. (2019). Systematic review of data analyses and reporting in group-based social skills intervention RCTS for youth with ASD. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *59*, 10–21.
- Lugnegard, T., Hallerback, M. U., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Psychiatric comorbidity in young adults with a clinical diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *32*, 1910–1917.
- Maag, J. W. (2005). Social skills training for youth with emotional and behavioral disorders and learning disabilities: Problems, conclusions, and suggestions. *Exceptionality*, 13, 155–172.
- Malone, T. W. (1981). Toward a theory of intrinsically motivating instruction. *Cognitive Science*, *5*, 333–369.

Matson, J. (2009). Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Springer.

Matson J. (2017). *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.

- Matson, J. L., & Wilkins, J. (2007). A critical review of assessment targets and methods for social skills excesses and deficits for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 1, 28–37.
- Matson, J., & Wilkins, J. (2009). Psychometric testing methods for children's social skills. *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 30(2), 249-274.
- Matson, J., Neal, D., Worley, J., Kozlowski, A., & Fodstad, J. (2012). Factor structure of the Matson Evaluation of Social Skills with Youngsters-II (MESSY-II). *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 2067-2071.
- McKay, H. G., King, D., Eakin, E. G., Seeley, J. R., & Glasgow, R. E. (2001). The diabetes network internet-based physical activity intervention: A randomized pilot study. *Diabetes Care, 24*(8), 1328-1334. <u>http://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.24.8.1328</u>
- Midgley, G. (2000). *Systemic intervention*. In: Systemic intervention, philosophy, methodology, and practice. Springer.
- Müller, C. M., & Gmünder, L. (2014). An Evaluation of the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes-Test" With Seventh to Ninth Graders. *Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 7(1), 34–44.
- Nangle, D. W, Erdley, C. Anne, & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (2020). Social skills across the life span: Theory, assessment, and intervention. Academic Press.
- O'Keeffe, S., Martin, P., Target, M., & Midgley, N. (2019). "I Just Stopped Going": A mixed methods investigation into types of therapy dropout in adolescents with depression. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10* (75), 1-49.
- Olderbak, S., Wilhelm, O., Olaru, G., Geiger, M., Brenneman, M. W., & Roberts, R. D. (2015). A psychometric analysis of the reading the mind in the eyes test: toward a brief form for

research and applied settings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1503* (6), 32-45. http://doi.org:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01503

- Paradis, J., Emmerzael, K., & Sorenson Duncan, T. (2010). Assessment of English Language Learners: Using Parent Report on First Language Development. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 43, 474-497.
- Paulus, F. W., Ohmann, S. & Popow, C. (2016). Practitioner review: School-based interventions in child mental health. *Journal Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57, 1337-1359. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12584</u>
- Perski, O., Michie, S., & Blandford, A. (2016). Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systemic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *7*(2), 254-267.
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of Game-Based Learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258-283.
- Radley, K. C., O'Handley, R. D., Ness, E. J., Ford, B., Battaglia, A. A., McHugh, M. B., & McLemore, C. E. (2014). Promoting social skill use and generalization in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *8*, 669–680.
- Ross, K. M., Kim, H., Tolan, P. H., & Jennings, P. A. (2019). An exploration of normative social and emotional skill growth trajectories during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 62, 102–115.
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018): The age of adolescence. *Lancet Child Adolescent Health*, *2*, 223–228.

- Schoenfeld, N. A., Rutherford, R. B., Gable, R. A., & Rock, M. L. (2008). ENGAGE: A blueprint for incorporating social skills training into daily academic instruction. *Preventing School Failure*, 52(3), 17–28.
- Segrin, C., McNelis, M., & Swiatkowski, P. (2016). Social skills, social support, and psychological distress: A test of the social skills deficit Vulnerability model. *Human Communication Research*, 42(1), 122-137. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12070</u>
- Serret, S., Hun, S., Iakimova, G., Lozada, J., Anastassova, M., Santos, A., Vesperini, S., & Askenazy, F. (2014). Facing the challenge of teaching emotions to individuals with lowand high-functioning autism using a new serious game: a pilot study. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 1-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-37</u>
- Siu, K., Guzdial, M., & Riedl, M. O. (2017). Evaluating Singleplayer and Multiplayer in Human Computation Games. In Proceedings of FDG'17, Hayannis, MA, USA, August 14-17, 2017. <u>http://doi.org/10.1145/3102071.3102077</u>
- Skutch, J.M., Wang, S.B., Buqo, T., Haynos, A.F., & Papa, A. (2019). Which Brief is Best?
 Clarifying the use of three brief versions of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale.
 Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 41, 485–494.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-019-09736-z
- Soto-Icaza, P., Aboitiz, F., & Billeke, P. (2015). Development of social skills in children: neural and behavioral evidence for the elaboration of cognitive models. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 333 (9), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00333</u>
- Stasiak, K., Hatcher, S., Frampton, C., & Merry, S. N. (2014). A pilot double blind randomized placebo-controlled trial of a prototype computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy

program for adolescents with symptoms of depression. *Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *42*(4), 385–401.

- Stattin, H., & Kerr, M. (2009). Challenges in intervention research on adolescent development. *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(6), 1437–1442.
- Steinberg, L. (2014). Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence. Houghton Mifflin.
- Stevens, S. A., Clairman, H., Nash, K., & Rovet, J. (2016). Social perception in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 23(8), 980-933.

http://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2016.1246657

- Storebø, O. J., Andersen, E. M., Skoog, M., Hansen, J. S., Simonsen, E., Pedersen, N., Tendal,
 B., Callesen, H. E., Faltinsen, E., & Gluud, C. (2019). Social skills training for attention
 deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children aged 5 to 18 years. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6, 1-147.
- Strecher, V. J., McClure, J. B., Alexander, G. L., Chakraborty, B., Nair, V. N., Konkel, J. M., Greene, S. M., Collins, L.M., Carlier, C.C., Wiese, C.J., Little, R.J., Pomerleau, C.S., & Pomerleau, O. F. (2008). Web-based smoking-cessation programs: Results of a randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(5), 373-381. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.12.024
- Taylor, L. & Parsons, J. (2011). Improving Student Engagement. *Current Issues in Education*, 14(1), 1-32.

- Thomson, K., Riosa, P. B., & Weiss, J. A. (2015). Brief report of preliminary outcomes of an emotion regulation intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(11), 3487–3495.
- Trisolini, D. C., Petilli, M. A., & Daini, R. (2018). Is action video gaming related to sustained attention of adolescents? *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 71(5), 1033– 1039.
- Walker, H. M., Ramsay, E., & Gresham, F. M. (2004). Antisocial behavior at school: Evidence based practices. Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Wegrzyn, S. C., Hearrington, D., Martin, T., & Randolph, A. B. (2012). Brain games as a potential nonpharmaceutical alternative for the treatment of ADHD. *Journal of Research* on Technology in Education, 45(2), 107–130.http://doi.org/10.1080/1523.2012.10782599
- Whetstone, P. J., Gillmor, S. C., & Schuster, J. G. (2015). Effects of a metacognitive social skill intervention in a rural setting with at-risk adolescents. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 34(2), 25–35.
- Wols, A., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A., Schoneveld, E. A., & Granic, I. (2018). In-game play behaviors during an applied video game for anxiety prevention predict successful intervention outcomes. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 40*(4), 655–668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-018-9684-4</u>
- Wolstencroft, J., Robinson, L., Srinivasan, R., Kerry, E., Mandy, W., & Skuse, D. (2018). A systematic review of group social skills interventions, and meta-analysis of outcomes, for children with high functioning ASD. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2293–2307.

Worley, J. A., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Psychiatric symptoms in children diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder: An examination of gender differences. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 3, 1086–1091.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

The importance of social skills has been highlighted throughout years of research emphasizing the link between good social skills and long-term benefits to the psychological well-being for individuals across the lifespan (e.g., Deming, 2017; Domitrovich et al., 2017). Despite the breadth of knowledge regarding this identified importance, current literature shows several gaps in the supports available to those who struggle in social situations. Although many interventions have been developed over the years, concerns are noted regarding the lack of theory driven interventions as well as the primary focus being on younger children (e.g., Ledford et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Storebø et al., 2019), thereby leaving adolescents with social skills difficulties under supported. Yet adolescence is a period of opportunity for intervention as a result of increased brain development (e.g., Andrews et al., 2021; Soto-Icaza et al., 2015) and an increase in social demands (Steinberg, 2014). Taken together, this highlights a need for more developmentally appropriate supports for this age group.

In response to this need, the overall goal of the dissertation was to increase understanding on how to support adolescents with social skills difficulties and discuss the use of an intervention grounded in theory and innovation to provide increased appropriate supports to this age group. Research on interventions can be multifaceted and researchers such as Fraser and Galinsky (2010) have identified five steps when conducting intervention research to ensure the development of theory informed and effective interventions. These steps include: (a) development of the problem and program theories, (b) design of program materials and measures, (c) confirming and refining the program components in efficacy tests, (d) testing effectiveness in a variety of practice settings, and (e) disseminating the program findings and materials (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). Informed by this framework, I engaged in exploratory research, enacting the first three steps of this process.

In addition to the intervention research framework, the work presented in this dissertation was also informed by my training in the scientist-practitioner model (Frank, 1984). This model emphasizes the importance of the integration of science and practice during the training years for clinical psychologists. This training allowed me to combine the scientific knowledge about social skills and development with my practical experiences in providing interventions to adolescents. Furthermore, this training also helped guide the research as I moved through the intervention research steps as outlined above.

Step One: Identifying the Problem

An important first step in intervention research is to complete a thorough review of the applicable literature to help identify and define the problem thereby guiding the intervention design and implementation steps. I therefore examined related theories to social skills development and intervention principles in Chapter Two of this dissertation. The importance of underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities in overall social skills development was highlighted (e.g., Cordier et al., 2015) and a critical analysis of the available supports for children and adolescents with social skills showed several gaps. These gaps included concerns about the ability of these interventions to teach social skills that are generalizable to outside settings as well as the feasibility and resource intensity of the programs. Furthermore, two specific concerns were highlighted and discussed in more detail. First, many of the social skills interventions historically focused on direct teaching of behavioral skills, despite the increasing support for training underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities to instill change in the observable social behaviors and ultimately social functioning (e.g., Cordier et al., 2015; Ross et

al., 2019; Soto-Icaza et al, 2015). Secondly, a gap was noted in the populations targeted as many of the interventions are designed to support children and limited developmentally appropriate, engaging, and evidence-based social skills interventions are available for adolescents (e.g., Ledford et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Storebø et al., 2019). Taken together, the review and critical analysis highlighted the need for a new way of developing and delivering social skills interventions for adolescents.

To move beyond a problem focused approach and keeping in line with the scientistpractitioner model, I also presented a possible solution to find appropriate supports for adolescents with social skills difficulties. The review highlighted the importance of engagement in the clinical practice of supporting adolescents (see Chapter 4 for a review) and with this in mind, I chose to explore the possibilities of finding a solution to the gaps presented for suitable interventions for adolescents. Through this exploration, the potential for the use of technology and specifically video games as an intervention platform for adolescents was striking. Video games have been proposed as a new way of delivering interventions to individuals due to the benefits associated with digital game-based learning including cognitive, motivational, affective, and social benefits (e.g., Georgeson et al., 2020; Plass et al., 2015). This approach may also be well suited to mitigate some of the other gaps identified in the literature including the concerns related to resource intensity and generalizability of the learned skills. Although the concept of using video games as a platform for intervention delivery is relatively novel, some evidence for this approach was highlighted in the review chapter (e.g., Craig et al., 2015; DeRosier et al., 2012; Kokol et al., 2020) and suggests that further research is warranted.

Step Two: Designing the Intervention

Informed by research in the area, the next step of my process was focused on development. Thus, Chapter Three of my dissertation describes the design process of a theoretically driven video game based social skills intervention for adolescents to address the concerns outlined in the review chapter. Much of the research conducted on social skills interventions focuses on outcomes such as efficacy and effectiveness and although these are crucial components of intervention research, attention should also be paid to the intervention used and how it was designed as this often links to outcome findings (Maag, 2006). Understanding the development process of an intervention allows for a potential deeper understanding of the potential change that may occur as a result of the intervention (Wight et al., 2016). Furthermore, documenting the steps involved in the design process allows for future improvements and refinements as the intervention moves through efficacy and effectiveness studies. Much of the research published on interventions focuses on their evaluations, while there is little research to guide the design and development process (Wight et al., 2016). Presenting the details of the design steps therefore also adds important information to the field of intervention literature.

As a result, the design process was discussed in detail in Chapter Three and outlines information about the decisions made by the development team throughout each step of the design process. This included an analysis of the training constructs selected, the gamification process, as well as the measures chosen to assess potential impact. The concept of a video game as the intervention platform for social skills training continues to be relatively new and as the popularity of this approach continues to grow, future interventions will likely be designed. The design process outlined in this dissertation can therefore serve as a preliminary blueprint for considerations to be included in future interventions.

The design stage of this dissertation work was highly fluid in nature and drew upon my unique training as a scientist-practitioner linking both research on social skills and adolescent development to practical components of intervention principles such as engagement and playability. The integration of science and practical experience helped guide much of the design process ranging from deciding on the length of the intervention to the storyline for the intervention sessions. The scientist-practitioner model is often linked to evidence-based practice or treatments (Navab et al., 2016) and grounding intervention design in this approach helps establish the base for an evidence and practice informed support for adolescents with social skills difficulties.

Step Three: Efficacy Implementations and Refinements

Once developed, the game needed to be trialed and tested. This proceeded is a three-step process, that increasingly advances towards a full implementation. Typically, the implementation step includes an initial implementation testing for feasibility as well as further implementations to refine the intervention and test for use in a variety of settings (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010). The first step was tied closely to the game development, as it aimed to determine the actual workability of the gaming platform. Thus, the game was first trialed with a small group of adult volunteers to ensure preliminary playability. This allowed the team to address technical concerns and further the ease of playability prior to adolescent participation. Once the changes were made an initial implementation took place with a small group of three participants with FASD and identified social difficulties, representative of a pilot study. These initial implementation steps were described in Chapter Three, and the results were promising. First, participants were

engaged in the game. This was determined based on high attendance rates as well as observed participation in the intervention tasks. Second, limited difficulties were observed administering the game from a distance, within participants' home environments, providing evidence for feasibility. Third, I found that the youth involved experienced some positive trends towards positive change to social skills and problem behaviors associated with social functioning. Although this does not provide clear evidence for the potential impact of this intervention, it does clearly establish that it is viable, that youth are willing to engage in the activities and do not experience any evident harm.

Before building on this promising start, it was important to examine the intervention for a need for refinement and changes. Consequently, some changes to the gamified tasks and software bugs were highlighted and applied. Furthermore, in keeping with the call for interventions to be geared towards social skills needs rather than diagnosis (e.g., FASD; e.g., Cordier et al., 2015; Gresham & Elliot, 2008; Gumpel, 2007; Maag, 2005; Walker et al., 2004; Lerner & White, 2015) and in response for calls to increase the number of widely available adolescent social skills supports (Casey et al., 2000; Lanovaz et al., 2017; Steinberg, 2014), the participant inclusion criteria were extended. Specifically, recruitment was opened to all adolescents between the ages of 11 to 18 with any diagnosis and identified social skills difficulty. Lastly, the intervention research approach described by Fraser and Galinsky (2010) also highlights the importance of testing an intervention in a variety of practice settings. Typically, this applies to the effectiveness testing stage; however, due to some experienced difficulties with recruitment in the initial implementation stage and the common use of social skills interventions in school settings, the decision was made to test for feasibility of the intervention with participants in schools for the next implementation.

The third step of the early implementation plan was therefore an expanded pilot intervention, described in Chapter Four. In this study I aimed to examine the efficacy of the intervention concept while also allowing for a deeper exploration on how to best support adolescents with social skills difficulties in general. This was accomplished by making changes to improve playability (e.gs. software bugs, downloading changes). Changes were also made to the outcome measures to track individual changes more accurately, and specific data was collected to further assess levels of engagement experienced. These changes were made based on research highlighting the importance of engagement in adolescent in interventions, engagement research, as well as literature on social skills assessments. The inclusion of these changes required additional time and resources from the research team; however, it highlights the evolution and continued refinement that is required for intervention development.

The results obtained from the expanded pilot study, showed high levels of engagement for the participants thereby providing preliminary evidence of the use for video games as an intervention platform to help limit attrition for adolescents. Furthermore, some preliminary evidence for change was found for the use of a social skills intervention for adolescents with identified social skills difficulties. Although this concept requires further research, the foundation has been laid and this current dissertation can be used to inform future studies to investigate efficacy of video game-based interventions. The research presented shows the use of an intervention research approach (Fraser & Galinsky, 2010) to guide intervention design through to implementation while also highlighting the value of a scientist-practitioner model for intervention research. The links to theory and research were emphasized throughout the steps and the examination of the data collected from the testing and implementation stages was used as feedback to guide future work, thereby solidify both input from science and practice. In summary, the design and testing processes described in Chapters Three and Four, combined with the theoretical review of Chapter Two, show the steps that should be considered in intervention research. Furthermore, the work presented highlights the importance of integrating science and clinical practice throughout all stages of design and implementation and supports the idea of a necessary feedback loop (Wight et al., 2016) between professionals involved in research versus clinical settings. Lastly, the process helped me as a researcher and clinician develop a more holistic view on what it means to take a scientist-practitioner approach to supporting individuals.

Contributions and Implications

Intervention development is a significant undertaking. To develop effective interventions, there are several required steps including theory reviews, development stages, initial implementations, and refinements. Without these foundational steps, effectiveness studies, such as randomized control studies, would not be possible. Through my dissertation research, and preliminary findings, this work is now poised for the next steps. Moreover, the process of conducting this work has revealed many core considerations for working with adolescents, in both scientist and practitioner capacities.

Research Contributions

Each of the intervention research steps covered in this dissertation contributes to the existing body of literature on social skills development and intervention in unique ways. First, the literature review and associated critical analysis presented highlights the overall gaps in social skills interventions while specifically focussing in on several gaps related to adolescent interventions. The importance of engagement and its relation to intervention completion was also underscored. This review will contribute to the overall literature by informing and stimulating change in the field of social skills interventions with an overarching goal of better supporting

adolescents with social skills difficulties. The emphasized importance of supporting adolescents and focussing on engagement to impact attendance also extends beyond the social skills intervention realm as this can be applied to the broader field of adolescent supports. Difficulties with adolescent attrition rates have been noted across a variety of interventions despite growing evidence highlighting adolescence as a period of opportunity for intervening (Andrews et al., 2021). Although the focus of the research presented in this dissertation was social skills based, the underlying message highlighting the importance of offering developmentally appropriate and engaging supports to adolescents can be applied across many areas.

Next, the design process covered in Chapter Three, contributes to the existing literature as it highlights a unique process in intervention design. This process shows the collaboration between researchers from different background and combines the knowledge on social skills and adolescent development with the technical expertise required to build the video game intervention. For interventions using digital technology, the content design (e.g., training constructs) commonly occurs in isolation of the technology development (e.g., programming) (Lyon et al., 2020). This is suspected to result in interventions that are suboptimal as they may lack overall effectiveness or fail to take full advantage of the benefits that digital technologies have to offer (Lyon et al., 2020). The collaborative development process highlighted in this work therefore highlights a potential way to eliminate potential threats to effectiveness.

Futhermore, the implementation steps discussed in this paper contribute the literature by providing preliminary support for the use of a theory driven video game based social skills intervention for adolescents with varying diagnosis but shared social skills needs. More specifically, the intervention designed and applied in this dissertation explored several novel ways to support adolescents with social skills difficulties and showed preliminary evidence that

1) an intervention can be delivered to adolescents through a video game, 2) adolescents can remain engaged in a social skills intervention that is engaging and developmentally appropriate, and that 3) one intervention can be potentially effective for adolescents based on alignment between their needs and the intervention goals. The implementation step also highlights the need for future research to be conducted to further assess the relatively novel ideas presented in this paper.

Lastly, the research presented in this dissertation also highlighted the overlap between behavioral problems and social skills difficulties. Although the study did not aim to focus on this known correlation it is important to consider the impact that this may have on the findings of this current as well as future studies in the field of social skills intervention. As the research on this relation is currently limited, the findings from this current study showing support for the perceived overlap can be considered an important contribution specifically when considering the ages of the participants in this dissertation. A meta-analysis conducted by Hukkelberg and colleagues (2019) examining the correlation between social competence and behavioral problems shows that many of the studies to date focus on individuals ages 3 to thirteen. This dissertation shows that the phenomenon of overlap is likely to continue into adolescence and highlights the need for future research on the relation and the impact of the current conceptualization of both social skills difficulties and problem behaviors in children and adolescents.

Future Research. In addition to the contributions to the current available research this dissertation makes, there are also several learnings that can be drawn from this to inspire future research. First, the preliminary work completed in this dissertation highlights the first three steps of the intervention research approach. The preliminary positive trends discussed as a result of the initial implementations suggest that further research is warranted which may include further

efficacy studies or potentially studies examining potential effectiveness associated with the intervention.

Second, the research presented in this paper adds to the scarce literature on integrating the use of technology with social skills interventions and more specifically the impact this platform can have on adolescent engagement. The high levels of engagement noticed during the two rounds of implementation for this dissertation suggest that the use of technology should be explored further. This can include a continuation of the research started in this dissertation using video games; however, other options may also include the use of Virtual Reality (VR). VR is expected to further engage participants due to the immersion level associated with this type of technology and has specifically been proposed to align well with social skills interventions as allows for repeated, safe, and realistic practice of social interactions (Yuan & Ip, 2018). Recent advances in this technology have also made this a more financially feasible alternative to consider and should therefore be explored further.

Third, the literature on social skills interventions discusses the importance and benefits of including parents in the intervention as some researchers have reported higher levels of effectiveness of interventions that include parent supports (Gresham, 2016). Parental or caregiver involvement is thought to bridge the gap between intervention and real-world environments and is therefore said to help increase generalizability of the learned social skills. The addition of a parent component has also been linked to decreases in attrition (Grimes, 2008; Laugeson et al., 2009). However, many social skills interventions that include a parent component are aimed at younger participants and parent participation is expected to be different for adolescents. As adolescent interventions often take place within the school system (Plavnick et al., 2015), an alternative may be to include school staff to help link the intervention impacts to the real-world settings, instead

of a parent or caregiver. Further research should therefore be conducted to examine the use of caregiver or school staff support and its impact on generalizability and adolescent attrition rates.

Clinical Implications

The research presented in this dissertation provides important information that can help inform best practices for supporting adolescents with social skills difficulties. Practitioners and clinicians can serve many different roles when supporting adolescents with social skills difficulties ranging from identification of the difficulty through assessments to finding and selecting appropriate interventions and supports for them. As a result, the information presented in this dissertation, aims to help inform clinicians in both the realms of assessment and intervention selection.

First, the research presented in this dissertation highlighted the importance of goodness of fit between the participant's social skills needs and the goals of the intervention. A case was made for this through an exploration of relevant literature which showed that the call for a goodness of fit approach to intervention design and selection was supported by several researchers (e.g., Gresham, 1981, see also Cordier et al., 2015; Gresham & Elliot, 2008; Gumpel, 2007; Maag, 2005; Walker et al., 2004; Lerner & White, 2015). However, this goodness of fit approach can only be applied when an individuals' social skills profile is known, requiring a full assessment of the participant's social skills strengths and needs. Typically, social skills assessments include behavioral observations, sociometric assessments, and/or behavior rating scales (Matson, 2017) and best practice is to use a multimethod, multisource, multi-setting assessment design (Merrell, 2001). However, this approach is often not feasible and more commonly the sole assessment used by researchers and practioners to inform intervention is a rating scale completed by either the caregivers and/or teachers. A thorough assessment of the

underlying cognitive and socio-emotional abilities is often not included, despite the identified importance to overall social skills functioning. The information presented in this research therefore serves to remind practioners of the valuable information that can be drawn from assessments and how this can help inform intervention selection.

Second, in addition to the importance of goodness of fit, engagement with the intervention should also be considered as crucial. Participants who are not engaged with the intervention and the training content are more likely to drop out and show limited lasting impacts from the intervention program (Couper et al., 2010; McKay et al., 2001; Strecher et al., 2008). Due to the importance, intervention engagement should be considered at the design stages of intervention research. However, practioners/clinicians can also play a role in this as engagement and motivation for intervention are subjective to the individuals and in this case adolescents. Practioners and clinicians are therefore encouraged to examine potential intervention options for the engagement level offered and its match to the individual requiring support.

Taken together, the two clinical implications drawn from this dissertation highlight the need for an individualized approach for intervention selection for adolescents with social skills difficulties. Assessing the needs of the individual and considering their individual motivations and levels of engagement is thought to be beneficial for their overall experience in the intervention and ultimately lead to increased effectiveness and an increased sense of support offered to the youth.

Summary

In this dissertation, I have contributed to the understanding of social skills intervention development. I also added to the current knowledge on the importance of engagement in adolescent interventions and I explored a way to help better support youth with social skills

difficulties through innovation and guided by my training in the scientist-practitioner model. In addition, the work presented shows evidence for future research to further assess the potential effectiveness of the designed intervention.

References

- Andrews, J. L., Ahmed, S. P., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2021). Navigating the social environment in adolescence: The role of social brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 109– 118.
- Casey, B., Giedd, J. N., Thomas, K. M. (2000). Structural and functional brain development and its relation to cognitive development. *Biological Psychology*, *54*(1-3), 241-257.
- Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Chen, Y., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Brown, T., Bourke-Taylor, H., Doma, K., & Leicht, A. (2015). Evaluating the psychometric quality of social skills measures: A systematic review. *Plos ONE*, *10*(7), 1-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.013229</u>
- Couper, M.P., Alexander, G.L., Zhang, N., Little, R. J., Maddy, N., Nowak, M.A., & Johnson, C.
 (2010). Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *12* (4), 1-29.
- Craig, A.B., Brown, E., Gallagher, S., Raab, L. H., & DeRosier, M. E. (2015). Zoo U: The only research-proven online game that assesses and teaches social skills. 3C Institute.
- Deming, D. J. (2017). The growing importance of social skills in the labor market. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *132*(4), 1593–1640.
- DeRosier, M., Craig, A., & Sanchez, R., (2012). Zoo U: A stealth approach to social skills assessment in schools. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2012, 1-7.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-Emotional Competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408–416.
- Frank, G., (1984). The Boulder Model: History, rationale, and critique. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *15*(3), 417–435. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.15.3.417</u>

- Fraser, M. W., & Galinsky, M. J. (2010). Steps in intervention research: Designing and developing social programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 20(5), 459–466.
- Georgeson, A. R., Highlander, A., Loiselle, R., Zachary, C., & Jones, D. J. (2020). Engagement in technology-enhanced interventions for children and adolescents: Current status and recommendations for moving forward. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 78, 1018-1058.
- Gresham, F. M. (1981). Social skills training with handicapped children: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, *51*, 139–176.

Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *46*(3), 319-332.

http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788

- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Manual. Pearson Assessments.
- Grimes, L. (2008). Social skills training in conjunction with parent training: The effects. [Unpublished Master's thesis]. University of the Pacific.
- Gumpel, T. P. (2007). Are social competence difficulties caused by performance or acquisition deficits? The importance of self-regulatory mechanisms. *Psychology in the Schools, 44*, 351–372.
- Hukkelberg, S., Keles, S., Ogden, T., & Hammerstrøm, K. (2019). The relation between behavioral problems and social competence: A correlational meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *19*(1), 1–14. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2343-9</u>
- Kokol, P., Vošner, H. B., Završnik, J., Vermeulen, J., Shohieb, S., & Peinemann, F. (2020).
 Serious game-based intervention for children with developmental disabilities. *Current Pediatric Reviews*, 16 (1), 26-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.2174/1573396315666190808115238</u>

- Lanovaz M.J., Dufour M. M., Argumedes M. (2017) Behavior analytic methods. In: MatsonJ. (eds) Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and ChildPsychopathology Series. Springer.
- Ledford, J. R., King, S., Harbin, E. R., & Zimmerman, K. N. (2018). Antecedent social skills interventions for individuals with ASD: What works, for whom, and under what conditions? *Focus on Autism & Other Developmental Disabilities*, *33*(1), 3–13.
- Lerner, M. D., & White, S. W. (2015). Moderators and mediators of treatments for youth with autism spectrum disorders. In Maric, M., Ollendick, T.H., & Prins, P. J. M., *Moderators and Mediators of Youth Treatment Outcomes*. Oxford University Press.
- Lyon, A. R., Dopp, A.R., Brewer, S.K., Kientz, J.A., & Munson, S.A. (2020). Designing the future of children's mental health services. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health* and Mental Health Services Research, 47, 735-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-020-01038-x</u>
- Maag, J. W. (2005). Social skills training for youth with emotional and behavioral disorders and learning disabilities: Problems, conclusions, and suggestions. *Exceptionality*, 13, 155–172.
- Matson J. (2017). *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- McKay, H. G., King, D., Eakin, E. G., Seeley, J. R., & Glasgow, R. E. (2001). The diabetes network internet-based physical activity intervention: A randomized pilot study. *Diabetes Care, 24*(8), 1328-1334. <u>http://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.24.8.1328</u>

Merrell, K. W. (2001). Assessment of children's social skills: Recent developments, best practices, and new directions. *Exceptionality*, 9 (2), 3-18. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2001.9666988</u>

- Navab, A., Koegel, R., Dowdy, E. & Vernon, T. (2016). Ethical considerations in the application of the scientist–practitioner model for psychologists conducting intervention research.
 Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 46, 79–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-015-9314-3</u>
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of Game-Based Learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258-283.
- Plavnick, J.B., Kaid, T. & MacFarland, M.C. (2015). Effects of a school-based social skills training program for adolescents with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 2674–2690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2434-5
- Ross, K. M., Kim, H., Tolan, P. H., & Jennings, P. A. (2019). An exploration of normative social and emotional skill growth trajectories during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 62, 102–115.
- Soto-Icaza, P., Aboitiz, F., & Billeke, P. (2015). Development of social skills in children: neural and behavioral evidence for the elaboration of cognitive models. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 333 (9), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00333</u>
- Stevens, S. A., Clairman, H., Nash, K., & Rovet, J. (2016). Social perception in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 23(8), 980-933. http://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2016.1246657

- Steinberg, L. (2014). *Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence.* Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Strecher, V. J., McClure, J. B., Alexander, G. L., Chakraborty, B., Nair, V. N., Konkel, J. M.,
 Greene, S. M., Collins, L.M., Carlier, C.C., Wiese, C.J., Little, R.J., Pomerleau, C.S., &
 Pomerleau, O. F. (2008). Web-based smoking-cessation programs: Results of a
 randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(5), 373-381.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.12.024
- Storebø, O. J., Andersen, E. M., Skoog, M., Hansen, J. S., Simonsen, E., Pedersen, N., Tendal,
 B., Callesen, H. E., Faltinsen, E., & Gluud, C. (2019). Social skills training for attention
 deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children aged 5 to 18 years. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6, 1-147.
- Walker, H. M., Ramsay, E., & Gresham, F. M. (2004). Antisocial behavior at school: Evidence based practices. Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Wight, D., Wimbush, E., Jepson, R., & Doi L. (2016). Six steps in quality intervention development (6SQuID). *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 70(5), 520-525. http://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-205952
- Yuan, S., & Ip, H. (2018). Using virtual reality to train emotional and social skills in children with autism spectrum disorder. *London Journal of Primary Care*, 10(4), 110–112.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/17571472.2018.1483000

Comprehensive Reference List

- Adachi, P. J. C., & Willoughby, T. (2017). The link between playing video games and positive youth outcomes. *Child Development Perspectives*, *11*(3), 202–206.
- Aduen, P. A., Day, T. N., Kofler, M. J., Harmon, S. L., Wells, E. L., & Sarver, D. E. (2018).
 Social problems in ADHD: Is it a skills acquisition or performance problem? *Journal of Psychopathology & Behavioral Assessment*, 40(3), 440–451.
- Ahmad, M. I., Shahid, S., & Maganheim, J. S. (2014). A game-based intervention for improving the communication skills of autistic children in Pakistan. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, (8547), 513-516.
- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1990). Invalidity of true experiments: Self-report pretest biases. *Evaluation Review*, 14(4), 374–390.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1989). Attachments beyond infancy. American Psychologist, 44, 709-716.
- Albert, I., & Trommsdorff, G. (2014). The role of culture in social development over the lifespan: An interpersonal relations approach. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture*, 6(2), 3-30.
- Ali, S., Kerns, K. A., Mulligan, B. P., Olson, H. C., & Astley, S. J. (2018). An investigation of intra-individual variability in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal development in childhood and adolescence*, 24(5), 617–637.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Ames, D. R., & Kammrath, L. K. (2004). Mind-reading and metacognition: Nacissism, not actual competence, predicts self-estimated ability. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 28, 187-209.

- Anderson, C.A., Shibuya, A., Ihori, N., Swing, E. L., Bushman, B. J., Sakamoto A, Rothstein, H.
 R., & Saleem, M. (2010). Violent video game effects on aggression, empathy, and
 prosocial behavior in eastern and western countries: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(2), 151-173.
- Andrade, B. F., Brodeur, D. A., Waschbusch, D. A., Stewart, S. H., & McGee, R. (2009).
 Selective and sustained attention as predictors of social problems in children with typical and disordered attention abilities. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *12*(4), 341–352.
- Andrews, J. L., Ahmed, S. P., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2021). Navigating the social environment in adolescence: The role of social brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(2), 109– 118.
- Andrews, L. A., Grover, R. L., Buffie, M. L., & Nangle, D. W. (2020). Intervening with youth. In Nangle, D.W., Erdley, A.C., & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (Eds.), *Social skills across the life span: Theory, assessment, and intervention*. Academic Press.
- Annetta, L. A, & Bronack, S. C. (2011). Serious educational game assessment: practical methods and models for educational games, simulations, and virtual worlds. Sense Publishers.
- Anzman-Frasca, S., Francis, L. A., & Birch, L. L. (2015). Inhibitory control is associated with psychosocial, cognitive, and weight outcomes in a longitudinal sample of girls. *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*, 1(3), 203–216.
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Morizot, J., & Pagani, L. (2009). Adolescent behavioral, affective, and cognitive engagement in school: Relationship to dropout. *Journal of School Health*, 79(9), 408–415.

- Arnon-Ribenfeld, N., Hasson-Ohayon, I., Lavidor, M., Atzil-Slonim, D., & Lysaker, P.H.
 (2017). The association between metacognitive abilities and outcome measures among people with schizophrenia: A meta-analysis. *European Psychiatry*, 46, 33–41.
- Bach, L.J., & David, A.S. (2006). Self-awareness after acquired and traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology Rehabilitation*, 16(4), 397-414.
- Bachen, C. M., Hernandez-Ramos, P. F., & Raphael, C. (2012). Simulating REAL LIVES:
 Promoting global empathy and interest in learning through simulation games. *Simulation & Gaming*, *43*(4), 437-460.

Bandura, A. (1971). Social learning theory. General Learning Press.

- Baltierra, N. B., Muessig, K. E., Pike, E. C., LeGrand, S., Bull, S. S., & Hightow-Weidman, L.
 B. (2016). More than just tracking time: Complex measures of user engagement with an internet-based health promotion intervention. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, *59*, 299–307.
- Barkley, R.A. (1997). ADHD and the nature of self-control. Guilford Press.
- Barkley, R.A (1998). Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment, Second edition. Guilford Press.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Firth, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? Cognition, 21(1), 37-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8</u>
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Scahill, V., Spong, A., & Lawson, J. (2001). Are intuitive physics and intuitive psychology independent? A test with children with Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Developmental and Learning Disorders*, *5*, 47–78.
- Bavelier, D., Green S., Pouget, A., & Schrater, P. (2012). Brain plasticity through the life span: Learning to learn and action video games. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 391-416.

- Beauchamp, M., & Anderson, V. (2010). SOCIAL: An integrative framework for the development of social skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(1), 39-64.
- Beaumont R., Hariton J., Bennett S., Miranda A., Mitchell E.S. (2017) Social learning instructional models. In: Matson J. (eds) Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Bell, A. C., & D'Zurilla, T. J. (2009). Problem-solving therapy for depression: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(4), 348–353.
- Bellack, A. S., Muesser, K. T., Gingerich, S., & Agresta, J. (2004). Social skills training for schizophrenia: A step-by-step guide (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Bellini, S., & Akullian, J. (2007). A meta-analysis of video modeling and video self-modeling interventions for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Exceptional Children*, 73, 264–287. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/001440290707300301</u>
- Bernstein, M. J., Zawadzki, M. J., Juth, V., Benfield, J. A., & Smyth, J. M. (2018). Social interactions in daily life: Within-person associations between momentary social experiences and psychological and physical health indicators. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(3), 372–394. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517691366
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*(1), 61-79.
- Bishop, S., Gahagan, S., & Lord, C. (2007). Re-examining the core features of autism: A comparison of Autism Spectrum Disorder and Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 48(11), 1111–1121.
- Blacker, K., & Curby, K. (2013). Enhanced visual short-term memory in action video game players. *Attention Perception & Psychophysics*, 75(6), 1128-1136.
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2015). School readiness and self-regulation: A developmental psychobiological approach. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66(1), 711–731.
- Blakemore, S. J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain: implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47, 296–312.
- Boechler, P., Stroulia, E., deJong, E., Delaney, M., Carbonaro, M., Artym, C., Thomas, W. & Klassen, J. (2013). Virtual campus orientation: Supporting students' transition to post-secondary before they actually arrive. *In R. McBride & M. Searson (Eds.), Proceeding of Society for information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference 2013* (246-249). Chesapeake, VA.
- Boot, W., Kramer, A., Simons, D., Fabiani, M., & Gratton, G. (2008). The effects of video game playing on attention, memory, and executive control. *Acta Psychologica*, *129*, 387–398

Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss, Vol. 2: Separation. Basic Books.

- Brotzman, S. B., & Novotny, S. R. (2018). Historical perspectives in orthopaedic manual physical therapy. In C. E. Giangarra & R. Manske (Eds.), *Clinical orthopaedic rehabilitation: A team approach* (4th ed., pp. 2-15). Elsevier.
- Bunford, N., Evans, S., Becker, S., Langberg, J., Evans, S. W., Becker, S. P., & Langberg, J. M. (2015). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and social skills in youth: a moderated mediation model of emotion dysregulation and depression. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(2), 283–296.
- Burke, B. (2014). *Gamify: How gamification motivates people to do extraordinary things*. Bibliomotion.

- Burks, V. S., Laird, R. D., Dodge, K. A., Pettit, G. S., & Bates, J. E. (1999). Knowledge structures, social information processing, and children's aggressive behavior. *Social Development*, 8, 220-236.
- Canadian Pediatric Society (2019). *Digital Media: Promoting healthy screen use in school-aged children and adolescents*. [Position statement]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/digital-media</u>
- Cappadocia, M. C., & Weiss, J. A. (2011). Review of social skills training groups for youth with Asperger Syndrome and High Functioning Autism. *Research In Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(1), 70-78.
- Carvalho, V. H., Brandão, J., Cunha, P., Vasconcelos, J., & Soares, F. (2015). Tobias in the zoo -A serious game for children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning*, 8(3), 23-29. http://doi.org/10.3991/ijac.v8i3.4897
- Casey, B., Giedd, J. N., Thomas, K. M. (2000). Structural and functional brain development and its relation to cognitive development. *Biological Psychology*, *54*(1-3), 241-257.
- Chacko, A., Isham, A., Cleek, A. F., & McKay, M. M. (2016). Using mobile health technology to improve behavioral skill implementation through homework in evidence-based parenting intervention for disruptive behavior disorders in youth: Study protocol for intervention development and evaluation. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 2, 1–11.
- Charak, R., Byllesby, B. M., Fowler, J. C., Sharp, C., Elhai, J. D., & Frueh, B. C. (2019).
 Assessment of the revised Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scales among adolescents and adults with severe mental illness. *Psychiatry Research*, 279, 278–283.

- Chen, K. (2006). Social skills intervention for students with emotional/behavioral disorders: A literature review from the American perspective. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 1(4), 143–149.
- Chiappe, D., Conger, M., Liao, J., Caldwell, J., & Vu, K. (2013). Improving multi-tasking ability through action videogames. *Applied Ergonomics*, 44(2), 278-284. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2012.08.002
- Chisholm, J. D., Hickey, C., Theeuwes, J., & Kingstone, A. (2010). Reduced attentional capture in action video game players. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics, 72*(3), 667–671.
- Chudley, A., Conry, J., Cook, J., Loock, C., Rosales, T., & LeBlanc, N. (2005). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Canadian guidelines for diagnosis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 172, 1-21.
- Cividini-Motta C., Bloom S.E., Campos C. (2017) Challenging behavior. In: Matson J. (eds)
 Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child
 Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Coëffec, A., Romo, L., Cheze, N., Riazuelo, H., Plantey, S., Kotbagi, G., & Kern, L. (2015)
 Early substance consumption and problematic use of video games in adolescence.
 Frontier of Psychology, 6 (501), 1-8.
- Coggins, T., Timler, G., & Olswang, L. (2007). A state of double jeopardy: impact of prenatal alcohol exposure and adverse environments on the social communicative abilities of school-age children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, *38*(2), 117-127.

- Coles, C.D., Strickland, D. C., Padgett, L., & Bellmoff, L. (2007). Games that "work": using computer games to teach alcohol-affected children about fire and street safety. *Research in Developmental Disabilities, 28*, 518–530.
- Colzato, L. S., van Leeuwen, P. J. A., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., & Hommel B. (2010).
 DOOM'd to switch: superior cognitive flexibility in players of first-person shooter games. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1*, 1–5.
- Conners, C. K. (2014). *Conners Continuous Performance Test 3rd edition™ (Conners CPT 3™) manual*. Multi-Health Systems Incorporated.
- Cook, J. L., Green, C. R., Lilley, C. M., Anderson, S. M., Baldwin, M. E., Chudley, A. E.,
 Conry, J.L., LeBlanc, N., Loock, C.A., Lutke, J., Mallon, B.F., McFarlane, A.A., Temple,
 V.K., & Rosales, T. (2016). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: A guideline for diagnosis
 across the lifespan. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 188(3), 191-197.
- Cook, C., Gresham, F., Kern, L., Barreras, R., Thornton, S., & Crews, S. (2008). Social skills training for secondary students with emotional and/or behavioral disorders: a review and analysis of the meta-analytic literature. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 16(3), 131-144.
- Copenhaver, A., Mitrofan, O., & Ferguson, C. J. (2017). For video games, bad news is good news: News reporting of violent video game studies. *CyberPsychology, Behavior & Social Networking*, 20(12), 735–739.
- Cordier, R., Speyer, R., Chen, Y., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Brown, T., Bourke-Taylor, H., Doma, K., & Leicht, A. (2015). Evaluating the psychometric quality of social skills measures: A systematic review. *Plos ONE*, *10*(7), 1-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.013229</u>

- Corkum, P. V., & Siegel, L. S. (1993). Is the continuous performance task a valuable research tool for use with children with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34, 1217-1239.
- Couper, M.P., Alexander, G.L., Zhang, N., Little, R. J., Maddy, N., Nowak, M.A., & Johnson, C.
 (2010). Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *12* (4), 1-29.
- Craig, A., Asher, D., Oros, N., Brewer, A., & Krichmar, J. (2013). Social contracts and humancomputer interaction with simulated adapting agents. *Adaptive Behavior*, *21*(5), 371-387.
- Craig, A.B., Brown, E., Gallagher, S., Raab, L. H., & DeRosier, M. E. (2015). Zoo U: The only research-proven online game that assesses and teaches social skills. 3C Institute.
- Craig, A., Brown, E., Upright, J., & DeRosier, M. (2016). Enhancing children's social emotional functioning through virtual game-based delivery of social skills training. *Journal Of Child & Family Studies*, 25(3), 959-968. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0274-8</u>
- Crick, R., & Dodge, A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychology Bulletin, 115,* 74–101.
- Crowley, S. L. & Merrell, K. W. (2003). The structure of the school social behavior scales: A confirmatory factor analysis. *Assessment for Effective Intervention, 28*, 41-55.
- Dajani, D. R., Llabre, M. M., Nebel, M. B., Mostofsky, S. H., & Uddin, L. Q. (2016). Heterogeneity of executive functions among comorbid neurodevelopmental disorders. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 365-366.
- Davis, T. E., Hess, J. A., Moree, B. N., Fodstad, J. C., Dempsey, T., Jenkins, W. S., & Marson, J.
 L. (2011). Anxiety symptoms across the lifespan in people diagnosed with autism disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5, 112–118.

- de Haan, A. M., Boon, A. E., de Jong, J. T. V. M., Hoeve, M., and Vermeiren, R. R. J. M.
 (2013). A meta-analytic review on treatment dropout in child and adolescent outpatient mental health care. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*, 698–711.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.04.005
- deJong, E., Kuras, P., Boechler, P., Stroulia, E., Carbonaro, M., & King, S. (2011). Technical challenges and solutions: Creating virtual environments for a health science interprofessional course. *The Internet Journal of Allied Health Sciences and Practice*, *4* (9), 1-14.
- Delis, D.C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. (2001). *Delis Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiner's manual*. The Psychological Corporation.
- De Los Reyes, A., & Kazdin, A. E. (2005). Informant discrepancies in the assessment of childhood psychopathology: A critical review, theoretical framework, and recommendations for further study. *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 483–509.
- Deming, D. J. (2017). The growing importance of social skills in the labor market. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *132*(4), 1593–1640.
- Demir, M., Jaafar, J., Bilyk, N., & Ariff, M. R. (2012). Social skills, friendship, and happiness: A cross-cultural investigation. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 152, 379–385. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2011.591451</u>
- DeRosier, M., Craig, A., & Sanchez, R., (2012). Zoo U: A stealth approach to social skills assessment in schools. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2012, 1-7.
- DeRosier, M. & Thomas, J. (2019). Hall of Heroes: A digital game for social skills training with young adolescents. *International Journal of Computer Games Technology*, 1-12.

- DiGennaro Reed, F. D., Hyman, S. R., & Hirst, J. M. (2011). Applications of technology to teach social skills to children with Autism. *Research In Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(3), 1003-1010.
- Drennan, J., & Hyde, A. (2008). Controlling Response Shift Bias: The Use of the Retrospective
 Pre-Test Design in the Evaluation of a Master's Programme. Assessment & Evaluation in
 Higher Education, 33(6), 699–709.
- Dixon, J. A., & Moore, C. F. (1990). The development of perspective taking: Understanding differences in information and weighting. *Child Development*, 61, 1502–1513. http://doi.org/10.2307/1130759
- Dodge, K. A., & Pettit, G. S. (2003). A biopsychosocial model of the development of chronic conduct problems in adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, *39*(2), 349-371.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, *88*(2), 408–416.
- Dörner, R., Göbel, S., Effelsberg, W., & Wiemeyer, J. (2016). Serious games: foundations, concepts, and practice. Springer.
- DuPaul, J., & Weyandt, L. (2006). School-based intervention for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Effects on academic, social, and behavioural functioning. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 53*, 161–176.
- Durlach, P., Kring, J., & Bowens, L. (2009). Effects of action video game experience on change detection. *Military Psychology*, 21(1), 24-39.

- Dwyer, K., Fredstrom, B., Rubin, K., Booth-LaForce, C., Rose-Krasnor, L., & Burgess, K.
 (2010). Attachment, social information processing, and friendship quality of early adolescent girls and boys. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(1), 91-116.
- Dye, M., Green, C., & Bavelier, D. (2009). The development of attention skills in action video game players (English). *Neuropsychologia*, 47(8-9), 1780-1789.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., & Spinrad, T.L. (2006). Prosocial Behavior. In: Eisenberg, N.,
 Damon, W., & Lerner, R.M. Handbook of child psychology: Volume 3 Social, emotional, and personality development 6th ed. Wiley.
- Eisenberg, N., Spinard, T. L., & Eggum, N. (2010). Emotion-related self-regulation and its relation to children's maladjustment. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *6*, 495-525.
- Entertainment Software Association. (2017). Essential facts about the computer and video game industry. Retrieved from <u>www.theesa.com/facts/pdfs/ESA_EF_2016.Pdf</u>
- Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2008). Social skills improvement system: Intervention guide. Pearson Assessments.
- Erath, S., Flanagan, K., & Bierman, K. (2007). Social anxiety and peer relations in early adolescence: Behavioral and cognitive factors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35(3), 405-416.
- Erlandson, B. E., Nelson, B. C., & Savenye, W. C. (2010). Collaboration modality, cognitive load, and science inquiry learning in virtual inquiry environments. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 58(6), 693-710. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-010-9152-7</u>
- Ewoldsen, D. R., Eno, C. A., Okdie, B. M., Velez, J. A., Guadagno, R. E., & DeCoster, J. (2012). Effect of playing violent video games cooperatively or competitively on

subsequent cooperative behavior. *Cyber Psychology, Behavior, and Social Networking,* 15, 1–4.

- Falconer, E., Bryant, R., Felmingham, K. L., Kemp, A. H., Gordon, E., Peduto, A., Olivieri, G.,
 & Williams, L. M. (2008). The neural networks of inhibitory control in posttraumatic
 stress disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 33(5), 413-22.
- Farris, M. S., Devoe, D. J., & Addington, J. (2019). Attrition rates in trials for adolescents and young adults at clinical high-risk for psychosis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 14(5), 515-527. http://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12864
- Feinberg, M. E., Ridenour, T. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Aggregating indices of risk and protection for adolescent behavior problems: The communities that care youth survey. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 40 (6), 506–513.
- Feng, J., Spence, I., & Pratt, J. (2007). Playing an action video game reduces gender differences in spatial cognition. *Psychological Science*, 18(10), 850–855.
- Ferguson C. (2015). Do angry birds make for angry children? A meta-analysis of video game influences on children's and adolescents' aggression, mental health, prosocial behavior, and academic performance. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*(5), 646–66.
- Fiorillo, D., &Sabatini, F. (2011). Quality and quantity: The role of social interactions in selfreported individual health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 73(11), 1644-1652. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.09.007</u>
- Flavell J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: a new area of cognitivedevelopmental inquiry. *American Psychology*, *34*, 906–911.

- Fleming, C. B., Haggerty, K. P., Catalano, R. F., Harachi, T. W., Mazza, J. J., &. Gruman, D. H (2005). Do social and behavioral characteristics targeted by preventive interventions predict standardized test scores and grades? *Journal of School Health*, 75(9), 342–349.
- Flynn, L., & Healy, O. (2012). A review of treatments for deficits in social skills and self-help skills in autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(1), 431-441.
- Föcker, J., Mortazavi, M., Khoe, W., Hillyard, S. A., & Bavelier, D. (2019). Neural correlates of enhanced visual attentional control in action video game players: An event-related potential study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 31(3), 377–389.
- Forster, S., Elizalde, A. O. N., Castle, E., & Bishop, S. (2015). Unraveling the anxious mind: Anxiety, worry, and frontal engagement in sustained attention versus off-task processing, *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(3), 609–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht248</u>
- Frank, G., (1984). The Boulder Model: History, rationale, and critique. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *15*(3), 417–435. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.15.3.417
- Fraser, M. W., & Galinsky, M. J. (2010). Steps in intervention research: Designing and developing social programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 20(5), 459–466.
- Fredrickson, B. L., & Branigan, C. (2005). Positive emotions broaden the scope of attention and thought-action repertoires. *Cognition & Emotion*, 19, 313–332.
- Frey, J. R., Elliot, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2011). Preschoolers' social skills: Advances in assessment for intervention using social behavior ratings. *School of Mental Health*, 3(4), 179-190.

- Frick, P. J., & Morris, A. S. (2004). Temperament and developmental pathways to conduct problems. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 54-68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3301_6</u>
- Frith, C. D. (2007). The social brain? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences, 362, 671–678.
- Furman, W., & Buhrmester, D. (1992). Age and sex differences in perceptions of networks of personal relationships. *Child Development*, 63(1), 103-115.
- Gates, J. A., Kang, E., & Lerner, M. D. (2017). Efficacy of group social skills interventions for youth with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 52, 164–181.
- Gee, J.P. (2003). What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gentile, D. A., Anderson, C. A., Yukawa, S., Ihoro, N., Kam Ming, L., Shibuya, A., Liau, A. K., Khoo, A., Bushman, B. J., Huesmann, L. R., & Sakamoto, A. (2009). The effects of prosocial video games on prosocial behaviors: international evidence from correlational, longitudinal, and experimental studies. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *35*(6), 752 -763.
- Georgeson, A. R., Highlander, A., Loiselle, R., Zachary, C., & Jones, D. J. (2020). Engagement in technology-enhanced interventions for children and adolescents: Current status and recommendations for moving forward. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 78, 1018-1058.
- Geurts, H.M., van den Bergh, S.F., & Ruzzano, L. (2014). Prepotent response inhibition and interference control in autism spectrum disorders: Two meta-analyses. *Autism Research*, 7, 407–420

- Girard, C., Ecalle, J., & Magnan, A. (2013). Serious games as new educational tools: How effective are they? A meta-analysis of recent studies. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 29(3), 207-219.
- Glass, B. D., Maddox, W. T., & Love, B. C. (2013). Real-time strategy game training: Emergence of a cognitive flexibility trait. *Plos ONE*, 8(8), 1. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070350
- Glutting, J., Adams, W., & Sheslow, D. (2000). *Wide Range Intelligence Test Manual*. Wide Range Incorporation.
- Granholm, E. L., McQuaid, J. R., & Holden, J. L. (2016). *Cognitive-behavioral social skills training for schizophrenia: A practical treatment guide*. The Guilford Press.
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychology and Behavioral Assessment, 26*(1), 41–54.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2003). Action video game modifies visual selective attention. *Nature*, *423*(6939), 534–537.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2006a). Enumeration versus multiple object tracking: The case of action video game players. *Cognition*, *101*(1), 217–245.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2006b). Effect of action video games on the spatial distribution of visuospatial attention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 32(6), 1465–1468.
- Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2007). Action-video-game experience alters the spatial resolution of vision. *Psychological Science*, *18*(1), 88–94.

- Greene, R. W., Biederman, J., Farone, S. U., Wilens, T. E., Mick, E., & Blier, H. K. (1999).
 Further validation of social impairment as predictor of substance use disorders. Findings from a sample of siblings of boys with and without ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28, 349–354.
- Greenbaum, R., Stevens, S., Nash, K., Koren, G., & Rovet, J. (2009). Social cognitive and emotion processing abilities of children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: A comparison with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Alcoholism-Clinical and Experimental Research*, 33(10), 1656-1670.
- Gresham, F. M. (1981). Social skills training with handicapped children: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, *51*, 139–176.
- Gresham, F. M. (2016). Social skills assessment and intervention for children and youth. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 46(3), 319-332. http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1195788
- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Manual. Pearson Assessments.
- Gresham, F., Elliott, S., & Kettler, R. (2010). Base rates of social skills acquisition/performance deficits, strengths, and problem behaviors: An analysis of the Social Skills Improvement System-Rating Scales. *Psychological Assessment*, 22(4), 809-815.

http://doi.org/10.1037/a0020255

Gresham, F., Robichauz, N., York, H., & O'Leary, K. (2012). Issues related to identifying and implementing evidence-based social skills interventions for students with high-incidence disabilities. Advances in Learning and Behavioural Disabilities. In Cook, B., Tankersley, M., & Landrum, T., (2012). *Volume 25 classroom behaviour, contexts, and interventions*. Emerald Group Publishing.

- Goh, D. H., Ang, R. P., & Tan, H. C. (2008). Strategies for designing effective psychotherapeutic gaming interventions for children and adolescents. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), 2217-2235. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2007.10.007</u>
- González- González, C., Toledo-Delgado, P., Collazos-Ordoñez, C., & González-Sánchez, J.
 (2013). Design and analysis of collaborative interactions in social educational videogames. *Computers In Human Behavior*, 31, 602-611.
- Gumpel, T. P. (2007). Are social competence difficulties caused by performance or acquisition deficits? The importance of self-regulatory mechanisms. *Psychology in the Schools, 44*, 351–372.
- Guralnick, M. J. (1999). Family and child influences on the peer-related social competence of young children with developmental delays. *Mental Retardation & Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 5(1), 21-29.
- Guthold, R., Moller, A.-B., Adebayo, E., Carvajal, L., Ekman, C., Fagan, L., Ferguson, J.,
 Friedman, H. S., Ba, M. G., Hagell, A., Kohl, K., & Azzopardi, P. S. (2021). Priority areas for adolescent health measurement. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 68(5), 888–898.
 http://doi.org/1016/j.jadohealth.2020.12.127.

Hallingberg, B., Turley, R., Segrott, J. Wight, D., Craig, P., Moore, L., Murphy, S., Robling, M., Simpson, S.A., & Moore, G. (2018). Exploratory studies to decide whether and how to proceed with full-scale evaluations of public health interventions: a systematic review of guidance. *Pilot Feasibility Study*, 4, 104, 1-12. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-018-0290-8</u>

- Hansen, D., Nangle, D., & Meyer, K. (1998). Enhancing the effectiveness of social skills interventions with adolescents. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *21*(4), 489-513.
- Harlow, H. F., & Zimmermann, R. R. (1958). The development of affective responsiveness in infant monkeys. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, *102*, 501 -509.
- Harsanyi, A., Csigo, K., Rajkai, C., Demeter, G., Nemeth, A., & Racsmany, M. (2014). Two types of impairments in OCD: Obsessions, as problems of thought suppression; compulsions, as behavioural-executive impairment. *Psychiatry Research*, 215(3), 651-658.
- Hay, D.F., Payne, A., & Chadwick, A. (2004). Peer relations in childhood. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 45(1), 84–108.
- Homack, S., Lee, D., & Riccio, C. A. (2005). Test review: Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 27(5), 599-609. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/1380339049091844</u>
- Hopkins, I., Gower, M., Perez, T., Smith, D., Amthor, F., Casey Wimsatt, F., & Biasini, F.
 (2011). Avatar assistant: Improving social skills in students with an ASD through a computer-based intervention. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 41(11), 1543-1555. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1179-z</u>
- Huang, W. D., & Tettegah, S. (2010). Cognitive load and empathy in serious games: A conceptual framework. IGI Global
- Hubert, B., Guimard, P., & Florin, A. (2017). Cognitive self-regulation and social functioning among French children: A longitudinal study from kindergarten to first grade. *Psychology Journal*, 6(1), 57–75.

- Hughes-Morley, A. (2017). What are effective methods to recruit research participants into mental health trials? (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Manchester, Manchester.
- Huizenga, J., Admiraal, W., Akkerman, S., & Dam, G. ten. (2009). Mobile game-based learning in secondary education: Engagement, motivation, and learning in a mobile city game. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 25(4), 332–344.
- Hukkelberg, S., Keles, S., Ogden, T., & Hammerstrøm, K. (2019). The relation between behavioral problems and social competence: A correlational meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *19*(1), 1–14. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2343-9</u>
- Isen, A. M. (2002). Missing in action in the AIM: Positive affect's facilitation of cognitive flexibility, innovation, and problem solving. *Psychological Inquiry*, *13*(1), 57–65.
- Izard, C. E. (2009). Emotion theory and research: Highlights, unanswered questions, and emerging issues. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 1–25. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163539</u>
- Jacobson, N. S., & Truax, P. (1991). Clinical significance: A statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 59(1), 12–19. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.59.1.12</u>
- Jones, D. E., Greenberg, M., & Crowley, M. (2015). Early social-emotional functioning and public health: The relationship between kindergarten social competence and future wellness. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(11), 2283-2290.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302630

- Kable, J. A., Taddeo, E., Strickland, D., & Coles, C. D. (2016). Improving FASD children's selfregulation: Piloting phase 1 of the GoFAR intervention. *Child & Family Behavior Therapy*, 38(2), 124–141.
- Kandalaft, M., Didehbani, N., Krawczyk, D., Allen, T., & Chapman, S. (2013). Virtual reality social cognition training for young ddults with High-Functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 43(1), 34-44. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1544-6</u>
- Kang, K., Lu J., & Zhao, J. (2019). How to improve customer engagement: A comparison of playing games on personal computers and on mobile phones. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 15(2), 76-92.
- Kaufman, E. A., Xia, M., Fosco, G., Yaptangco, M., Skidmore, C. R., Crowell, S. E. (2016). The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale Short Form (DERS-SF): Validation and replication in adolescent and adult samples. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 38, 443–455. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-015-9529-3</u>
- Keller, H., Borke, J., Lamm, B., Lohaus, A., & Yovsi, R. D. (2011). Developing patterns of parenting in two cultural communities. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(3), 233–245.
- Kerns, K. A., MacSween, J., Wekken, S. V., & Gruppuso, V. (2010). Investigating the efficacy of an attention training programme in children with foetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 13, 413–422.
- Kerns, K., Macoun, S., MacSween, J., Pei, J., & Hutchison, M. (2017). Attention and working memory training: A feasibility study in children with neurodevelopmental disorders,

Applied Neuropsychology: Child, 6(2), 120-137.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2015.1109513

- Kerns, K. A., Siklos, S., Baker, L., & Müller, U. (2016). Emotion recognition in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Child Neuropsychology*, 22(3), 255-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2014.993310</u>
- Kerr, S. J., Neale, H.R., & Cobb, S. (2002). Virtual environments for social skills training: the importance of scaffolding in practice. *Proceedings of the fifth international ACM conference on Assistive technologies*, 104-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/638249.638269</u>
- Khan, A., & Hayat, F. (2017). Use of digital game-based learning and gamification in secondary school science: The effect on student engagement, learning and gender difference. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22, 2767-2804.
- Kilgus, S. P., von der Embse, N. P., Scott, K., & Paxton, S. (2015). Use of the "intervention selection profile-social skills" to identify social skill acquisition deficits: A preliminary validation study. *Assessment for Effective Intervention*, 40(4), 228–239.
- Kilford, E. J., Garrett, E., & Blakemore, S. (2016). The development of social cognition in adolescence: An integrated perspective. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 106-120. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.016</u>
- Kjellmer, L., & Olswang, L. B. (2013). Variability in classroom social communication: performance of children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and typically developing peers. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 56(3), 982-993.
- Koepp, M. J., Gunn, R. N., Lawrence, A. D., Cunningham, V. J., Dagher, A., Jones, T., Brooks,
 D. J., Bench, C.J., & Grasby, P. M. (1998). Evidence for striatal dopamine release during a video game. *Nature*, 393(6682), 266-268.

Kokol, P., Vošner, H. B., Završnik, J., Vermeulen, J., Shohieb, S., & Peinemann, F. (2020).
 Serious game-based intervention for children with developmental disabilities. *Current Pediatric Reviews*, 16 (1), 26-32. <u>http://doi.org/10.2174/1573396315666190808115238</u>

Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning. Prentice Hall.

- Koning, C., Magill-Evans, J., Volden, J., & Dick, B. (2013). Efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy-based social skills intervention for school-aged boys with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(10), 1282-1290
- Kooistra, L., Crawford, S., Gibbard, B., Ramage, B., & Kaplan, B. J. (2010). Differentiating attention deficits in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder or Attention-Deficit-Hyperactivity Disorder. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 52(2), 205-211.
- Kully-Martens, Denys, K., Treit, S., Tamana, S., & Rasmussen, C. (2012). A review of social skills deficits in individuals with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and Prenatal Alcohol Exposure: Profiles, mechanisms, and interventions. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, (4), 568. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01661.x</u>
- Kupersmidt, J., Coie, J., & Dodge, K. (1990). The role of peer relationships in the development of disorder. In S. Asher & J. Coie (Eds.), *Peer rejection in childhood* (pp. 274–308). Cambridge University Press.
- Laczniak, R. N., Carlson, L., Walker, D., & Brocato, E. D. (2017). Parental restrictive mediation and children's violent video game play: The effectiveness of the entertainment software rating board (ESRB) rating system. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *36*(1), 70–78.
- Ladd, G. W. (1999). Peer relationships and social competence during early and middle childhood. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *50*(1), 333-359.

- Lanovaz M.J., Dufour M. M., Argumedes M. (2017) Behavior analytic methods. In: Matson
 J. (eds) Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children. Autism and Child
 Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Laugeson, E., Frankel, F., Catherine, M., & Dillon, A. R. (2009). Parent-assisted social skills training to improve friendships in teens with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39* (4), 597-606. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/S10803-008-0664-5</u>
- Ledford, J. R., King, S., Harbin, E. R., & Zimmerman, K. N. (2018). Antecedent social skills interventions for individuals with ASD: What works, for whom, and under what conditions? *Focus on Autism & Other Developmental Disabilities*, *33*(1), 3–13.
- Leaf, J. B., Taubman, M., Milner, C., Dale, J., Townley-Cochran, D., Tsuji, K., Kassardijan, A., Alacay, A., Leaf, R., & McEachin, J. (2016). Teaching social communication skills suing a cool versus not cool procedure plus role-playing and social skills taxonomy. *Education and Treatment of Children, 39*, 44-63.
- Le Heuzey, M. F., Mouren, M. C. (2012). Videogame addiction: a danger for only at-risk children or for all children. *Bulletin de l'Academic Nationale de Medicine*, *196*(1), 15-23.
- Lemerise, E. A., & Arsenio, W. F. (2000). An integrated model of emotion processes and cognition in social information processing. *Child Development*, *71*, 107–118.
- Lerner, M. D., & Mikami, A. Y. (2012). A preliminary randomized controlled trial of two social skills interventions for youth with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 27(3), 147–157.

- Lerner, M. D., & White, S. W. (2015). Moderators and mediators of treatments for youth with autism spectrum disorders. In Maric, M., Ollendick, T.H., & Prins, P. J. M., *Moderators and Mediators of Youth Treatment Outcomes*. Oxford University Press.
- Lindsey, M. A., Brandt, N. E., Becker, K. D., Lee, B. R., Barth, R. P., Daleiden, E. L., & Chorpita, B. F. (2014). Identifying the common elements of treatment engagement interventions in children's mental health services. *Clinical Child Family Psychology Review*, 17, 283-298.
- Lindinger, N. M., Malcolm-Smith, S., Dodge, N. C., Molteno, C. D., Thomas, K. F., Meintjes, E.
 M., Jacobson, J.L., & Jacobson, S. W. (2016). Theory of Mind in children with Fetal
 Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(2), 367-376.
- Lissak G. (2018). Adverse physiological and psychological effects of screen time on children and adolescents: Literature review and case study. *Environmental Research*, 164, 149-157. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.01.015</u>
- Loftus, G. R., & Loftus, E. F. (1983). *Mind at play: The psychology of video games* (Vol. 14). Basic Books.
- Lopata, C., Donnelly, J. P., Rodgers, J. D., & Thomeer, M. L. (2019). Systematic review of data analyses and reporting in group-based social skills intervention RCTS for youth with ASD. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 59*, 10–21.
- Lopez, C., & DuBois, D. L. (2005). Peer victimization and rejection: Investigation of an integrative model of effects on emotional, behavioral, and academic adjustment in early adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 34, 25-36.

- Ludlow, B. L. (2015). Virtual reality: Emerging applications and future directions. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *34*(3), 3-10.
- Lugnegard, T., Hallerback, M. U., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Psychiatric comorbidity in young adults with a clinical diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *32*, 1910–1917.
- Lyon, A. R., Dopp, A.R., Brewer, S.K., Kientz, J.A., & Munson, S.A. (2020). Designing the future of children's mental health services. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 47, 735-75. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-020-01038-x</u>
- Maag, J. W. (2005). Social skills training for youth with emotional and behavioral disorders and learning disabilities: Problems, conclusions, and suggestions. *Exceptionality*, 13, 155–172.
- Mahmood, Z., Burton, C. Z., Vella, L., & Twamley, E. W. (2018). Neuropsychological predictors of performance-based measures of functional capacity and social skills in individuals with severe mental illness. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 102,201-206. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.04.011
- Makela, M. L., Pei, J. R., Kerns, K. A., MacSween, J. V., Kapasi, A., & Rasmussen, C. (2019). Teaching children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder to use metacognitive strategies. *Journal of Special Education*, 53(2), 119–128.
- Malone, T. W. (1981). Toward a theory of intrinsically motivating instruction. *Cognitive Science*, *5*, 333–369.

Mariasine, J., Pei, J., Poth, C., Henneveld, D., & Rasmussen, C. (2014). Adaptive functioning, social skills, mental health, and personal strengths among adolescents with Prenatal Alcohol Exposure (PAE). *International Journal of Psychological Studies*, 6(2), 36-48.

Matson, J. (2009). Social behavior and skills in children. Springer.

- Matson J. (2017). *Handbook of social behavior and skills in children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Matson, J., Neal, D., Worley, J., Kozlowski, A., & Fodstad, J. (2012). Factor structure of the Matson Evaluation of Social Skills with Youngsters-II (MESSY-II). *Research In Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 2067-2071.
- Matson, J. L., & Wilkins, J. (2007). A critical review of assessment targets and methods for social skills excesses and deficits for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 1, 28–37.
- Matson, J., & Wilkins, J. (2009). Psychometric testing methods for children's social skills. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 30(2), 249-274.
- McDermott, A. F., Bavelier, D., & Green, C. S. (2014). Memory abilities in action video game players. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 34, 69–78. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.01.018</u>
- McGee, C. L., Fryer, S. L., Bjorkquist, O. A., Mattson, S. N., & Riley, E. P. (2009). Deficits in social problem solving in adolescents with Prenatal Exposure to Alcohol. *American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse*, 34(4), 423-431.
- McKay, H. G., King, D., Eakin, E. G., Seeley, J. R., & Glasgow, R. E. (2001). The diabetes network internet-based physical activity intervention: A randomized pilot study. *Diabetes Care, 24*(8), 1328-1334. <u>http://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.24.8.1328</u>

- McLaughlin, K. A., Peverill, M., Gold, A. L., Alves, S., & Sheridan, M. A. (2015). Child maltreatment and neural systems underlying emotion regulation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(9), 753–762.
- McMahon, C., Lerner, M., & Britton, N. (2013). Group-based social skills interventions for adolescents with higher-functioning autism spectrum disorder: A review and looking to the future. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics, 23*, 23-38.
- Merrell, K. W. (2001). Assessment of children's social skills: Recent developments, best practices, and new directions. *Exceptionality*, *9* (2), 3-18.

http://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2001.9666988

- Midgley, G. (2000). *Systemic intervention*. In: Systemic Intervention, Philosophy, Methodology, and Practice. Springer.
- Milligan K., Sibalis A., Morgan A., Phillips M. (2017) Social competence: Consideration of behavioral, cognitive, and emotional factors. In: Matson J. (eds) *Handbook of Social Behavior and Skills in Children*. Autism and Child Psychopathology Series. Springer.
- Mitchell, P., Parsons, S., & Leonard, A. (2007). Using virtual environments for teaching social understanding to 6 adolescents with Autistic Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 37(3), 589-600.
- Morand-Beaulieu, S., Grot, S., Lavoie, J., Leclerc, J. B., Luck, D., & Lavoie, M. E. (2017). The puzzling question of inhibitory control in Tourette syndrome: A metaanalysis. *Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, 80, 240–262.
- Müller, C. M., & Gmünder, L. (2014). An evaluation of the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes-Test" with seventh to ninth graders. *Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 7(1), 34–44.

- Nangle, D. W, Erdley, C. Anne, & Schwartz-Mette, R. A. (2020). Social skills across the life span: Theory, assessment, and intervention. Academic Press.
- Nangle, D.W. Grover, R.L., Holleb, L. J., Cassano, M., & Fales, J. (2010). Defining competence and identifying target skills. In D. W. Nangle, D.J. Hansen, C. Erdley (Eds.), *Practitioner's guide to empirically based measures of social skills* (pp. 3-19). Springer
- Navab, A., Koegel, R., Dowdy, E. & Vernon, T. (2016). Ethical considerations in the application of the scientist–practitioner model for psychologists conducting intervention research.
 Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 46, 79–87 <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-015-9314-3</u>
- Ninaus, M., Greipl, S., Kiili, K., Lindstedt, A., Huber, S., Klein, E., Karnath, H., & Moeller, K. (2019). Increased emotional engagement in game-based learning – A machine learning approach on facial emotion detection data. *Computers & Education*, 142, 1-10.
- Oei, A. C., & Patterson, M. D. (2013). Enhancing cognition with video games: A multiple game training dtudy. *Plos ONE*, 8(3), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058546</u>
- O'Keeffe, S., Martin, P., Target, M., & Midgley, N. (2019). "I just stopped going": A mixed methods investigation into types of therapy dropout in adolescents with depression. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10* (75), 1-49.
- Olderbak, S., Wilhelm, O., Olaru, G., Geiger, M., Brenneman, M. W., & Roberts, R. D. (2015).
 A psychometric analysis of the reading the mind in the eyes test: toward a brief form for research and applied settings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1503* (6), 32-45.

http://doi.org:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01503

Olson, M. H., & Hergenhahn, B. R. (2013). *An introduction to theories of learning*. Pearson Prentice Hall.

- Othman, A., Ramlee, F., Ghazalan, S. M., Wei, W. K., & Shahidi, R. M. (2015). Effects of a brief cognitive-behavioural and social skills group intervention for children with psychological problem: A pilot study. *International Medical Journal*, *22*(4), 241-245.
- Padgett, L. S., Strickland, D., & Coles, C.D. (2006). Case study: using a virtual reality computer game to teach fire safety skills to children diagnosed with fetal alcohol syndrome. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 31, 65–70.
- Paradis, J., Emmerzael, K., & Sorenson Duncan, T. (2010). Assessment of English language learners: Using parent report on first language development. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 43, 474-497.
- Pardina-Torner, H., X. Carbonell & M. Castejón. (2019). A comparative analysis of the processing speed between video game players and non-players. *Aloma, 37* (1), 13–20.
- Parker, J., Rubin, K., Erath, S., Wojslawowicz, J, & Buskirk, A. (2006). Peer relationships, child development, and adjustment: A developmental psychopathology perspective. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 1, 419-493.
- Parsons, S., & Mitchell, P. (2002). The potential of virtual reality in social skills training for people with Autistic Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46(5), 430-443. <u>http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2002.00425.x</u>
- Paulus, F. W., Ohmann, S. & Popow, C. (2016). Practitioner review: School-based interventions in child mental health. Journal Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 57, 1337-1359. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12584</u>
- Pei, J., & Kerns, K. (2012). Using games to improve functioning in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Games For Health Journal*, 1(4), 308-311. http://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2012.0036

- Perski, O., Michie, S., & Blandford, A. (2016). Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systemic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 7(2), 254-267.
- Pfiffner, J., Calzada, E., & McBurnett, K. (2000). Interventions to enhance social competence. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *9*, 689–709.
- Philipp, R., Kriston, L., Lanio, J., Kühne, F., Härter, M., Moritz, S., & Meister, R. (2019). Effectiveness of metacognitive interventions for mental disorders in adults-A systematic review and meta-analysis (METACOG). *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 26(2), 227–240.
- Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015). Foundations of game-based learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(4), 258-283.
- Plass, J. L., & Kaplan, U. (2015). Emotional design in digital media for learning. In S. Tettegah,
 & M. Gartmeier (Eds.), *Emotions, technology, design, and learning* (pp. 131–162).
 Elsevier.
- Plass, J. L., Heidig, S., Hayward, E. O., Homer, B. D., & Um, E. (2014). Emotional design in multimedia learning: Effects of shape and color on affect and learning. *Learning and Instruction, 29*, 128–140. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.02.006</u>
- Plavnick, J.B., Kaid, T. & MacFarland, M.C. (2015). Effects of a school-based social skills training program for adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Intellectual Disability. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 2674–2690.
 http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2434-5
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Chimpanzee problem-solving: A test for comprehension. *Science*, 202, 532–535.

- Prensky, M. (2003). Digital game-based learning. *Computers in Entertainment, 1,* 21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/950566.950596
- Quattlebaum, J., & O'Connor, M. (2013). Higher functioning children with prenatal alcohol exposure: Is there a specific neurocognitive profile? *Child Neuropsychology*, 19(6), 561-578.
- Rabiner, D. L., Godwin, J., & Dodge, K. A. (2016). Predicting academic achievement and attainment: The contribution of early academic skills, attention difficulties, and social competence. *School Psychology Review*, 45(2), 250–267.
- Radley, K. C., O'Handley, R. D., Ness, E. J., Ford, B., Battaglia, A. A., McHugh, M. B., & McLemore, C. E. (2014). Promoting social skill use and generalization in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *8*, 669–680.
- Rasmussen, C., Becker, M., McLennan, J., Urichuk, L., & Andrew, G. (2011). An evaluation of social skills in children with and without prenatal alcohol exposure. *Child: Care, Health* and Development, 37, 711–718.
- Rasmussen, C., & Bisanz, J. (2009). Executive functioning in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: Profiles and age-related differences. *Child Neuropsychology*, 15(3), 201-215. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/09297040802385400</u>
- Reichow, B., Steiner, A. M., & Volkmar, F. (2012). Social skills groups for people aged 6 to 21 with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Evidence-Based Child Health*, 8(2), 266–315. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/ebch.1902</u>
- Ricci, K., Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (1996). Do computer-based games facilitate knowledge acquisition and retention? *Military Psychology*, 8(4), 295-307

- Rice, L., Wall, C., Fogel, A., & Shic, F. (2015). Computer-assisted face processing instruction improves emotion recognition, mentalizing, and social skills in students with ASD. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 45(7), 2176-2186. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2380-2
- Richard-Devantoy, S., Gorwood, P., Annweiler, C., Olie, J. P., Le Gall, D., & Beauchet,
 O. (2012). Suicidal behaviours in affective disorders: A deficit of cognitive inhibition? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie*, 57(4), 254–262.
- Rose, T. (2012). School readiness is about more than knowing the A-B-Cs and 1-2-3s. Zero to *Three*, *33*(1), 17-23
- Rose-Krasnor L. (1997) The nature of social competence: A theoretical review. *Social Development*, 6 (1), 111–135.
- Ross, K. M., Kim, H., Tolan, P. H., & Jennings, P. A. (2019). An exploration of normative social and emotional skill growth trajectories during adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 62, 102–115.
- Russoniello, C. V., O'Brien, K., & Parks, J. M. (2009). The effectiveness of casual video games in improving mood and decreasing stress. *Journal of Cybertherapy and Rehabilitation*, 2 (1), 53-66.
- Ryan, R. M., Rigby, C. S., & Przybylski, A. (2006). The motivational pull of video games: A self-determination theory approach. *Motivation and Emotion*, 30, 344–360. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11031-006-9051-8</u>
- Saenz, G. D., Geraci, L., & Tirso, R. (2019). Improving metacognition: A comparison of interventions. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 33(5), 918–929.

- Sanchez, R., Brown, E., Kocher, K., & DeRosier, M. (2017). Improving children's mental health with a digital social skills development game: A randomized controlled efficacy trial of adventures aboard the S.S. GRIN. *Games for Health Journal*, 6(1), 19–27.
- Sanford, K., Starr, L. J., Merkel, L., & Bonsor Kurki, S. (2015). Serious games: Video games for good? *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 12(1), 90–106.
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018): The age of adolescence. *Lancet Child Adolescent Health*, *2*, 223–228.
- Scandurra, V., Emberti Gialloreti, L., Barbanera, F., Scordo, M. R., Pierini, A., & Canitano, R. (2019). Neurodevelopmental disorders and adaptive functions: A study of children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and/or Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *10*, 673. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00673</u>
- Schoenfeld, N. A., Rutherford, R. B., Gable, R. A., & Rock, M. L. (2008). ENGAGE: A blueprint for incorporating social skills training into daily academic instruction. *Preventing School Failure*, 52(3), 17–28.
- Schunk, D. H., Pintrich, P. R., & Meece, J. L. (2008). *Motivation in education* (3rd ed.). Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Segrin, C., McNelis, M., & Swiatkowski, P. (2016). Social skills, social support, and psychological distress: A test of the social skills deficit vulnerability model. *Human Communication Research*, 42(1), 122-137. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12070</u>
- Serret, S., Hun, S., Iakimova, G., Lozada, J., Anastassova, M., Santos, A., Vesperini, S., & Askenazy, F. (2014). Facing the challenge of teaching emotions to individuals with lowand high-functioning autism using a new serious game: A pilot study. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1), 1-35. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-37</u>

- Siu, K., Guzdial, M., & Riedl, M. O. (2017). Evaluating singleplayer and multiplayer in human computation games. In Proceedings of FDG'17, Hayannis, MA, USA, August 14-17, 2017. <u>http://doi.org/10.1145/3102071.3102077</u>
- Skutch, J.M., Wang, S.B., Buqo, T., Haynos, A.F., & Papa, A. (2019). Which brief is best?
 Clarifying the use of three brief versions of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale.
 Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 41, 485–494.
 http://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-019-09736-z
- Soto-Icaza, P., Aboitiz, F., & Billeke, P. (2015). Development of social skills in children: neural and behavioral evidence for the elaboration of cognitive models. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 333 (9), 1-16. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00333
- Spence, S. H. (2003). Social skills training with children and young people: Theory, evidence and practice. *Child & Adolescent Mental Health*, 8(2), 84-96. http://doi.org/10.1111/1475-3588.00051
- Spaans, R. (2014). *The perceived impact of a mentoring program for youth with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders* [Unpublished master's thesis]. University of Alberta.
- Stacks, A., & Oshio, T. (2009). Disorganized attachment and social skills as indicators of Head Start children's school readiness skills. *Attachment & Human Development*, 11(2), 143-164.
- Standen, P. J., & Brown, D. J. (2005). Virtual reality in the rehabilitation of people with Intellectual Disabilities: Review. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 8(3), 272-282. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2005.8.272</u>
- Stasiak, K., Hatcher, S., Frampton, C., & Merry, S. N. (2014). A pilot double blind randomized placebo-controlled trial of a prototype computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy

program for adolescents with symptoms of depression. *Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *42*(4), 385–401.

- Stattin, H., & Kerr, M. (2009). Challenges in intervention research on adolescent development. *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(6), 1437–1442.
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, *9*(2), 69-74.
- Steinberg, L. (2014). Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence. Houghton Mifflin.
- Stenstrom, C. D., & Bjork, S. (2013, May 16). Understanding computer role-playing games: A genre analysis based on gameplay features in combat systems. In K. Hullett, & D. Milam (Conference Chairs), Second Workshop on Design Patterns in Games (FDG 2013, Chania, Crete, Greece). Retrieved from <u>http://soda.swedish-ict.se/5590/1/Unders</u>
- Stevens, S. A., Clairman, H., Nash, K., & Rovet, J. (2016). Social perception in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 23(8), 980-933.

http://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2016.1246657

- Stevens, S. A., Dudek, J., Nash, K., Koren, G., & Rovet, J. (2015). Social perspective taking and empathy in children with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(1), 74-84. <u>http://doi.org/10.1017/S135561774001088</u>
- Stewart, J., Bleumers, L., Van Looy, J., Mariën, I., All, A., Schurmans, D., Willart, K., De Grove, F., Jacobs, A., & Misuraca, G. (2013). *The potential of digital games for empowerment and social inclusion of groups at risk of social and economic exclusion:*

Evidence and opportunity for policy. Institute for Prospective and Technological Studies, Joint Research Centre, Seville, Spain.

- Stichter, J., Laffey, J., Galyen, K., & Herzog, M. (2014). iSocial: Delivering the social competence intervention for adolescents (SCI-A) in a 3D virtual learning environment for youth with High Functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 44(2), 417-430. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1881-0</u>
- Storebø, O. J., Andersen, E. M., Skoog, M., Hansen, J. S., Simonsen, E., Pedersen, N., Tendal,
 B., Callesen, H. E., Faltinsen, E., & Gluud, C. (2019). Social skills training for attention
 deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children aged 5 to 18 years. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6, 1-147.
- Strecher, V. J., McClure, J. B., Alexander, G. L., Chakraborty, B., Nair, V. N., Konkel, J. M.,
 Greene, S. M., Collins, L.M., Carlier, C.C., Wiese, C.J., Little, R.J., Pomerleau, C.S., &
 Pomerleau, O. F. (2008). Web-based smoking-cessation programs: Results of a
 randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(5), 373-381.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.12.024
- Strobach, T., Frensch, P. A., & Schubert, T. (2012). Video game practice optimizes executive control skills in dual-task and task switching situations. *Acta Psychologica*, 140, 13-24. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2012.02.001</u>
- Sugaya, N., Shirasaka, T., Takahashi, K., & Kanda, H. (2019). Bio-psychosocial factors of children and adolescents with internet gaming disorder: a systematic review.
 BioPsychoSocial Medicine, 13 (3), 1-16. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s13030-019-0144-5</u>
- Tanaka, J., Wolf, J., Klaiman, C., Koenig, K., Cockburn, J., Herlihy, L., Brown, C., Stahl, S., Kaiser, M.D., & Schultz, R. (2010). Using computerized games to teach face recognition

skills to children with autism spectrum disorder: the Let's Face It! program. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(8), 944-952.

- Taylor, L. & Parsons, J. (2011). Improving student engagement. *Current Issues in Education*, 14(1), 1-32.
- Teicher M. H., Samson J. A., Polcari, A., & McGreenery, C. E. (2006). Sticks, stones, and hurtful words: relative effects of various forms of childhood maltreatment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(6), 993–1000.
- Temple, V. K., Cook, J. L., Unsworth, K., Rajani, H., & Mela, M. (2019). Mental health and affect regulation impairment in Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD): Results from the Canadian national FASD aatabase. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 54(5), 545–550.
- Thomas, S., Kelly, S., Mattson, S., & Riley, E. (1998). Comparison of social abilities of children with fetal alcohol syndrome to those of children with similar IQ scores and normal controls. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22, 528–533.
- Thomson, K., Riosa, P. B., & Weiss, J. A. (2015). Brief report of preliminary outcomes of an emotion regulation intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(11), 3487–3495.
- Trisolini, D. C., Petilli, M. A., & Daini, R. (2018). Is action video gaming related to sustained attention of adolescents? *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 71(5), 1033– 1039.
- Turkay, S., Hoffman, D., Kinzer, Charles. K., Chantes, P., & Vicari, C. (2014). Toward understanding the potential of games for learning: Learning theory, game design characteristics, and situating videogames in classrooms. *Computers in the Schools, 31*, 2–22.

- Um, E., Plass, J. L., Hayward, E. O., & Homer, B. D. (2012). Emotional design in multimedia learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104, 485–498.
- Uttal, D. H., Meadow, N. G., Tipton, E., Hand, L. L., Alden, A. R., Warren, C., & Newcombe,
 N. S. (2013). The malleability of spatial skills: A meta-analysis of training studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139, 352–402. doi:10.1037/a0028446
- Verheijen, G. P., Burk, W.J., Stoltz, S.E.M.J., van den Berg, Y.H.M., Cillessen, A.H.N. (2018).
 Friendly fire: Longitudinal effects of exposure to violent video games on aggressive behavior in adolescent friendship dyads. *Aggressive Behaviour*, 44(3), 257-267.
 http://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21748
- Villani, D., Carissoli, C., Triberti, S., Marchetti, A., Gilli, G., & Riva, G. (2018). Videogames for emotion regulation: A systematic review. *Games for Health Journal*, 7(2), 85–99.
- Walcott, C.M., & Landau, S. (2004). The relation between disinhibition and emotion regulation in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 772–782.
- Walker, H. M., Ramsay, E., & Gresham, F. M. (2004). Antisocial behavior at school: Evidence based practices. Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Walton, K., & Ingersoll, B. (2013). Improving social skills in adolescents and adults with Autism and severe to profound Intellectual Disability: A review of the literature. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 594-615. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1601-1</u>
- Wegrzyn, S. C., Hearrington, D., Martin, T., & Randolph, A. B. (2012). Brain games as a potential nonpharmaceutical alternative for the treatment of ADHD. *Journal of Research*

on Technology in Education, 45(2), 107–130.

http://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2012.10782599

- Weil, L.G., Fleming, S.M., Dumontheil, I., Kilford, E.J., Weil, R.S., Rees, G., Dolan, R.J., & Blakemore, S.J. (2013). The development of metacognitive ability in adolescence. *Consciousness and Cognition, 22*(1), 264-271.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2013.01.004
- Wells, A. (1995). Meta-cognition and worry: A cognitive model of generalized anxiety disorder.
 Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 23(3), 301-320.
 http://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465800015897
- Whaley, S., O'Connor, M., & Gunderson, B. (2001) Comparison of adaptive functioning of children prenatally exposed to alcohol to a nonexposed clinical sample. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 25, 1018–1024.
- Whetstone, P. J., Gillmor, S. C., & Schuster, J. G. (2015). Effects of a metacognitive social skill intervention in a rural setting with at-risk adolescents. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 34(2), 25–35.
- White, S. W., Keonig, K., & Scahill, L. (2007). Social skills development in children with autism spectrum disorders: A review of the intervention research. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37, 1858–1868. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0320-x</u>
- Whyte, E. M., Smyth, J. M., & Scherf, K. S. (2015). Designing serious game interventions for individuals with Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 3820-3831.
- Wight, D., Wimbush, E., Jepson, R., & Doi L. (2016). Six steps in quality intervention development (6SQuID). *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 70(5), 520-525. <u>http://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-205952</u>
- Wilms, I. I., Petersen, A., & Vangkilde, S. (2013). Intensive video gaming improves encoding speed to visual short-term memory in young male adults. *Acta Psychologica*, 142, 108– 118.
- Wols, A., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A., Schoneveld, E. A., & Granic, I. (2018). In-game play behaviors during an applied video game for anxiety prevention predict successful intervention outcomes. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 40*(4), 655–668. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-018-9684-4</u>
- Wolstencroft, J., Robinson, L., Srinivasan, R., Kerry, E., Mandy, W., & Skuse, D. (2018). A systematic review of group social skills interventions, and meta-analysis of outcomes, for children with High Functioning ASD. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2293–2307.
- Wood, J., Mathews, A., & Dalgleish, T. (2001). Anxiety and cognitive inhibition. *Emotions*, *1*(2), 166-181.
- Woodward, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2000). Childhood peer relationship problems and later risks of educational underachievement and unemployment. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 41(2), 191–201.
- Worley, J. A., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Psychiatric symptoms in children diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder: An examination of gender differences. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 3, 1086–1091.

- Yuan, S., & Ip, H. (2018). Using virtual reality to train emotional and social skills in children with autism spectrum disorder. *London journal of primary care*, 10(4), 110–112.
 http://doi.org/10.1080/17571472.2018.1483000
- Zamani, E., Kheradmand, A., Cheshmi, M., Abedi, A., & Hedayati N. (2010). Comparing the social skills of students addicted to computer games with normal students. *Addict Health*, 2 (3-4), 59-65.
- Zhaoyang, R., Sliwinski, M. J., Martire, L. M., & Smyth, J. M. (2018) Age differences in adults' daily social interactions: An ecological momentary assessment study. *Psychology of Aging*, 33(4), 607-618. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000242</u>

Appendix A

Ethics Approval Letter

Approval Form

Date:	March 17, 2015
Study ID:	Pro00052027
Principal Investigator:	Jacqueline Pei
Study Title:	Social Skills Training in FASD: Use of Virtual Environments
Approval Expiry Date:	March-15-16
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	Scholarship and Awards Committee Faculty of Education

	Project ID Project Title	Speed Code	Other Information
RSO-Managed Funding:	View RES0003521 ACCFCR IDSRG 09SM Pei		
	View RES0005063 UV 20070254 (33884- 58400) Pei		
	View RES0008657 University of Victoria/NeuroDevNet		

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel . Your application, including revisions received February 20 & March 16, 2015, has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee.

A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Health Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the patients, staff or resources of Alberta Health Services or other local health care institutions for the purposes of the research. Enquiries regarding Alberta Health Services approvals should be directed to (780) 407-6041. Enquiries regarding Covenant Health should be directed to (780) 735-2274.

Sincerely,

Anthony S. Joyce, Ph.D. Chair, Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

Appendix B

Information Letters

Project:

Aims:

PARENTAL/GUARDIAN INFORMATION FOR CHILD TO BE INVOLVED IN AN INTERVENTION STUDY Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments **Researchers:** Jacqueline Pei PhD, Educational Psychology; Patricia Boechler PhD, Educational Psychology Information: Please call Dr. Pei (780) 248-1167. In this study, we want to see if adolescents with complex needs (e.g. a FASD, suspected FASD or other diagnoses) can improve their social skills through playing a video game. If you agree to have your child do this study, you will be asked to answer some questions about your child. Then your child will be asked to play a computer game at home or at one of the participating organizations' offices, once a week for 6 weeks. We will also do three sets of tests, each 6 weeks apart. **Background:** Adolescents with complex needs such as FASD or other diagnoses often have challenges with social skills, but there is little research on how to improve this. This project is trying to improve your child's social skills. Testing will take approximately 2 hours, measuring attention, concentration, social skills, thinking and reasoning abilities. Subsequent

Trials: testing will last approximately 60 minutes each. When possible, testing will take place at one of the participating community organizations. At three times during the study, you will be asked to fill out a form about your child's behavior. The form will take approximately 20 to 30 minutes of your time and will be given to you about 6 weeks apart. Prior to starting the intervention, you will also be asked to complete a background questionnaire about your child.

Your child will be asked to play an online computer game for approximately an hour long once a week for 6 weeks. In this game your child will interact with other adolescents online. The game will be monitored by the researchers to ensure that proper play occurs.

Possible benefits: Children will have fun playing in a team format. Your child may also enjoy using the new skills they learn to help them interact with others. In addition, your child will receive a \$10 iTunes gift card (or equivalent) each time they complete one of the 3 sets of tests. You will also receive a onetime \$25 Indigo gift card upon completion of the questionnaires at the beginning of the study.

1/2

- **Possible risks:** There are no known risks to participating in this study. You and your child will not experience any negative results if you choose not to participate.
- **Confidentiality:** Only the people involved with the study will see the information collected. Your child's name will be replaced by a number and will not be shared with anyone outside the study. In addition, the name will not be used in any publications and the information collected during the study will be kept in a locked filing cabinet at the University of Alberta for at least of five years.
- Withdrawal: Your child may choose to leave the study at any time while participating in the study, without having to give a reason. If they choose to leave, they will have the option of having all of their data destroyed. Once all the above identified data has been collected withdrawal is no longer possible (approximately 12 weeks from start date). When deciding to withdraw your child will receive the promised gift cards up to the number of sets of testing that they completed. For example, if they decide to withdraw after the second set of testing they will receive 2 gift cards.
- **Concerns:** If you have concerns with this study, please contact the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board at 780-492-2615. This office has no affiliation with the study investigators.

2/2

Department of Educational Psychology Faculty of Education University of Alberta • Edmonton • Alberta • Canada • T6G 2V2 Telephone: (780) 248-1167 Fax: (780) 492-1318 Email: Jacqueline.pei@ualberta.ca

INFORMATION FOR ADOLESCENTS ABOUT INTERVENTION STUDY

Project:	Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments
Investigators:	Jacqueline Pei PhD, Educational Psychology; Patricia Boechler PhD, Educational Psychology
	This study is to find out if playing a special computer game can help youth with their social skills.
What is it?:	Talking with other people, making friends, or knowing what to do or say when around others may be hard sometimes. Learning how to do this may make it easier. We will play a computer game in a team to see if it helps kids get better social skills.
What will you have	to do?: The game will take place at your house or at one of the
	organizations' offices and will last an hour, one time per week for 6 weeks. Before you start, after you finish the 6 weeks, and at one other point you will work on some tasks that will tell us what your social skills are like. It may take around 2 hours the first time and then 60 minutes the next two times, to do these parts.
Will it help?:	Most kids and youth like playing this game and working together with others to complete the game. You will also receive a \$10 iTunes gift card (or Indigo) each time that you complete a set of tests. In total, you will be able to get up to \$30 in gift cards.
Will it hurt?:	We do not think it will hurt you to do this research.
Who will know?:	Only the researchers will know that you are doing this study and they will be the only ones to look at the test results.
<u>Can you quit?:</u>	You can quit the study at any time. You do not have to give a reason if you want to quit. You can ask the researchers about the study at any time. Also know that if you decide to quit you will still receive the gift cards for the number of set of tests that you completed. For example, if you stop participating in the study after you have completed 2 sets of testing then you will receive a total of 2 gift cards.
Do you have more	questions?: You can ask your caregivers about anything you don't understand. You can also ask Dr. Pei, her phone number is 780-248-1167.

Department of Educational Psychology Faculty of Education University of Alberta · Edmonton · Alberta · Canada · T6G 2V2 Telephone: (780) 248-1167 Fax: (780) 492-1318 Email: Jacqueline.pei@ualberta.ca 1/2

Appendix C

Consent and Assent Forms

PARENTAL/GUARDIAN CONSENT FOR CHILD TO BE INVOLVED IN INTERVENTION STUDY

	Project: Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments
Investigators:	Jacqueline Pei PhD, Educational Psychology; Patricia Boechler PhD, Educational Psychology
Information:	Please call Dr. Pei (780)-248-1167.
	DEMOGRAPHIC/HEALTH INFORMATION
Child's Name:	Birth Date: (M/D/Y)/ Weight: Sex: M/F
Caregiver's Name:	Phone Number (daytime):
Address:	City/Province:/ Postal Code:
Are you the child's <u>l</u>	egal guardian? YES NO
Relationship to child	(circle): Biological Parent / Adoptive Parent / Foster Parent / Relative* / Other*
*If relative or other j	please specify:
If you are not the ch or provide a name a	ld's <u>legal guardian</u> , please have the legal guardian review and sign this consent ad phone number where we can contact them for consent:
Is the child taking ar	y medications? YES / NO If yes, please list:
Please indicate any o	liagnoses and when this diagnosis was made:

Department of Educational Psychology Faculty of Education University of Alberta · Edmonton · Alberta · Canada · T6G 2V2 Telephone: (780) 248-1167 Fax: (780) 492-1318 Email: Jacqueline.pei@ualberta.ca 1

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

	YES	NO
Do you understand that you and your child are being asked to be in a research study?		
Do you understand that you are consenting to participate in this study through your role in completing the forms?		
Have you received and read the attached information sheet?		
Do you understand the benefits and risks in participating in this research study?		
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?		
Do you understand that you and your child are free to leave the study at any time without having to give a reason and without affecting you/their future medical care?		
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?		
Do you understand who will have access to your child's records, including personally identifiable health information?		
I agree for my child and myself to take part in this study: YES NO		
Printed Name of Parent/ Legal Guardian Completing Form Signature	Date	
Signature of Witness Date		
<u>For Investigator Only:</u> I have explained this study to the participant signing this form. They appear to underst involved in the study and voluntarily agree to let their child participate.	and what	is
Signature of Investigator or Designee Date		
Department of Educational Psychology Faculty of Education University of Alberta · Edmonton · Alberta · Canada · T6G 2V2		2

Telephone: (780) 248-1167 Fax: (780) 492-1318 Email: Jacqueline.pei@ualberta.ca

ASSENT FORM FOR ADOLESCENTS

Project: Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments

Investigators: Jacqueline Pei PhD, Educational Psychology; Patricia Boechler PhD, Educational Psychology

Information: Please call Dr. Pei (780)-248-1167.

Your Name		Age	Birth Date		
				Yes	No
Have you read or been read the info	rmation form?				
Do you understand the benefits and any risks of this study?					
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions?					
Do you understand you can quit this	s study at any ti	me witho	ut giving a reason?		
Who explained this study to you?					
I agree to take part in this study:	Yes 🗌	No 🗆			
Printed Name of Adolescent Completin	ng Form		Date	_	
Signature of Witness			Date	-	
Form completed by: Adole	scent Solely 🗌		Parent/Researcher		
TO BE COMPLETED BY THE INVE this form. They appear to understand v	STIGATOR : II what is involved	have expla in the stud	nined this study to the j y and voluntarily agre	participa e to part	nt signii icipate.

Signature of Investigator or Designee

Date

Department of Educational Psychology Faculty of Education University of Alberta • Edmonton • Alberta • Canada • T6G 2V2 Telephone: (780) 248-1167 Fax: (780) 492-1318 Email: Jacqueline.pei@ualberta.ca

Appendix D

Demographic Questionnaire

ID # _____ Date (MM/DD/YY)_____

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

PARTICIPANT BACKGROUND QUESTIONNAIRE FOR VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENT STUDY

Project: Social Skills Training: Use of Virtual Environments

Investigators: Jacqueline Pei, PhD, Educational Psychology, University of Alberta Patricia Boechler, PhD, Educational Psychology, University of Alberta

Information: Please call Dr. Pei (780) 248-1167

Please answer the following questions:

Child's birth date (M/D/Y):	Child's gender: 🗆 Female 🛛 🗆 Male
Child's ethnicity	Child's primary language:
Child's handedness: Right-handed Left-han	nded Child's grade in school:
General	
1. What is your relationship to the child?	
Biological parent	Legal guardian
Adoptive parent	Relative (specify:)
Foster parent	Adoptive relative (specify:)
Step-parent	Other (specify:)
2. What is the current living situation of the child?	2
Biological parent(s)	Relative(s) (specify:
Adoptive parent(s) (non-relatives)	Adoptive relative (specify:)
Foster parent(s)	Group home
Step-parent(s) only	Other (specify:)
Alone/Independent	
3. Has the child ever been in foster care? Y	ESNO
4. How many different living situations has the ch	ild had in his/her life? (e.g., biological parents, foster
placements, etc.)	
Describe briefly:	

Health History

1. Has your child ever experienced or been diagnosed with any of the following? (check all that apply)

 ADD/ADHD
 Manic/Bipolar

 Depression
 Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD)

 Anxiety
 Autism/Asperger's Syndrome

 Tourette's Syndrome
 Schizophrenia

 Epilepsy/Seizures
 Other (specify):

2. Has your child been involved in any interventions (research related or not) before? If so when and what for?

3. Some women drink alcohol before they know they are pregnant. Did you drink any alcohol while you were pregnant, including before you knew? ____Yes ____No

4. Some women smoke before they know they are pregnant. Did you smoke while you were pregnant, including before you knew? Yes No

5. Were there any complications or did anything unusual happen during your <u>pregnancy</u>? (please describe)

Were there any complications or did anything unusual happen during the <u>birth of your child</u>? (please describe)

Language Development

- How old was your child when he/she first spoke a word?
- How old was your child when he/she began to put words together to make short sentences (=2 words e.g. 'more milk')?
- 3. Is there any other language spoken at home (apart from English)? If yes, what language?

a. Does your child understand and/or speak this language?

4. Compared to other children of the same age, how do you think your child expresses him/herself?

_____not very well _____a little less well _____the same _____very good/better/one of the best

	ID #	
Date (MM/DD/YY)_		

5. Compared to other children of the same age, how do you think your child pronounces words?
not very clearly sometimes not clear same very good/better/one of the best
6. Is it easy for your family or friends to have a conversation with your child?
very easy easy enough sometimes not easy no, very hard
Demographic Questions
1. What is the marital status of the child's <u>primary caregiver</u> ?
□ Single, never married □ Married □ Widow or Widower □ Divorced, single □ Divorced, remarried
If divorced/separated, how often does the child see his/her mother/father? □ Weekly □ Yearly □ Never □ Monthly □ Other:
 Please indicate the <u>primary caregiver's</u> (e.g. biological/foster/adoptive parent, guardian, etc): highest level of education
 □ Less than 7th grade □ Junior high school □ Partial high school □ High school graduate □ Partial high school graduate
Type of employment:
Relationship to the child (e.g. mother/father/grandmother):
3. Please indicate the primary caregiver's spouse/partner's (if applicable):
Highest level of education Less than 7th grade Junior high school University/specialized training (e.g., trade school) University graduate (Bachelor's degree) Graduate degree
Type of employment:
Relationship to the child:
4. What is the annual income of the household in which the child lives?
□ Less than \$25,000 □ \$101,000 to \$150,000 □ \$25,000 to \$50,000 □ \$151,000 to \$200,000 □ \$51,000 to \$75,000 □ \$201,000 to \$250,000 □ \$76,000 to \$100,000 □ More than \$251,000

Appendix E

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale-Short-Form (DERS-SF)

Please indicate how often the following apply to you.

	Almost Never (0–10%)	Some- times (11–35%)	About Half Of the Time (36–65%)	Most of the Time (66-90%)	Almost Always (91–100%)
1. I pay attention to how I feel	1	2	3	4	5
2. I have no idea how I am feeling	1	2	3	4	5
3. I have difficulty making sense out of my feelings	1	2	3	4	5
4. I care about what I am feeling	1	2	3	4	5
5. I am confused about how I feel	1	2	3	4	5
6. When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions	1	2	3	4	5
7. When I'm upset, I become embarrassed for feeling that way	1	2	3	4	5
8. When I'm upset, I have difficulty getting work done	1	2	3	4	5
9. When I'm upset, I become out of control	1	2	3	4	5
10. When I'm upset, I believe that I will end up feeling very depressed	1	2	3	4	5
11. When I'm upset, I have difficulty focusing on other things	1	2	3	4	5
12. When I'm upset, I feel guilty for feeling that way	1	2	3	4	5
13. When I'm upset, I have difficulty concentrating	1	2	3	4	5
14. When I'm upset, I have difficulty controlling my behaviors	1	2	3	4	5
15. When I'm upset, I believe there is nothing I can do to make myself feel better	1	2	3	4	5
16. When I'm upset, I become irritated with myself for feeling that way	1	2	3	4	5
17. When I'm upset, I lose control over my behavior	1	2	3	4	5
18. When I'm upset, it takes me a long time to feel better	1	2	3	4	5